# Helpdesk

# Support management







CAS Software AG CAS-Weg 1 – 5 76131 Karlsruhe

0721 9638 - 0 info@cas.de www.cas-crm.com

The Helpdesk module is being developed by itdesign GmbH, Tübingen, Germany www.itdesign.de

#### Copyright

The information contained herein may be altered without prior notice. The names and data used in the examples are fictitious, except where otherwise stated. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted for any purposes whatsoever without the express written consent of CAS Software AG, irrespective of the manner or the means, electronic or mechanical, by which this occurs.

© 2008 - 2022 CAS Software AG. All rights reserved.

CAS-Weg 1 - 5, 76131 Karlsruhe, Germany, www.cas.de/en

All trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

Disclaimer

No guarantee can be made for the accuracy of the content. Notification of errors would be appreciated.

September 2022

# Contents

1	Intro	oduction	7								
	1.1	Feature overview	7								
	1.2	Specifics with modules and integrations	8								
2	Tick	ket management									
	2.1	Views and features for tickets									
	2.2	Creating tickets	10								
	2.3	The data record window for tickets	11								
		2.3.1 Ticket	11								
		2.3.2 Details	22								
	2.4	Ticket actions	23								
		2.4.1 Using ticket actions	23								
		2.4.2 Specifying ticket actions	28								
	2 5	2.4.3 Editing a ticket action	29								
	2.5	Biocking support entitlement	36								
	2.0	Setting up access for Helpdesk online	7 5 مە								
	2.1		40								
3	FAQ	management	41								
	<ul><li>3.1 FAQ search and creating FAQ documents</li><li>3.2 Views and features for FAQ documents</li></ul>										
	3.3 Creating an FAQ document										
	3.4	The data record window for FAQ documents									
	3.5	FAQ documents in Helpdesk online	46								
		3.5.1 Document language and language selection	46								
		3.5.2 Downloads for FAQ documents	46								
4	Usin	g e-mail templates	47								
	Creat	ting ticket e-mail templates	47								
5	Proc	duct use and service agreement management	50								
	5.1	Products in the Desktop Client	50								
		5.1.1 General	50								
		5.1.2 Version	52								
	5.2	Product uses, service agreements and maintenance billing	54								
	5.3	Product uses in the Desktop Client	56								
		5.3.1 Views and features for product uses	56								
		5.3.2 Creating a product use	56								
		5.3.3 The data record window for product uses	57								
		5.3.4 Automatic update of the service agreement	61								
		5.3.5 Updating prices	61								
		5.3.6 Automatically applying a changed product price	63								
	5.4	Service agreements in the Desktop Client	64								

		5.4.1	Views and features for service agreements	64
		5.4.2	Creating a service agreement	64
		5.4.3	The data record window for service agreements	65
		5.4.4	Update service agreements	71
		5.4.5	Maintenance billing with Easy Invoice	72
	5.5	Produ	uct uses and service agreements in the Web Client	80
6	Tim	e reco	ords and reports	81
	6.1	Time	records in the Desktop Client	
		6.1.1	Views and features for time records	
		6.1.2	Creating time records	82
		6.1.3	The data record window for time records	83
		6.1.4	Time record calendar	86
		6.1.5	Billing time records	
		6.1.6	Defining hourly rates for addresses and projects	
		6.1.7	Time record details in projects and jobs	93
		6.1.8	User settings for time records	
	6.2	Time	records in the Web Client	95
		6.2.1	Time record calendar	95
		6.2.2	Time records	
	6.3	Repo	rts	
		6.3.1	Time record report for addresses	
		6.3.2	Time record report for projects	
		6.3.3	Time record report for jobs	101
		6.3.4	Working with reports	
		6.3.5	Editing reports	102
7	Plar	ning	views in the Web Client	104
	7.1	Team	planning	
		7.1.1	Presentation and editing of appointments	105
		7.1.2	Change display mode and focus	
		7.1.3	Change display date	
		7.1.4	Change view settings	
		7.1.5	Display in map	
		7.1.6	Create appointment	
		7.1.7	Collapse or expand user list	
	7.2	Timel	ine view	
		7.2.1	Licensing	109
		7.2.2	General	
		7.2.3	Options	110
		7.2.4	Interactions	111
	7.3	Boarc	ł view	112
		7.3.1	Licensing	112
		7.3.2	General	112
		7.3.3	Settings	113
		7.3.4	Interactions	114

8	Project details	115
9	Using project and job templates	116
	9.1 Using project templates	
	9.1.1 Creating and editing templates	
	9.1.2 Organizing templates in folders	
	9.2 Editing a template	
	9.2.1 Editing a project in the tree view	
	9.2.2 Editing data records in the data record editor	r 120
	9.3 Editing a project in the data record window	
	9.4 Adding or continuing a workflow	
	9.5 Using job templates	
	9.5.1 Project and job templates	
	9.5.2 Specifics when using job templates	
10	) Helpdesk online	126
	10.1 Installing Helpdesk online	
	10.2 Configuring Helpdesk online	
	10.3 Cookies	
	10.4 Invocation and language selection	
	10.5 Logging on, activating the account and logging off.	
	10.6 Personal area	
	10.7 FAQ search	
	Sending links for opening an FAQ item	
	10.8 Request lists	
	10.9 Detail view and actions	
	Visualization of notes and editing of comments	
	Sending links for opening the detail view	140
	10.10 Creating a request	141
	10.11 User menu	144
	10.12 Modifying the appearance	145
	10.13 Log file	146
11	Management Console settings	147
	11.1 Settings in the Database area	
	11.2 Settings in the Helpdesk area	
	11.2.1 General	
	11.2.2 Helpdesk online	154
	11.2.3 Hotline schedule	
	11.2.4 Service agreements	
	11.2.5 Tasks for tickets	
	11.2.6 Groups	
	11.2.7 Notification and languages	
	11.3 Settings in the Miscellaneous area	
	11.3.1 Activities (holidays for service agreements)	
	11.3.2 Currencies	

		11.3.3 Dashboards	182
		11.3.4 E-mail	183
		11.3.5 Links	185
		11.3.6 Products	186
	11.4	Settings in the Time record area	187
		11.4.1 General	187
		11.4.2 Mandatory links	189
		11.4.3 Calendar	190
		11.4.4 Hourly rates	191
		11.4.5 Working hours	193
40			105
12	Noti	fication and support account	195
	12.1	Helpdesk online account enabling notification	195
	12.2	Notifying the submitter about a new ticket	201
	12.3	Notifying the submitter about changes in a ticket	205
	12.4	Setting up a request for feedback	209
		12.4.1 Request for feedback in Helpdesk online	213
		12.4.2 Satisfaction in CAS genesisWorld	215
	12.5	Internal notification about expiring response deadlines	215
	12.6	Setting up a support e-mail account	218

# 1 Introduction

Record and process requests quickly and efficiently with Helpdesk for CAS genesisWorld. Whether a customer establishes contact by phone, by e-mail or via the integrated web client is immaterial. All requests are recorded quickly and consistently. Ticket pools and ticket delegation are supported as well as an automated internal and external notification.

The support portal Helpdesk online not only enables activated users to submit requests online but also provides them with a status overview for entered requests at any time. In addition, a public FAQ search is available here which can also be used for file downloads. You can control the contents comfortably and transparently via CAS genesisWorld.

Service agreements determine your customers' entitlement to benefits as well as the coverage of your service costs. With Helpdesk's contract management, you document the product uses and individual agreements you have made with your customers including service levels, response times and contact persons.

Time recording for all services and associated reports per customer, project and ticket guarantee a complete overview of your service management costs.

#### 1.1 Feature overview

- The **Desktop Client** offers the full range of features.
  - Ticket management in CAS genesisWorld
  - FAQ management and powerful search in tickets and FAQ documents
  - Process management and communication via actions, e-mail templates, as well as internal and external automatic notification
  - Product use and service agreement management with maintenance billing (actual invoicing additionally requires the Easy Invoice module)
  - Block support entitlement in all clients for companies and single contacts
  - Time recording in the background or afterwards and versatile analysis
- Registered partners and customers may access the Helpdesk online portal.
  - Support portal with overview of all requests, online submittal and FAQ search
  - Distinction of internal and published FAQ documents for customers' online access
- Users with sufficient rights can also access most features in the Web Client.
  - Service agreements, product uses, tickets and time records

Additionally, the **Team planning** app, **Timeline view** and **Board view** are available for visual planning in the Web Client.

The descriptions herein refer to the Desktop Client unless indicated otherwise.

# 1.2 Specifics with modules and integrations

When using Helpdesk, you have to consider certain specific characteristics in combination with other modules and integrations.

The most important features and limitations are described where they apply in this user guide, especially specifics when using CAS genesisWorld Web.

For an overview, see the <u>Helpdesk</u> page under **Working with several modules** in the English version of hilfe.cas.de.

# 2 Ticket management

The following sections describe the default features for tickets in the Desktop (2.1 to 2.6) and Web Clients (2.7).

- 2.1 Views and features for tickets (page 9)
- 2.2 Creating tickets (page 10)
- 2.3 The data record window for tickets (page 11)
- 2.4 Ticket actions (page 23)
- 2.5 Blocking support entitlement (page 36)
- 2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online (page 37)
- 2.7 Tickets in the Web Client (page 40)

Helpdesk online is described in chapter "10 Helpdesk online" on page 126.

## 2.1 Views and features for tickets

Tickets are jobs of certain types. The associated fields and features will be displayed in the job's data record window when a ticket type is selected.

The following standard features are available for tickets.

- Data record window for jobs; the General tab is replaced by the Ticket tab. When a
  job's type is changed so it becomes a ticket or isn't a ticket anymore, field contents that
  have already been provided are retained.
  - Type for marking as ticket
  - Status for the support process
  - Primary links to address, project and job, displayed in the tree view (with ticket icon) and in analyses
  - General links to any other data records
- Creation with ticket type via the toolbars of the data record windows and list views for addresses, phone calls, e-mails and projects
- Global search in all fields such as Subject, Customer and Submitter, configurable via Settings > Search; separate FAQ search for FAQ documents and tickets
- Views in the program navigator (list, dossier, tree) and in the link navigator (link list)

# 2.2 Creating tickets

You can create tickets for addresses, phone calls, e-mails and projects.

Settings referred to here can be found in the Helpdesk area of the Management Console.

**Create new ticket:** By clicking this button in the toolbar of a data record window or a list you create a ticket for the selected data record.

 Tickets for customers: For every ticket you create for an address, phone call or e-mail, the address for which it was created or the primary address of the associated phone call or e-mail will be entered as Submitter.

The **Customer** link will initially be set to the associated company (alternatively, the submitter may also be entered as customer, see **Allow tickets and service contracts for contact persons; adopt submitter as customer in ticket** on top of page 151).

The submitter's company will also be entered as the new ticket's primary address. Its primary project is set to a support project which will be created to this end if it doesn't already exist. This project serves as a tree view container for all tickets submitted by the same company.

If required, you may change the **Customer** as **Submitter** links in the ticket.

 Tickets for phone calls: A ticket created for a phone call will inherit the phone call's subject in its Subject and Request fields. The phone call's notes will be entered in the Internal notes or Notes field, depending on your settings (see top of page 150).

A primary link will be created between the phone call and the associated ticket. This way, the phone call will be displayed in the ticket's tree view and vice versa.

 Tickets for e-mails: A ticket created for an e-mail will inherit the e-mail's subject in its Subject field. The e-mail body will be entered in the Internal notes or Notes field, depending on your settings. For e-mails, you can also choose to enter the subject or body in the ticket's Request field (see top of page 150).

A primary link will be created between the e-mail and the associated ticket. This way, the e-mail will be displayed in the ticket's tree view and vice versa.

As the sender of an e-mail isn't always known, you may admit tickets for e-mails without a primary address. In this case, the submitter, customer and primary links stay blank (see **Submitter link to ticket must exist** in the middle of page 150).

 Tickets for projects: A ticket created for a project will adopt the project's Subject as Subject and Request.

The project will be entered as the ticket's primary project. This way, the ticket will also inherit the project's primary address and will therefore be displayed in the tree views of both the project and its primary address.

The project's primary address will initially also be entered as the ticket's **Submitter**.

The associated company will initially be entered as the ticket's **Customer**.

# 2.3 The data record window for tickets

The following sections describe the fields and features for recording tickets in the **Ticket** and **Details** tabs of the data record window for jobs.

# 2.3.1 Ticket

You can disable features you don't use in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **General** (see page 152).

By default, the **Use automatic time recording for tickets** and **Display service agreement** features are turned off.

③ Edit Form 12 E4 won't react									×		
jile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>											
🛃 Save&Close 📄	🙀 Save&Close 🚽 🗶 🚔 🕆 🦺 🚳										
🖏 🗸 🔎 Workflow	📄 Create document 👻 🥃	Action	- 🌶	Short notes 🔟 Sen	d 👻 🔎 Link with 👻 🔓	🖥 New link 👻 📄 Rep	ort +				
Ticket Details	Tree Time records	Chang	e log	Dossier							
Form 12 E4 won't rea	ct (12/3/2018, 12/3/2018)										
Subject	Form 12 E4 won't react										
Job from	Monday, December 3, 2018	6	Star	t 9:33 AM 🕜	Last change of status	12/3/2018 16:14:33	Responded on	12/3/2018 12:	33:00 😽		
Until	Monday, December 3, 2018	<b>5</b>	End	2:50 PM	Respond until	12/3/2018 13:33:44	Reopened on	12/3/2018 16:	14:33 Oh 01	m 12s	
Parent		Support	NOMOS	YS → → ) Select	t job 🔻				•	1	
Customer	NOMOSYS	ه	-	Service agreement	Service agreement NOM	OSYS			~	R	
		-		Product use	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	[CP-3-564KL546]			~ Q	-	
Submitter	Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS	ه 🔍	•	Product	CRM Groupware CP 3.1				Q		
				Version	11 ~						
Communication	jack.bauer@nomosys.co.uk			Area	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	Addresses			/		
Туре	Ticket	~		Status	In process by support				~		
Number	24		1 <sub>3</sub> 2	Request Solution							
Priority	High	~		Form 12 E4 won't re	eact.					/	
Origin	Phone call	~								() ()	
Ticket type	Error	~								þ	
Error cause	Manufacturer error	~								ß	
Satisfaction	Very satisfied	~									
Team	Support	~		Responsible team	Development				~		
Employee	Peter Grayhound	~		Responsible employee	Antonio Matarazzo				~		
Internal notes		/ Е	dit	🖞 Time stamp	Notes			🧷 Edit	🖉 Time sta	amp	
Mon, 12/03/ Hello Tony, could you please Thanks, Peter	/2018 11:32 AM (Peter Gra have a look at this?	yhound)			Mon, 12/03/201 Portal action: Reope Hello Mr. Grayhound the error reoccurred Thank you, Jack Bauer	18 4:14 PM (Jack Ba en ticket d, l. Could you please k	uer, NOMOSYS) ook at this again?			•	

 Subject: Tickets created manually for projects, phone calls or e-mails will adopt the subject of the project, phone call or e-mail as Subject and as Request.

Tickets created automatically for inbound e-mails sent to the support account also adopt the e-mail's subject in the **Subject** and **Request** fields (see "12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account" on page 218).

In tickets created manually for addresses, the **Subject** and **Request** fields are initially empty. As long as the **Subject** field is empty, your input in the **Request** field will automatically be entered as **Subject** as well.

Submitters creating tickets via Helpdesk online will be prompted for a **Subject** in addition to the actual **Request**. Both fields are mandatory in Helpdesk online.

 Duration: For tickets created during hotline hours (according to the settings for the selected priority and service agreement or default settings when no service agreement applies), the current time will be entered as start and end. The same applies when you are not using service agreements.

For tickets created outside of hotline hours, the start and end will be shifted to the next applicable hotline hours segment (e.g., a ticket created on Friday at 7 pm in Helpdesk online will start at 8 am the following Monday if that is the next start of hotline hours).

When you save a ticket with a completion status, the end will be set to the current time. If this leads to the end being before the start, the end will be set to equal the start when saving the ticket.

• Last change of status: Here you see the most recent change of status.

With the Helpdesk module, whenever a ticket or another job is created as well as when one of the **Status**, **Priority**, **Employee**, **Team**, **Responsible employee** or **Responsible team** fields is changed in a ticket or another job, an individual data record of the **Status change** type will be created and linked to the associated ticket or job.

With the Report module, you can analyze status changes in the context of the associated jobs or separately.

- Start: time of the ticket's creation or the last change of status
- End: time of the change of status
- Status start / end: status before and after the change
- Priority start / end: priority before and after the change
- Employee, team, responsible employee, responsible team start / end: participants and groups before and after the change
- Duration (calendar days): days between start and end
- Duration (service hours): support availability during the total duration in hours. Only hotline hours according to the service agreement are considered. For tickets without a service agreement, the default settings are used (see "11.2.4 Service agreements" on page 174).

#### Note

Please note that users with a Helpdesk license or another license that unlocks Helpdesk features (e.g., IT Services) need at least the **Insert** right for the **Status changes** data record type in addition to the required job rights in order to save jobs.

- Respond until: Here you see the response deadline for the ticket. It will be set according to the ticket's Priority. Before the ticket has been responded to (as long as the Responded on field is empty), when you select a priority level, the associated response deadline will be calculated using the following data.
  - Response time and hotline schedule by priority.
  - Country and federal state of which public holidays should be considered.

These data are taken from the selected service agreement.

If no service agreement is selected, the response deadline will be derived from the settings for tickets without a service agreement in the Management Console (**Helpdesk** > **Service agreements**).

This is also the case if submission permissions have been entered for a service agreement and the ticket's submitter has not been entered as a contact person in the service agreement.

The response deadline will be shifted by one calendar day for each day entered in the response time. Calendar days without hotline hours will be skipped.

For example, hotline hours have been entered from Monday to Friday. A ticket is submitted on Friday. The response time entered in the service agreement for the ticket's priority spans 3 days. This results in a response deadline of next Wednesday, as Saturday and Sunday are skipped.

Hours and minutes specified in the response time shift the response deadline by the same number of hours and minutes within the hotline hours. Any hours and minutes outside the hotline hours are skipped.

For example, hotline hours have been entered from Monday to Friday, 12:00 to 16:00 respectively. A ticket is submitted on Monday at 11:00. The entered response time spans 8 hours. The hour from 11:00 to 12:00 is not counted since it is outside the hotline hours. The response deadline will thus coincide with the end of the second day with hotline hours after the request's start (Tuesday, 16:00).

When no settings apply to the ticket's priority (e.g., when no response deadlines or hotline schedule have been entered in the service agreement or default setttings), the ticket's start (i.e., the date and time of its creation) will be entered here.

- Activate: This feature is not available by default. To activate it, select Display service agreement and Response deadline from service agreement under Helpdesk > General in the Management Console.
- Responded on: Here you see the time at which a support employee first opened the ticket and changed the status. The field will be filled in when the ticket is saved if it was previously empty and the ticket's status has changed. It will also be automatically set in new tickets when they are created with an entry in the Status field.

Once the field has been entered, the response deadline can no longer change.

In the Management Console, under **Helpdesk** > **General**, you select status options whose assignment to a new or existing ticket will not cause the **Responded on** field to be set, even if it is empty (see page 149).

Select here all status options with which tickets are created via Helpdesk online or the support e-mail account. This way, you make sure the **Responded on** field is only set when a support employee changes the status in CAS genesisWorld.

• Reopened on: Here you see when the ticket was last reopened.

This field will be set whenever the status of a ticket changes from a completed status to a status that doesn't mark completion (you select status options which mark the completion of a ticket in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **General**.)

 In process for: Here you see the processing time for the ticket since its data record window was opened.

Save, close and record time: Here you save the ticket, close the data record window and create a time record for the time spent processing the request.

Each user may set the time record window to open when he saves and closes a ticket and records time for it using this feature (**Settings** > **Modules and Solutions** > **Open time record for tickets**).

- Activate: This feature is not available by default. To activate it, select Use automatic time recording for tickets under Helpdesk > General in the Management Console.
- Links and communication
  - Parent: When you create a ticket by clicking on the Create new ticket button, the primary address and primary project will be entered automatically (see "2.2 Creating tickets" on page 10.)

**Customer:** Here you enter the affected company.

Search address: Here you select the customer in the Search window. Switching customers will reset the service agreement and product use selections. A selected product and area will be retained.

**Open address:** Here you open the entered address.

- Get in touch: Here you call the customer or write an e-mail.
- Contact person as customer: In the default setting, only companies and individual contacts may be entered as customers. In the Management Console, you may specify whether contact persons may also be entered (see "Customer and submitter" on page 150.)

Submitter: Here you specify the person who has submitted the request.

Search address: Here you select the submitter in the Search window.

**Open address:** Here you open the entered address.

- Get in touch: Here you call the submitter or write an e-mail.
- Sales partner as submitter: If you are the manufacturer of a product and get requests from sales partners, specify the final customer in the Customer field.
- Communication: For tickets created without a submitter for inbound e-mails sent to the support account (see "12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account" on page 218), the e-mail address will be stored in the Communication field. When you enter a submitter in any ticket, his e-mail address will be entered in the Communication field as well, if that field is empty. You may select the e-mail address to use here in the Management Console, under Helpdesk > General (see "Use the following e-mail address of the submitter as communication address" on page 150).

If the **Communication** field isn't empty and you enter a submitter with no e-mail address or with a different e-mail address in the associated e-mail field, you will be asked whether that e-mail address should be entered in the **Communication** field of the ticket or whether the e-mail address already entered in that field should be transferred to the associated e-mail field of the new submitter. You may deactivate this message, such that your selection will automatically be applied the next time you select a submitter (e.g., enter the e-mail address of the new submitter in the ticket's **Communication** field). You may activate the message again in the Settings under **General > Deactivated messages**.

Changing the submitter in Helpdesk online will automatically overwrite the communication e-mail address with that of the new submitter.

- Service agreement: Depending on your settings, all of the customer's or the submitter's service agreements will be available for selection here. Via the Use service agreement of customer/submitter for different customer setting under Helpdesk > General in the Management Console, you determine whether the customer's or the submitter's service agreements will be available if both differ.
  - You may enter a service agreement filter in the Management Console in the Helpdesk area under General in order to limit the selection (e.g., to exclude expired service agreements).
  - If exactly one service agreement is available for selection, it will be selected automatically if the Select service agreement automatically option is active under Helpdesk > General in the Management Console.
  - When a service agreement of the customer is selected, only product uses entered for that service agreement will be available in the ticket.
  - If the Response deadline from service agreement option is selected under Helpdesk > General in the Management Console, the selection of available priority levels will be limited by the service agreement. In this case, the selection will also be limited for tickets without a service agreement by the settings for tickets without a service agreement. Additionally, the selection may be limited by submission permissions (see "Priority" on page 18).

Some service agreement: Here you open the selected service agreement.

 Activate: This feature is not available by default. To activate it, select Display service agreement under Helpdesk > General in the Management Console.

**Product use:** Initially, all of the customer's active product uses are available here (see "Start and end of maintenance" on page 58).

When a service agreement of the customer is selected, only product uses entered for that service agreement will be available in the ticket.

With the **Display serial number for product use** setting under **General** in the **Helpdesk** area of the Management Console, you determine whether serial numbers of product uses, if available, will be displayed in the selection next to product names.

In this case, the serial number will also be displayed in the **Product use** field once a product use has been selected and will be stored in this field when saving the ticket.

When selecting a product use, the product and version will be entered automatically.

When using the customer's service agreement (see "**Service agreement**" on page 15) and there is a valid service agreement belonging to the selected product use, it will also be selected automatically.

Select related product use: Here you select a product use in the Search window. Only active product uses for the selected customer will be available.

**Open linked product use:** Here you open the selected product use.

**Product:** Here you select the affected product.

 Quick search: Enter all or a part of the subject or number of the product you are looking for in the Product field. Use the "%" character as a placeholder. It will automatically be added at the end of you search term. For example, you can look for a product whose number contains the digits "001" using the search term "%001". Confirm with the [Return] key.

If your search term can be associated with exactly one product, that product will be entered automatically. If multiple products were found for the entered search term, you will be prompted to select the desired product.

Select related product: Here you select a product in the Search window.

**Open linked product:** Here you open the selected product.

#### Note

Only products matching the associated filter will be found. By default, these are all products for which the **Active** option has been selected in the **General** tab. You can change the associated filter condition in the Management Console under **Miscellaneous > Products** (see "11.3.6 Products" on page 186).

- Version: All versions entered for the selected product are available here.
  - Qualified for support: If a version is marked as Not qualified for support, this will be displayed here (see "5.1.2 Version" on page 52.)
- **Area:** Here you select the affected feature area.

You may enter areas and sub-areas in the Management Console, in the **Database** area, as input help items for the **Area** field of products (see "11.1 Settings in the Database area" on page 147). In the **General** tab of a product, you may assign an area to that product (see "5.1.1 General" on page 50).

If you enter a feature area assigned to a product in a ticket, that product will also be entered automatically, and vice versa, if the target field was previously empty.

- Type and Status: In the Management Console, under Helpdesk > General and under Helpdesk > Helpdesk online, you enter settings for the type and status of tickets.
  - Type: You may use different types for tickets. When you create a ticket using the Create new ticket button, the default type for tickets will be selected.

You may select different types for tickets created in Helpdesk online.

- Status: The status indicates the ticket's current process stage. The following status
  options are available by default.
  - **Open:** New tickets are considered open until they are taken note of.

Use this status for new tickets created by partners or customers in Helpdesk online and for tickets created for inbound e-mails sent to the support account.

By default, this is the only status that will not set the ticket's **Responded on** field (see pages 13 and 149).

Accepted: New tickets you create in CAS genesisWorld are created with this status. It indicates that an employee has accepted the request.

Tickets that are created by customers in Helpdesk online or via the support account are only considered as accepted after this status has been entered by an employee, indicating that the ticket has been reviewed.

- **Completed:** This status indicates that the request has been solved.
  - Setting this status will set the ticket's **End** to the current date and time.
  - Setting another status after this will set the ticket's **Reopened on** field to the current date and time.

Which options are available is determined via the input help for the **Status** field of jobs, which you can edit in the **Database** area of the Management Console (see "11.1 Settings in the Database area" on page 147).

Also in the Management Console, under **Helpdesk** > **General**, you select status options indicating that a ticket has been accepted or completed (see "11.2.1 General" on page 148).

If you are using Helpdesk online, also make sure that the correct status options have been entered for request presettings and for list filters in the Management Console under **Helpdesk > Helpdesk online** (see "11.2.2 Helpdesk online" on page 154.)

<sup>1</sup>3<sup>2</sup> **Number:** When a ticket is created, the next free number will be generated and entered.

- When e-mails are archived with a ticket, the number will be used to automatically assign the e-mail to the associated ticket.
- Classification
  - **Priority:** Here you assign a priority level to the ticket.
    - You may specify available priority levels via the input help for the jobs' Priority field in the Management Console's Database area.
    - If the Display service agreement and Response deadline from service agreement options have been selected in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General, the selection of available priority levels will be limited by the associated service agreement. In this case, only priority levels which have been cleared in the selected service agreement will be available for selection. When no service agreement is selected, all priority levels that you have cleared for tickets without a service agreement under Helpdesk > Service agreements in the Management Console will be available for selection.
    - If submission permissions are also used and have been entered in the selected service agreement, only priority levels permitted for the entered submitter in the service agreement will be available for selection.
    - You may determine the priority for new tickets in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General. This presetting will only be adopted if it is included in the selection of available priority levels.
  - Origin: Here you see which medium was used to submit the request. The E-Mail, Personal, Phone call, and Web options are available by default.
    - E-Mail: preselection in tickets for e-mails
    - Personal: not selected automatically
    - Phone call: preselection in tickets for addresses and phone calls
    - Web: automatic selection in tickets created in Helpdesk online
  - Ticket type: Here you classify the request for support. The Question, Error and Improvement options are available as input help items by default.

You may enter the preselection for this field in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **General**.

• **Error cause:** Here you record the error after completion of a ticket concerning an error. This field is only available for **Ticket type** values selected as error ticket types

in the **Helpdesk** area of the Management Console under **General**. By default, only **Error** is selected here. If required, you may add other ticket types for errors.

When the **Error cause** field is enabled for the selected ticket type, the **Product error**, **Application error** and **Consultation error** options are available by default.

For **Ticket type** values for which the **Error cause** field isn't enabled, the **Ticket type** value (e.g., **Question**) is repeated in the **Error cause** field.

 Satisfaction: Here you specify the submitter's level of satisfaction with the processing of a ticket once it is completed. The Friendly, Neutral and Unfriendly options are available as input help items by default.

You can edit the available options via the input help for the **Satisfaction** job field in the **Database** area of the Management Console.

If you are using Helpdesk online, you can set up an automatic request for feedback in order to query the submitter of a ticket about his satisfaction once the ticket is completed (see "12.4 Setting up a request for feedback" on page 209.)

• **Request:** Here you specify the customer's original request.

When you create tickets for projects, phone calls and e-mails, the respective subject will automatically be transferred to the ticket's **Subject** and **Request** fields.

This also applies to tickets created automatically for inbound e-mails sent to the support account (see "12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account" on page 218).

In tickets created for addresses, the **Subject** and **Request** fields are initially empty. As long as the **Subject** field is empty, your input in the **Request** field will automatically be entered as **Subject** as well.

For tickets created via Helpdesk online, both the **Subject** and the actual **Request** are separate fields, and are both mandatory there.

Edit request: Here you open the description in a separate window.

Send e-mail: Here you send an e-mail to the ticket's submitter or the affected product's manufacturer, selecting from e-mail templates created for tickets (see "4 Using e-mail templates" on page 47.)

Create task: Here you create a task for the ticket. In the Management Console, under Helpdesk > Tasks for tickets, you specify the type and status of new tasks per ticket type. You also specify there whether tasks should be assigned to the associated ticket via a primary link.

FAQ search: Here you open the FAQ search (see "3.1 FAQ search and creating FAQ documents" on page 41.)

• **Solution:** Here you record the request's solution.

**Edit solution:** Here you open the description in a separate window.

- Save request and solutions as FAQ: Here you create an FAQ document for the ticket (see "3.3 Creating an FAQ document" on page 44.)
- Participants and groups: Instead of the Participants field, which you will usually find in CAS genesisWorld, tickets display four drop-down menus.

You can use these to assign each ticket to a support **Team**, a support **Employee**, a **Responsible team** and a **Responsible employee**.

After selecting the respective **Team**, all members of the selected group will be available for selection as **Employee**.

You select groups which will be available for selection as teams for each of both team fields respectively in the Management Console. For members of the groups you have selected for the **Team** field, you can also enter a preselection for that field. In new tickets, the selected group will then automatically be entered in the **Team** field and the user will be entered in the **Employee** field (see "11.2.6 Groups" on page 177).

To enter users and groups or access their tickets, a user also needs at least reading access to their jobs via group membership or external access:

- If a user is a member of a group, the assigned access level for jobs applies to the group and all of its members.
- If a user has external access to a group, the assigned access level for jobs applies to the group and all of its members.
- Additionally, you may grant users external access rights to jobs of select users.

The selected groups and users are participants of the ticket and will not only be entered in the associated text fields but also the **Participants** field when the ticket is saved. If all four fields are left blank, the user who has created the ticket will be entered as participant. Please note that any users and groups already entered as participants will overwritten when saving the ticket.

- Participants of online tickets: For tickets created via Helpdesk online, you may enter preselections for all four participant fields in a request type's definition (see "Requests" on page 156). Request types for which all four fields are left blank will be created as public.
- Internal notes: An additional notes field for internal notes is available in tickets. You can toggle its display in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General.
- Notes: A ticket's Notes field is used for any comments on status changes and for communicating with the customer.
  - When a ticket is created for a phone call or e-mail, either manually or automatically via the support account (see "12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account" on page 218), the phone call notes or e-mail body will be written in the ticket's **Notes** field.
  - In the default setting, when you save a ticket after entering anything in the Notes field, you will be prompted to state whether the submitter should be notified. If notification has been set up in the intended default configuration and you answer to

the affirmative, the submitter will receive a status report including the notes (see "12.3 Notifying the submitter about changes in a ticket" on page 205).

- In Helpdesk online, notes for a ticket will be displayed in the detail view. Comments that portal users enter for a ticket will also be written into the notes.
- Automatic notification of the submitter: When you save a new ticket or when you save a ticket after changing the Notes or Solution field, you will be asked whether the submitter should be informed. If you confirm and the E-mail (business) address has been entered for the submitter, the ticket will be marked for notification.
  - Setting up the notification: Notification of the submitter will be taken care of by the notification and action service if suitable rules have been entered (see "12 Notification and support account" on page 195).
  - Turning off the prompts for notification: You may disable the prompts in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General. You may find the associated settings to the lower right, under Miscellaneous (see page 151).

If the prompt about new tickets is turned off, new tickets will not be marked for notification.

If the prompt about changes is turned off, tickets will be marked for notification whenever the notes or solution change.

#### Note

You can notify the submitter and apply changes to the ticket at the same time via ticket actions (see "2.4 Ticket actions" on page 23). If one of the **Notes** or **Solution** fields is changed by a ticket action, the ticket will not be marked for automatic notification.

# 2.3.2 Details

In the **Details** tab of the data record window for jobs, additional ticket fields are available under **Ticket details**.

③ Edit Form 12 E4 won't react											
<u>File Edit View Insert Search Tools ?</u>											
🙀 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🚔 👚 🌡 🏠											
🖏 🗸 🔎 Workflow 🗎 Create document 🛛 🧼 Action 👻 🌛 Short notes 🔟 Send 🗸 🔎 Link with 🖌 🛅 New link 👻 🛅 Report 🗸											
Ticket Details Tree Time records Change log Dossier											
	]										

- Reference (Submitter): If partners forward tickets to you, you may record the ticket number in the submitter's system here.
- Reference (Manufacturer): If you forward tickets to the manufacturer, you may record the ticket number in the manufacturer's system here.
- Service level: If a service agreement is selected in the ticket, its service level will be displayed here.

The **Activity status**, **Comment**, **Remind** and **Set time** fields can also be found in the **Details** tab in tickets. These are standard fields that are available for all jobs.

## 2.4 Ticket actions

The following sections describe the features for ticket actions:

- 2.4.1 Using ticket actions (page 23)
- 2.4.2 Specifying ticket actions (page 28)
- 2.4.3 Editing a ticket action (page 29)

# 2.4.1 Using ticket actions

You may use ticket actions to execute one or more of the following work steps.

- Notifying participating agents via e-mail (internal and external)
- Archiving sent e-mail with the ticket
- Updating ticket field values and forwarding the ticket internally, if applicable (Type, Status, Ticket type, Error cause, Priority, Solution, Team, Employee, Responsible team and Responsible employee)
- Adding entries to the Internal notes and Notes fields
- Creating a task for the ticket
- Recording time
- Closing the ticket's data record window

#### Notes

Ticket actions are not available in the Web Client.

Before ticket actions are available, you must specify them under **Settings** > **Ticket** action (see "2.4.2 Specifying ticket actions" on page 28). This requires the **Helpdesk: Edit ticket actions** right, which you may assign to users the Management Console, in the **User Management** area. Select it in the properties of a user under **Other rights**.

In the Management Console, under **Helpdesk** > **Notification and languages**, you specify the e-mail account to use and select the languages available for actions (see "11.2.7 Notification and languages" on page 178).

Ticket actions with e-mail notification can only be executed if the e-mail field selected for each recipient (**To** field) isn't empty.

Missing e-mail addresses in the CC and BCC fields will be ignored.

The validity of the e-mail addresses is not checked before the e-mails are sent.

However, you will be warned when trying to save an invalid e-mail address in the CAS genesisWorld Desktop Client.

# Selecting an action

In the **Action** menu in the toolbar of the data record window for tickets, entered actions will be available for selection.

@ Edit Form 12 E4 won't react											
File Edit View Insert Search Tools ?											
🙀 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🚔 👚 🦺											
🖏 🗸 🔎 Workflow 📄 Create document 🗸 🎯 Action 🔹 🌛 Short notes 📧 Send 🗸 🔎 Link with 🝷 🔓 New link 👻 📄 Report 🗸											
Ticket Details	Tree Time record	Create task									
Form 12 E4 won't read	t (12/3/2018, 12/3/2018)	Schedule phone call									
Subject	Form 12 E4 won't react	Create opportunity									
Job from	Monday, December 3, 2018	Complete Request to submitter and wait for response	tatus 12/3/2018 16:14:33 Responded on 12/3/								
Until	Monday, December 3, 2018	Request version	12/3/2018 13:33:44 Reopened on 12/3/								
Parent	🗐 NOMOSYS 🕼 ᢇ 🖣	Suggest solution									
Customer NOMOSYS		Other actions	ent NOMOSYS								
		Product use CRM Groupw	are CP 3.1 [CP-3-564KL546]								

All actions are available here,

- ... whose filter conditions apply to the current ticket and
- ... which have been made available to the current user.

# Executing an action

Selecting an action will open a window where you make additional entries.

൙ Reques	st versior	n (Respo	nse from su	bmitter req	juired)		×			
EN Englis	sh									
External	. [	We will	to fix this.		1					
comment	version you are using ? Thank you!									
Internal comment	t	Please continu	wait for resp iing to proce	submitter before uest.	<b>.</b>	/				
The follow	/ing step	s are ex	ecuted:			_				
🥖 Statu	s				Response from submitter requir					
E-ma (husir	il to Tick ness)	et (Subi	mitter) E-ma	il	EN English	~	ø			
🧷 Notes	5				EN English	~	ø			
🧷 Interr	nal notes				EN English	~	ø			
🥖 Ticke	t type				Error	~				
🥖 Error	cause				Manufacturer error	~				
船 Respo	onsible t	eam								
船 Respo	onsible e	mploye	e							
Create 1	time rec	ord								
Subject	Version	reques	ted							
Туре	Suppo	ort	~	Status		$\sim$				
From	2:50:0	0 F 🔇		Actual	0 PD 0 hrs 01 min					
То	2:51:0	01		Value	0 PD 0 hrs 00 min					
					ОК	ance	el			

External comment and Internal comment: Enter your request or message here. The external comment is provided for the Notes field and external e-mail and can be preset (see "More steps" on page 35). The internal comment is provided for the Internal notes field internal e-mail. When using multiple languages for notes fields or e-mails, select the tab for each language for which you want to enter comments (see below).

#### Note

The comment fields will only be available if the associated text variables are used in the action's template. Please note that the internal comment could also appear in external e-mail and external notes, depending on where it is used in the template.

Where exactly the text is entered depends on the template (see "Subject and body" on page 32 and "More steps" on page 35).

- Overview of work steps: Here you see the changes to apply to the ticket as well as the e-mails to send. If a task should be created, it will also be displayed here. The Status field is always displayed. Here you see the ticket's status after the action is executed. If multiple types are used for tickets, the ticket's new Type is also displayed. When an action doesn't modify the status or type, the target values are displayed as grayed out.
  - Select language: You may select the desired language for e-mails and notes if the associated templates have been entered in more than one language. The language defaults to the setting you have made in the Management Console under Helpdesk
     Notification and languages. E-mails will preferably use the recipient's Preferred language entered in the associated address in the Details tab if available for the ticket action. When using multiple languages, you may enter individual comments for each language, which you may select via the tabs on top of the window.

Display preview: Here you open a preview of the e-mails and notes.

In the e-mail preview, you may add additional recipients in the **To**, **CC** and **Bcc** fields. Separate multiple recipients in a field with a semicolon (";").

Via the **Add attachment** menu, you may add attachments from files or archived documents. You may also archive files as documents and attach them here.

🎯 Preview		- 🗆 X						
E-mail to Ticket (Subn	nitter) E-mail (business) Notes Internal notes							
Language	EN English ~							
From:	Support							
	Preset recipient	Additional recipient						
To:	jack.bauer@nomosys.co.uk	andrew.jackson@nomosys.co.uk						
Cc:		.co.uk; jessica.miller@brookwater-consultants.co.uk						
Bcc:		antonio.matarazzo@cas-demo.co.uk						
Subject:	Your request "Form 12 E4 won't react." (Number	#CAS:24)						
Dear Dr. Bauer, we have the following feedback on the request mentioned in the subject line. We will have to create a patch to fix this. Could you please tell us which version you are using under which operating system? Thank you! You can find more information about the request in our support portal under the following link: <u>https://helpdesk.example.com/helpdesk/TicketDetails.aspx?gguid=0x94330BF547774D4DA1A30BA0C3681332</u> Kind regards Peter Grayhound Support								
EN English								
🔎 Add attachment	<ul> <li>Edit X Remove attachments</li> </ul>							
File name		Size						
		OK Cancel						

- **Change field values:** Fields of the ticket for which this has been set up in the action template may be modified in the overview of work steps
- Create time record: The time record for the action is displayed here. If desired, modify the displayed values.
- **Execute action:** By clicking **OK** in the lower right you confirm the execution of the action. All provided works steps will now be executed:
  - Send e-mail and archive it with the ticket
  - Make changes to the ticket
  - Create a task
  - Create a time record

# 2.4.2 Specifying ticket actions

You specify ticket actions under **Settings** in the **Ticket action** tab.

🏶 Settings								×				
Addresses Calendar Documents E-mail Gene	ral Lists	Mobile sync Modules	and Solutions Rules Search	Telephony	Ticket action Workin	ng environment						
Helpdesk												
🗋 New 🧪 Edit 🕼 Duplicate 🗶 Delete 🦉 Import 🗊 Export												
Subject	Туре	Ticket type	Status	Team	Responsible team	Target status	Changed by	Changed on				
Answer question	(No filter)	Question	New; In process by support	Support	(No filter)	Solution suggested	Peter Grayhound	13.12.2018 13:16				
Complete	(No filter)	Question; Error	In process by support; In pr	Support	(No filter)	Completed	Peter Grayhound	13.12.2018 13:17				
Request to submitter and wait for response	(No filter)	(No filter)	In process by support; In pr	Support	(No filter)	Response from submitter required	Peter Grayhound	13.12.2018 13:17				
Request version	(No filter)	(No filter)	In process by support; In pr	Support	(No filter)	Response from submitter required	Peter Grayhound	13.12.2018 13:17				
Suggest solution	(No filter)	Error; Product	New; In process by support	Support	(No filter)	Solution suggested	Peter Grayhound	13.12.2018 13:16				
							OK Cance	Apply				

The list supplies a quick overview about which actions are available for which tickets:

- The action will be displayed in the **Action** menu under its **Subject**.
- Type, Ticket type, Status, Team and Responsible team are filter values. The action
  will be available for all tickets whose type, ticket type, status, team and responsible
  team are listed here. Additionally, you may filter by the Error cause and Priority fields.
- The Target status will be set in the ticket when the action is executed.
- Under Changed by and Changed on, you can see who last changed the action when.

For creating and editing actions, the following features are available here.

- **New:** Here you create a new action.
- **Edit:** Here you edit the selected action.
- **Duplicate:** Here you create a copy of the selected action.
- **X** Delete: Here you delete the selected action.
- **Import:** Here you import previously exported actions.
- **Export:** Here you export all selected actions.

# 2.4.3 Editing a ticket action

For creating or editing a ticket option, this window will open.

Edit Ticket action	n – D	×
Name Requ	est version	
Description		
Ticket filter Team	Send e-mails Change field values More steps	
Туре	(No filer)	•
Ticket type	(No fiter)	•
Status	In process by support; In process by consulting; In inquiry with consulting	•
Error cause	(No filter)	•
Priority	(No filer)	1
Team	Support 🔅	•
Responsible team	(No filer)	•
More filters	(No filter)	*
	OK Cance	

Here you enter the following settings for the action.

# Name and description

At the top, you name the menu item for Helpdesk users working with ticket actions. The description is optional and is only displayed here.

You may enter the name and description of an action in all client languages which are installed and have been selected for Helpdesk (see "11.2.7 Notification and languages" on page 178).

--- Here you enter the name or description.

#### Ticket filter

Here you limit the tickets for which the action will be available via filters.

You may filter by the **Type**, **Ticket type**, **Status**, **Error cause**, **Priority**, **Team** and **Responsible team** fields.

Via **More filters**, you may enter a formula of the **Boolean value** type. Here, you have access to any fields available for jobs as well as input help variables, which will be replaced by the correct values in the currently used language in a multi language system.

Edit filter: Here you open a selection of entries available for the associated field. Under More filters, you open the formula editor here.

#### Team

Here you select the users and groups for which the action will be available.

Edit Ticket	action										-		×
Name	Request version												
Description													
Ticket filter	Ticket filter Team Send e-mails Change field values More steps												
Search	,	D	Search	participants									٩
Nam	ne ▲2 │ ▼1 │ Descripti			Name 🔺	Desc	ription							
🔒 Micł	nael Green 🛛 ☆ 🛛 Marketin	9	6	Support	Supp	ort							
🔒 Pete	r Grayhound 📩 CEO												
🔒 Rob	ert Glade 🛛 📩 🛛 Head of S	ia i											
🔐 Sales	s 📩 Sales												
👸 STA	NDARD 🛛 📩 All emple	y 🔿											
🔒 Supp	oort 🛧 Support												
👳 Trair	ning room 🛛 📩 60 places	-											
👳 vw	Touran 📩 Car												
All	Users Resources	)											
L											OK	Canc	:el

# Send e-mail

Here you enter templates for e-mails which will be sent when the action is executed.

൙ Edit Ticket	Ger Edit Ticket action – 🗌							
Name	Request version							
Description								
Ticket filter	Team Send e-mails Change field values More stens							
D New	D Nav 2 Felt @ Duplicate V Dateta							
Recipient		Subject						
Ticket (Su	ibmitter) E-mail (business)	Your request " <fieldvariable_itdhdreactionvs_task:subject>" (Number #CAS: <fieldvariable_it< th=""></fieldvariable_it<></fieldvariable_itdhdreactionvs_task:subject>						
		OK Cancel						

To create and edit e-mail templates, the following features are available here.

**New:** Here you create a new e-mail template.



Duplicate: Here you create a copy of the selected e-mail template.

**X** Delete: Here you delete the selected e-mail template.

# Edit e-mail

For creating or editing an e-mail template, this window will open.

➢ Edit e-mail				-		×
Notification						
Sender						
System account     System account     O Triggering user						
Sender name Support						
Reply address						
Desistent Tislant dasar Jantan Damanan tanini anta						
To Ticket (Submitter) E-mail (business)						
Bcc						
DE Deutsch EN English ES Español FR Français IT Italiano						
Subject: E_ITDHDREACTIONVS_TASK:Request>" (Number #CAS: <fieldvariable_itdhdreactionvs_task:number>)</fieldvariable_itdhdreactionvs_task:number>	+	Response	Ticket	Submitter		
		Date				
Arial - 10 -		Date and t External co	ime omment			
	4	Internal co Link to Heli	omment odesk on	line (survev	about sa	atis
	-	Link to Hel	pdesk on	line (ticket v	/iew)	
		Time	intion			
Salutation,		User descr User name	puon			
we have the following feedback on the request mentioned in the subject line.						
External comment						
External comment						
You can find more information about the request in our support portal under the following link:						
Link to Helpdesk online (ticket view)						
User name						
Support	>					
Au dudunnen V P Lat Kemove attachments						
File name				Size		
Send	ticket a	s GBT file		Archiv	ve e-ma	il
				OK	Car	ncel

- Sender: Here you select whether the system account or the user executing the action will be specified as sender. In addition, you may enter a different sender name and a different reply-to address.
- Recipients: Clicking one of the To, Cc or Bcc buttons will open the Select recipients window. Here you select the desired recipients from addresses linked to the ticket as well as the ticket's participants.

In addition, you may read user names and e-mail addresses from a text field.

You may also enter permanent recipients in the **To**, **CC** and **Bcc** fields directly in the **Edit e-mail** window. Separate multiple recipients in a field with a semicolon (";")

ddresses			Participants
] Ticket (Submitter)	E-mail (business)	~	Notify participants of the data record
Primary address	E-mail (business)	$\sim$	Team Responsible team
] Ticket (Customer)	E-mail (central)	$\sim$	Employee Responsible employee
Producer	E-mail (business)	$\sim$	
			E-mail address from field
			Field

- Addresses: Select here all linked addresses that should receive a copy of the e-mail.
   For each selected address, you will be prompted to select the e-mail field to use.
- Participants: Specify here whether participants of the request should be notified and select the desired fields. The e-mail will be sent to the e-mail addresses entered in the User Management area of the Management Console for the selected CAS genesisWorld users or for the members of the selected groups.
- E-mail address from field: Select here a job text field in which recipients will be specified (e.g., select Communication instead of the Submitter link if you are using the support e-mail account as described in section 12.6 on page 218).

Multiple recipients can be entered in the selected field, separated by commas (",") or semicolons (";").

E-mail-addresses and CAS genesisWorld user names may be specified as recipients.

 Subject and body: In the lower half of the window, you enter the subject and body of your message. You may enter the template in all client languages selected for Helpdesk (see "11.2.7 Notification and languages" on page 178).

You may use the following text variables.

- Response
  - User description and User name: The user executing the action
  - Date and time: Time at which the action is executed
  - External comment and Internal comment: Entries made by the user when the action is executed
  - Link to Helpdesk online (ticket view): See "Sending links for opening the detail view" on page 139
  - Link to Helpdesk online (request for feedback): See "12.4 Setting up a request for feedback" on page 209
  - Name of response (ticket action)

- Ticket: Ticket fields
- Submitter: Submitter's address fields

If e-mails created from the template and replies to them should be linked with the associated ticket when the e-mails are archived, enter the key defined in the Management Console into the subject line (see "11.3.4 E-mail" on page 183).

Please note that a blank space must be entered before the key field (e.g., when no prefix was defined and **Number** was selected as field, the key will be "# Number#").

#### Note

In order to use links to Helpdesk online in e-mails, you must enter the associated link in the Management Console (see "**Link**" on page 155).

Attachments

Add attachment: Here you may Add existing documents via the search window or archive a new file and add it via Create and add new document.

**Edit:** Here you edit the selected document in its data record window.

**X Remove attachments:** Here you remove the selected documents.

- Send ticket as GBT file: Select this option to include a copy of the ticket as an attachment in the CAS genesisWorld transfer file format.
- Archive e-mail: Select this option if the e-mail should be archived with the ticket and all addresses selected as recipients after sending.

### Change field values

Here you specify which fields of the ticket should be changed by the action.

൙ Edit Ticket action —					
Name Request	version				
Description					
Ticket filter Team Send e-mails Change field values More steps					
Field	Value	Can be changed by user			
🧷 Solution	Field without input assistance options				
🧷 Туре	<no change=""></no>				
🧷 Status	Response from submitter required	~			
🧷 Ticket type	<no change=""></no>	$\sim$			
🧪 Error cause	<no change=""></no>	$\sim \square$			
🧷 Priority	<no change=""></no>				
📸 Team	<no change=""></no>	$\sim$			
📸 Employee	<no change=""></no>				
📸 Responsible tea	m				
📸 Responsible en	ployee				
		OK Cancel			

Select the desired **Value** for each **Field** you wish to change.

Select the **Can be changed by user** option if the user executing the action should have the possibility to modify the value.

The **Can be changed by user** option also allows an action to be executed when the field value selected here is not available in a ticket. With this option, the first available value will be selected for the associated field and may be changed by the user if more values are available. If a field value selected here is not available in a ticket and the **Can be changed by user** option has not been selected for the field, the action will be cancelled when it is selected and the field and missing value will be displayed.

When you select the **Can be changed by user** option for the **Solution** field, a separate field for entering the solution will be displayed when the action is executed. The field will automatically adopt a solution that has already been entered in the ticket and will be transferred back to the ticket's **Solution** field as displayed when the action is confirmed.

The selection for the fields available here can be limited as follows in a ticket:

- The selection in the **Status** field may depend on the **Type** (MC > Database > Jobs > Type/Status > Input help). When multiple types are used for tickets (MC > Helpdesk > General) and no type is selected here, all status options for all ticket types will be available for selection. In this case, if you select a status here, the action will only be executable in tickets for whose type the selected status is available.
- You may only select an Error cause if that field has been cleared for the selected Ticket type (MC > Helpdesk > General). When you select a Ticket type for which no error cause can be specified, it will automatically be transferred to the Error cause field.
- The selection in the **Priority** field is limited by the service agreement or by the default settings for tickets without a service agreement if response deadlines are used (see "**Priority**" on page 18).
- The selection in the four participant fields Team, Employee, Responsible team and Responsible employee may be limited by access permissions, as is usual in CAS genesisWorld.

In the team fields, only groups in which the user is a member with at least reading permissions or to which she has external access will be available for selection.

In the employee fields, all members of the group selected as the respective team will be available for selection.

#### More steps

Under **More steps**, you specify entries for the notes fields. You decide whether a task should be created, whether time is to be recorded automatically for the action and whether the ticket's data record window should be closed after the action is executed.

൙ Edit Ticke	t action						- 0	×
Name	Request ve	rsion						
Description								
Ticket filter Team Send e-mails Change field values More steps								
🗹 Internal	✓ Internal note ✓ External note ✓ External comment							
Date and time (User name) / Could you please tell us which vyou are using? Thank you!					Could you please tell us which version you are using? Thank you!			
Create t	a <b>sk</b> e		۶x	<ul> <li>Enter subject of tig</li> <li>Open data record</li> </ul>	cket window			
Create t	ime record							
🗹 Subje	ect	Version requested						
Туре		Support	$\sim$	Status			~	
Close data record window of the ticket								
							ОК	Cancel

 Internal note and External note: Here you specify entries to insert at the beginning of the Internal notes and Notes fields. As for e-mails, you have access to Response, Ticket and Submitter field text variables, see "Subject and body" on page 32).

The **Internal notes** field will only be available if you have set it to be displayed in tickets in the Management Console (see "Notes" on page 150).

 External comment: Here you may preset the external comment, with access access to Ticket, Customer and Submitter field text variables.

Users who execute the ticket action may simply accept, modify or supplement the preset external comment.

• Create task: Here you specify whether a task should be created for the ticket.

If desired, select a template to use via the search.

Also state whether the ticket's subject should be adopted as the new task's subject and whether the task should open automatically in the associated data record window once the ticket action has been executed.

 Create time record: Here you specify whether time should be recorded for the action automatically. In the default setting, the ticket's subject will be adopted as the time record's subject. Alternatively you may enter a different subject for time records for the selected action.

In addition, you select here the desired type and status of the time record.

 Close the data record window of the ticket: Here you specify whether the data record of the ticket should be closed automatically after the action has been executed.

# 2.5 Blocking support entitlement

You can block the support entitlement for companies and individual contacts in **Details**.

When you block a company, the block also applies to all associated contact persons.

Edit company NOMOSYS									
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>									
🙀 Save&Close 🗐 🗙 🚔 🥝 👚 🦆									
📪 Address services 👻 🕼 Create receipt 🔹 부 🖏 🛪 🖓 Hourly rates 📞 🗸 🗐 🗸 📄 Create document 🗸 🎯 Action 🔹 🌛 Short notes 🔎 Link with									
General Details Tree Area map Group structure Billing Questionnaires Change log Dossier Customer dashboard									
NOMOSYS The Consulting Company, 123 Jermyn Street, SW1Y 4UH London (NOMOSYS)									
Number	18423	1 <sub>3</sub> 2	Preferred language	English					
Verified on/by	Friday, May 4, 2018 Peter Grayhound		Number of employees	1,000					
Classification	Α ~		fan!-Portfolio group	Fan					
Bank details									
Account holder	Jack Bauer		Payment method	Bank transfer					
IBAN	GB57 BKEN 1000 0031 9268 19		Credit institution	Bank of England					
BIC\SWIFT	BKENGB2L		Sort code	100000					
Bank account	31926819								
Company data									
Register of companies	HRB 1287546		District court London						
Tax number	5857878678888		Value added tax ID	GB989898000					
EBID number									
Turnover	Turnover								
Turnover group	Medium		Turnover	223,058.20 GB					
Last contact									
Contact person Peter Grayhound			Contact on/via	Monday, February 25, 2019					
First contact			First contact date						
Helpdesk / Survey	online								
Not entitled to support	Not entitled to support								

 Support block in CAS genesisWorld (Desktop Client & Web Client): If you open or create a ticket for a blocked address or enter a blocked address as a ticket's customer or submitter, you will be notified of the block.

Tickets can then still be created or edited and saved.

 Support block in Helpdesk online: Contacts belonging to a blocked company as well as blocked single contacts can no longer log on to Helpdesk online.

You may store the associated message in different languages in the Management Console under **Helpdesk > Helpdesk online**.

Blocked customers are no longer available for selection by their supervising partners for new inquiries in Helpdesk online (see "**This request is for**" on page 141).
# 2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online

To permit access to a company contact or a single contact, enter a password and select an access level in the **Details** tab.

🗿 Edit contact perso	on Jack Bauer							-		×
File Edit View In	sert Search Tools ?									
🔩 Save&Close 📄	🗙 🚔 📴 🤣 🕆 🗍 🖄									2
Address services	🔹 🦫 Create receipt 👻 📄 🦊 🖏 Ho	urly r	ates 📞 • 🔟 • 🗎	Create document 🔹 🎯 Action 👻 🍃 Short notes 🔬 Lii	nk with	• 🗋	🖥 New link 👻	📄 Report.	. 🖉 м	lap
General Details	Tree Area map Group structure	Que	estionnaires Chang	ge log Dossier Customer dashboard						
Mr. Jack Bauer, 123 Je	ermyn Street, SW1Y 4UH London (NOMOSYS)									
Number	18426	132	Preferred language	English					~	
Verified on/by	Friday, May 4, 2018 Peter Grayhound		Number of employees	1,000						
Department internal	Management ~		Responsible for	Peter Grayhound						]
Internal function	CP 3.1   Decider, TRK-7   Decider	]	Internal P.O. Box							]
Classification	Α 🗸		fan!-Portfolio group	Fan					~	
Bank details										
Account holder	Jack Bauer		Payment method	Bank Transfer						
IBAN	GB57 BKEN 1000 0031 9258 19	]	Credit institution	Bank of England						
BIC\SWIFT	BKENGB2L		Sort code	100000						
Bank account	31926819	]								
Turnover										
Turnover group	Medium		Turnover	223,058.20	GBP	$\sim$	Discount	0.05		
Last contact										
Contact person	Peter Grayhound		Contact on/via	Monday, February 25, 2019		6	Appointment		~	
First contact	personal ~	]	First contact date	Monday, November 17, 2008						2
Private										
Birthday	Friday, November 17, 1967	6	Christmas card	Birthday card						
Gifts	Wine, Chocolates		Preferences	Golf, Windsurfing, Tennis						
Helpdesk / Survey	online									
Password	•••••	4	Helpdesk online	All requests (submitter is part of company structure)					~	
				No access Own requests (submitter is this contact) Company requests (submitter belongs to company) All requests (submitter is part of company structure)						

Enter password: Click Reset to enter a password or change the stored password. After saving, it will be displayed encrypted as ●●●●, regardless of its length.

Customers can also set their own passwords in Helpdesk online via the **Activate account** link on the login page.

Section "12.1 Helpdesk online account enabling notification" on page 195 describes setting up a notification rule for sending customers a direct link to the activation page when their access is enabled by selecting an access level in the **Helpdesk online** field.

In the **Helpdesk** area of the Management Console, under **Helpdesk online** > **General**, you can specify a minimum length and other requirements for passwords. All of these requirement will be checked when setting or changing the password in an address record in the Desktop Client as well as in Helpdesk online by a customer (see **Activate password guideline for portal users** on page 155).

 Via an Action, you may enable Helpdesk online access for multiple contacts at once, all of which will be invited for activation via the notification rule (see section "Activating Helpdesk online access for multiple contacts via an action" on page 39).  Assign Helpdesk online password: Once the account has been activated by entering a password, either by the customer himself in Helpdesk online or by an employee in the Desktop Client, the the Assign Helpdesk online password field is set to "true".

This field isn't displayed in the data record window but may be used for filtering.

Helpdesk online: For new contacts, no access level is initially selected. New contacts therefore have no access to Helpdesk online, just like with the No access level. Select the desired access level here to grant contacts access to Helpdesk online. Please note that the account will only be activated after entering a password (see previous page).

The access level controls which tickets the user may see in Helpdesk online.

• **No access:** The contact hasn't been granted access to Helpdesk online.

Select this option to indicate that access has been actively denied to a contact in order to distinguish it from contacts for which no access level has been selected yet.

- Own requests (submitter is this contact): The contact has access to all requests in which he has been entered as submitter.
- Company requests (submitter belongs to company): The contact has access to all requests in which he or another contact of the same company has been entered as submitter.
- All requests (submitter is part of company structure): The contact has access to all requests in which he or another contact of the same company has been entered as submitter. The contact also has access to all requests in which a contact of another company has been entered as submitter if that company has been assigned to his company via a Parent/Child link, either directly or indirectly, and therefore appears in the **Company structure** view of his company.

As individual contacts are treated like a company and contact in one data record in CAS genesisWorld, a contact with this access level can also see requests from individual contacts which appear in his company's **Company structure** view.

If this access level is assigned to an individual contact, he will be able to see, in addition to his own requests, any requests from companies and individual contacts which appear in his own **Company structure** view.

Requests from company contacts which have been assigned to the company of a contact with this access level or to an individual contact with this access level via a Parent/Child link, directly or indirectly, in the **Company structure** view, will not be displayed in Helpdesk online unless their associated company also appears in the **Company structure** view.

With the **Has ticket access** link, you can additionally display tickets submitted by other addresses (see "11.3.5 Links" on page 185).

Those will then be displayed in Helpdesk online to users with either of the **Company** requests or **All requests** access levels (see "**Submitter**" on page 137).

 Creating tickets for customers: The Has ticket access link also enables creating tickets for linked addresses via request types with a customer selection (see "This request is for" on page 141).

Additionally, using such request types, Helpdesk online users may also create tickets for addresses assigned to the own company via the **Customer** link (company to company).

Users with the **All requests (submitter is part of company structure)** access level may also create requests of such types for any company linked to a company that is part of their own company's **Company structure** via the **Customer** link.

In addition to companies, links to individual contacts are also supported here.

#### Activating Helpdesk online access for multiple contacts via an action

- ✓ Select the desired addresses in a list view (e.g., a list of search results).
- ✓ In the Action menu in the toolbar, select the Other actions... item.
- ✓ As **Table field**, select the **Helpdesk online** field.
- ✓ As Value of change, select the desired access level.
- ✓ Click **Execute action**, to change the access level for all previously selected contacts.

Please note that the selected contacts will only be automatically invited to activate their accounts if you have configured an appropriate notification rule (see "12.1 Helpdesk online account enabling notification" on page 195).

# 2.7 Tickets in the Web Client

With the **Tickets** app in the **Service and support** app group, you can see and edit existing tickets. To create new service tickets, please use te action menu in the detail view for the associated data record.

	? 🗄	
Q Service and support	Tickets	₽
Service agreement Product uses Frickets	_Q  şearch Display all → Last opened	
Time records Team planning	Customer form not responding 05/13/2021, 05:50 PM EZ95 interface not working	>
	O5/12/2021, 02:00 PM     Frequent crashes after printing     O4/06/2020, 02:00 PM	>
	Print command not executed 03/09/2021, 03:32 PM	>
	ERP interface stopped running 04/05/2021, 08:00 AM	>
	No access to CP3.1 server 05/10/2021, 05:50 PM	>
	Error XI0Pe 00012675 03/31/2021, 07:34 PM	>
	Extended list	>
	Views	
	All tickets	>
	Open tickets	>

- In the app start for the **Tickets** app, you have access to your tickets and job views.
- Click on the eye icon to create a new ticket list view.
- Click on a ticket to open the detail view. You can also edit or delete the ticket here.
- If the automatic notification has been activated and configured (see "Miscellaneous" on page 151), the ticket's submitter will be informed when the ticket is created or when the notes or solutions are changed. This requires confirmation by the user.
- Additionally, you can create tickets for addresses, phone calls and e-mails.

To do this, in the associated detail view, open the action menu with the three dots [...] and select **Create** > **Ticket**.

Click on the question mark at the top right to open the online help pages for more details.

# 3 FAQ management

The following sections describe the default features for FAQ documents:

- 3.1 FAQ search and creating FAQ documents (page 41)
- 3.2 Views and features for FAQ documents (page 44)
- 3.3 Creating an FAQ document (page 44)
- 3.4 The data record window for FAQ documents (page 45)
- 3.5 FAQ documents in Helpdesk online (page 46)

The FAQ search in Helpdesk online is described under "10.7 FAQ search" on page 134.

# 3.1 FAQ search and creating FAQ documents

The FAQ search finds FAQ documents and tickets in the selected area. In addition to the area selection, a product and version filter are available.

🍘 FAQ search				-		×
Search  Search  Add Comments  Notes, Request, Solution  Cickets  Notes, Request, Solution  Only completed tickets	i	Tips and tricks for the FAQ search You can see only the hits for each search item that is ir Use quotation marks to search by an exact sort order in With the default setting, all words starting with your se view". Select the "Only complete words" option to spe	ncluded in at least one of the search fie n a field, e.g. "Management Console". earch item are found, e.g. "report" also cify the search.	lds. returns "	'report	
Search item(s) Only complete words						
Administration     Addresses     Galendar     Calendar     Calendar     Documents     E-mail     Froject management     Telephony     Mercantile software	Request Notes	t	Solution			
ignore subareas New FAQ entry					Close	

You may also create new FAQ documents for a selected area. The selected product and version will not be transferred to the new FAQ document.

 Opening the FAQ search: The FAQ search is available in the main window's Search window with Helpdesk. While the main window is active, you can also open the FAQ search directly via the [F6] key. FAQ search: You can also open the FAQ search from any ticket using this button to the lower right next to the Request and Solution fields.

In the FAQ search, you have the following options.

• Search: Here you determine which data records and fields should be searched.

**Select fields:** All text and notes fields are available for selection here.

- Only complete tickets: With this option, only tickets marked as completed via the status will be found.
- Search item(s): Only hits in which each search item appears at least once will be displayed. Use quotation marks to search in a field in exact order (e.g., "Management Console").
  - Only complete words: If you are using the full text search, all words beginning with your search item will be regarded as hits. Select this option if only those words which precisely match your search items should be regarded as hits.

Search: Click here to start the search.

 Filter: You may filter the search by product, version and area. In the Management Console, you specify under Helpdesk > General whether the product, version and area should be adopted from the ticket when the search is opened.

Via the area selection you may also create new FAQ documents for the selected area. The selected product and version will not be transferred to the new FAQ document.

Search product: Here you select a product in the Search window.

X Delete product filter: Here you reset the filter to All products.

• Version: For versioned products, you may select the version here.

**Select area:** Select an area here. Items below the selected item will also be found.

You may enter areas and sub-areas in the Management Console, in the **Database** area, as input help items for the **Area** field of products (see "11.1 Settings in the Database area" on page 147). In the **General** tab of a product, you may assign an area to that product (see "5.1.1 General" on page 50).

 Ignore subareas: Select this option to only find entries in the selected area. In this case, items below the selected item will not be found.

New FAQ entry: Here you create a new FAQ document for the selected area.

The selected product and version will not transferred to the new FAQ document.

However, when selecting an area with a product assignment (see "5.1.1 General" on page 50), the assigned product will also be applied automatically.

 Search results: Found search results will be displayed in a mixed list. The contents of the Request, Solution and Notes field will be displayed at the bottom. Your search items will be highlighted in red.

🍘 FAQ search		– 🗆 X
Search	Subject Filter for	
✓ FAQ documents	Action • 🗐 Open file • 🚍 Print file 🔟 Send • 🚨 Link with • 🔓 New link •	
Notes, Request, Solution		
	Do…   Date ▼   Subject   Category	Additional information
Vickets	11.12.2018 Frequent crashes after printing	100032
	11.12.2018 Print command not executed	100030
Only completed tickets	11.09.2018 RS type error while printing	9/11/2018, 9/11/2018
Search item(s) Only complete words print  Search Filter Product All products All versions  Search  CRM Groupware CP 3.1		
	Request Solution	
Addresses 	Frequent crashes after printing Reinstall the printer driver.	
> 📸 Telephony	Notes	
Ignore subareas		
Count of hits 3		Close

• **Transfer solution:** Here you overwrite the **Solution** field of the ticket from which you opened the search with the displayed solution.

### 3.2 Views and features for FAQ documents

FAQ documents are documents of a certain type. The associated fields and features will be displayed in the document's data record window when the FAQ type is selected.

The following standard features are available for FAQ documents.

- Data record window for documents; the FAQ tab is available in addition to the standard tabs for documents.
  - Type for marking as FAQ item
  - Status for publishing in Helpdesk online
  - Primary links to address, project and job, displayed in the tree view and in analyses (with Report module)
  - General links to any other data records
- Creation with FAQ type from tickets or from the FAQ search
- Global search in all fields such as Subject, Product and Area, configurable via Settings > Search; separate FAQ search for FAQ documents and tickets
- Views in the program navigator (list, dossier, tree) and in the link navigator (link list)

#### 3.3 Creating an FAQ document

In every ticket, the **Save request and solutions as FAQ** button is available to the right of the **Request** and **Solution** fields.

You may also create FAQ documents directly for a specific area via the FAQ search (see "3.1 FAQ search and creating FAQ documents" on page 41).

- Save request and solution as FAQ: Here you create an FAQ document as a short note. The following fields will be transferred from the ticket, if available.
  - Subject
  - Product
  - Area
  - Request
  - Solution

If an FAQ document has already been created for the ticket, you may open it in the document window by clicking on the FAQ button.

🗎 Edit Print comma	nd not executed			— C	) ×
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> r	sert <u>S</u> earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>				
🛃 Save&Close 🔚	🗙 🖶 👪 🔊				?
🖏 🗸 🎯 Action 🗸	🔟 Send 👻 🔎 Link with 👻 🛅 New link	🗕 📄 Report			
General FAQ	Details Change log Dossier				
Print command not exe	cuted (100030)				
Subject	Print command not executed				
Product	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	<b>0</b>	Area	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Documents	1
Version from	9	~	Version to	11	~
Request	Print command is not executed.				1
Solution	Install the printer driver.				
Туре	FAQ	$\sim$	Status	Public (displayed in Helpdesk online)	$\sim$

#### 3.4 The data record window for FAQ documents

- Subject: The subject will be transferred from the ticket.
- Version from / to: Select here the first and last associated version. You may enter the available items for the selected product (see "5.1.2 Version" on page 52).
- Product: Select here the associated product. Selecting an area assigned to a product (see "5.1.1 General" on page 50) will select that product.
- Area: Select here the area to which the FAQ relates.

If applicable, the associated product will also be selected.

You may enter areas and sub-areas in the Management Console, in the **Database** area, as input help items for the **Area** field of products (see "11.1 Settings in the Database area" on page 147). In the **General** tab of a product, you may assign an area to that product (see "5.1.1 General" on page 50).

- Request / Solution: As in a ticket, you open the descriptions in separate windows by clicking on the buttons next to the fields.
- Type: The FAQ type will be entered automatically. You select the type to use in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General (see "11.2.1 General" on page 148).
- **Status:** When the FAQ search in Helpdesk online is active, you may publish FAQ documents in Helpdesk online via the status (see following section).

# 3.5 FAQ documents in Helpdesk online

Depending on your settings, an FAQ search is also available in Helpdesk online (see "10.7 FAQ search" on page 134). You can find the associated settings in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **Helpdesk online** > **FAQ** (see "FAQ" on page 170).

When the FAQ search is active, any document with the FAQ type and a publishing status will be displayed in Helpdesk online.

# 3.5.1 Document language and language selection

In the **Helpdesk** area of the Management Console, under **Helpdesk online** > **FAQ**, you may activate a language selection in the FAQ search in Helpdesk online (see "**Language filter for FAQ entries**" on page 171).

If you do, all languages will be available for selection there which have been selected for the **Document language** field in the **General** tab of any displayed FAQ document:

🗎 Edit Fehlermeld	lung JK3312789JQ			- C	) X
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew	Insert Search Tools ?				
🔩 Save&Close F	I 🗙 🖨 🛍 🕆 🦊 🚳				()
🖏 👻 🍽 Action 🗸	🗸 🔟 Send 👻 🔎 Link with	🗕 🔓 New link 👻 📄 F	Report		
General FAQ	Details Change log	Dossier			
Created by Peter Gr	ayhound on 11.12.2018 16:17:	58			
Subject	Fehlermeldung JK3312789	QC			
Number	100026	1 <sub>3</sub> 2 Date	Dienstag, 11. Dezember 2018 🕒 Document language	German	$\sim$
Type <u>C</u> ategory	FAQ	Status 🧷 Keywords	Public (displayed in Helpdesk online)	Czech Dutch English French German Hungarian Italian	
Participants 🔗 🗌 private	Peter Grayhound X			Portuguese Romanian Spanish Turkish	<sup>66</sup>
Parent					- 🧷
Notes				🥕 Edit 🤷 Ir	ne stamp

# 3.5.2 Downloads for FAQ documents

With the default setting, all documents assigned to an FAQ document via general links will be available for download in the associated FAQ view in Helpdesk online.

You may turn off this feature or limit it by entering filter settings in the Management Console under **Helpdesk > Helpdesk online > FAQ** (see "**Documents referring to FAQ document**" on page 171).

# 4 Using e-mail templates

E-mail templates are available for tickets. Various types of information from the ticket may be embedded dynamically. Documents you link with templates will be copied when using the template and attached to the e-mail.

E-mail templates are also available directly for contact persons and individual contacts.

#### Note

The e-mail template selection for tickets offers only **E-mail campaign** documents with the **Ticket e-mail template** category.

The e-mail template selection for addresses offers any **E-mail campaign** documents with the **E-mail template** and **Ticket e-mail template** categories.

Document templates will not be available.

In tickets, the Send e-mail button is available next to the Request field.

Click Send e-mail to select the desired recipient from the available e-mail addresses of the submitter.

If a product with a manufacturer link is selected, the manufacturer's e-mail address will also be available for selection here (see "5.1 Products" on page 50.)

- ✓ Select the desired recipient.
- ✓ Select the desired template.

The e-mail will be generated from the selected template, addressed to the desired recipient and opened. You may now edit or extend it, send it and archive it as you wish.

E-mail templates are also available in the contact menus for the customer and submitter.

 Get in touch: Here you open a menu of phone numbers and e-mail addresses available for the customer or submitter. In the sub-menu for sending an e-mail, you access stored e-mail templates.

E-Mail templates are also directly available in addresses.

Via the **E-mail templates** button in the toolbar of a contact person's or individual contact's data record window you open the selection of templates.

#### Creating ticket e-mail templates

You create ticket e-mail templates as documents using the E-mail campaign template.

The **Ticket e-mail template** category in the document marks it as an e-mail template and makes it available in the e-mail template selection.

- Select New > Document from the File menu or select Document from the New menu in the main window to create a new document.
- ✓ Select the **E-mail campaign** default template and click **OK** to confirm.
  - The data record window for e-mail campaigns will open.

🗎 New E-mail ca	mpaign (Address)	-		×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew	Insert Search Iools ?			
🔩 Save&Close 🛛				•
🖏 👻 🍽 Action	🕶 🗃 Send 👻 🚜 Link with 👻 🔓 New link 👻 📄 Report			
General Adva	nced Details Status Tree Changelog Dossier			
Send e-mail car	npaign 췕 Preview 🛛 📒 Load HTML file 🛛 📰 Send test e-mail 🛛 😭 Sending options 🛭 🤄 Reset e-mail campaign			
<u>S</u> ubject	E-mail campaign			
E-mail account	Peter Grayhound V Sender Peter.Grayhound@cas-demo.co.uk Document language English		$\sim$	
Recipient		🚰 Chan	ge	
~	No further recipients were contacted.			
Subject				
Tahoma	- 10 -			
<u>A</u> - <sup>ab</sup> - B	I ⊔ abs 与 ♂ 🗈 🚴 💼 🗸 💼 झ झ झ ी 🗄 🥵 आ 🖉 🖉 📾 🗍 🖉 👘 🖓 📾 - 🐻 👘 📟 🖷			
please insert	e-mail text here			
				-
				<
A No attact	ments were attached.			

- Subject: The document's subject will be displayed in the template list.
- E-mail subject: Enter the subject for the e-mails to create from the template here.

Click on the arrow button at the lower right to access address fields, which you may insert via the **Recipient** list.

To use field variables defined for tickets in the subject line, put them in angle brackets (e.g., **<TicketNummer>** for the ticket number.)

If e-mails created from the template and replies to them should be linked with the associated ticket when the e-mails are archived, enter the key defined in the Management Console into the subject line (see "11.3.4 E-mail" on page 183).

Please note that a blank space must be entered before the key field (when no prefix was defined and **Number** was selected as field, the key is "# <TicketNummer>#").

• **Body:** Use the CAS genesisWorld text editor to create the e-mail body.

Click on the arrow button at the lower right to access address and ticket fields.

- Insert address fields via the Recipient list.
- Insert ticket fields via the Field variables list.

 Field variables in the subject and body: When you activate Helpdesk, field variables for the following ticket fields will be created: Solution, Notes, Number, Priority, Request, Product, Reference number, Status, Subject and Participants.

If you need additional field variables for tickets, you may create them in your user settings in **Documents > Field variables**.

 Adding field variables for tickets: Enter as Name the desired name for the item in the field variable list.

Enter as Value the key TASK: Field, where Field is the desired field's internal name. For example, TASK: KEYWORD refers to the ticket's subject.

 Adding field variables for linked data records: Via field variables, you may also embed fields of unambiguously linked data records, such as customer and submitter in the following way: Table: Field: Link type

You may, for example, refer to the customer's company like this: ADDRESS:COMPNAME:L2UTicketPart

The internal field names are listed in the **Database** area of the Management Console.

The internal link type names are listed in the Management Console under **Miscellaneous > Links > Link types**.

#### Notes

The field variables for ticket fields will only be correctly replaced in e-mail templates for tickets. Use the field variables for the primary job to embed ticket fields in word documents.

- Add attachments: Click on the arrow button at the lower left to display the attachment list. Then click on the **Attachments** button next to that list to edit it.
  - Click Add attachment to access the document archive via the global search.
  - Click Add new attachment to create a new document and add it to the e-mail template as an attachment.
  - Click **Remove attachment** to remove the selected attachment.
- Data in the Advanced tab: In e-mail campaign templates, nearly all fields that you
  usually edit in the General tab can be found in the Advanced tab.
- Mark as e-mail template: Switch to the Advanced tab and select the Ticket e -mail template category to add the document to the selection of e-mail templates.

# 5 Product use and service agreement management

The following sections describe features for product uses and service agreements:

- 5.1 Products in the Desktop Client (page 50)
- 5.2 Product uses, service agreements and maintenance billing (page 54)
- 5.3 Product uses in the Desktop Client (page 56)
- 5.4 Service agreements in the Desktop Client (page 64)
- 5.5 Product uses and service agreements in the Web Client (page 80)

### 5.1 Products in the Desktop Client

The Helpdesk features for products are only available in the Desktop Client:

- 5.1.1 General (page 50)
- 5.1.2 Version (page 52)

#### 5.1.1 General

🛑 Edit CRM Groupware CP 3.1		- 0	×
<u>File Edit View Insert Search Tools ?</u>			
🔩 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🚔 🛍 👚 🦺 🖄			()
😂 Action 👻 🎽 Short notes 🔟 Send 👻 👧 Link with 👻 [	🔓 New link 👻 📄 Rep	port	
General Pictures Versions Alternative description	ons Change log	Dossier	
Created by Peter Grayhound on 2/15/2015 4:37:48 PM; Last char	nged on 12/13/2018 4:26	5:40 PM	
Subject CRM Groupware CP 3.1			
Product number 00500040 1 <sub>3</sub>	2 Product group	PG10 IT - Software licences 🦨	м.
Price 320.00 EUR V	Purchase price	260.00	
Unit licenses	Active		
Differing price information	Description Tech	nnical details Customer benefit	
Currency Sales price Purchase price	The CRM Groups features for com	vare CP 3.1 combines an efficient customer management with pany-wide information management in a unique software	
EUR 400.00 300.00	businesses. Base	ad on the well developed address management, the software	
Product manager Antonio Matarazzo 🗸	Deputy	~	]
Available from	Available until		Ŀ
Category	Keywords		
Producer CAS Software UK	Maintenance item	Maintenance for CP 3.1 per license and year	ы
	Area C	RM Groupware CP 3.1	1
Notes		🥖 Edit 🛛 🚇 Time sta	amp
			·

**Differing price information** entered in the **General** tab (prices in other currencies) will be available in product uses when the product and currency are selected there. You may enter differing prices here if this feature has been activated in the Management Console (see "11.3.6 Products" on page 186).

With Helpdesk, the following additional fields are also available here:

- **Producer:** If you specify a company as manufacturer here, it will be available in tickets linked with the product as a recipient for e-mails that you create from templates.
- Maintenance item: If you are a reseller of service agreements, specify the product representing the service agreement here. In the maintenance item, you specify the Purchase price for one year of service. The Contribution margin results from the difference between the purchase price and the maintenance amount for the serviced product (calculated on the basis of the product price and maintenance amount). Other information entered for the maintenance item will not be considered in the calculation.

When you create maintenance bills with Easy Invoice using the example configuration, the line items for products will be described with the product's **Subject**. For products with a maintenance item, the maintenance item's **Subject** will be quoted in the bill instead (see "5.4.5 Maintenance billing with Easy Invoice" on page 72).

Area: Here you can assign a feature area to each product.

You can configure the hierarchic input help for this field in the **Database** area of the Management Console, under **Products**, for the **Area** field (see "11.1 Settings in the Database area" on page 147).

The assignment is valid for the selected area and any of its sub-areas which haven't been assigned to a different product.

When a feature area with a product assignment is entered in a ticket or FAQ item, the product will also be entered there automatically.

Likewise, the selection of a product to which a feature area has been assigned will also automatically select the associated feature area.

In Helpdesk online, for new requests and in the FAQ search, all first level areas and all sub-areas assigned to products will be available for selection as products.

# 5.1.2 Version

In the **Version** tab, you may enter versions with a name or number and release date and specify whether the version is supported.

When a product is selected in a ticket, product use or faq document, the versions entered for that product will be available there.

#### Note

New versions, deletions and any changes made to the version list will only be applied when the product is saved. If you close the data record window without saving changes, the version list will be reset.

This also holds for adopting versions from another product.

Edit Intranet software			_	×
<u>File Edit View Insert Search Tools ?</u>				
🔩 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🚔 🏠 🕈 🦊 🚳				?
😂 Action 👻 🌶 Short notes 🔟 Send 👻 🔎	Link with 👻 🔓 New link 👻 📄 Repo	rt		
General Pictures Versions Alternati	ve descriptions Change log De	ossier		
02800030 Intranet software				
🗋 🧷 🗙 🕇 🦺 Adopt product version	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	📃 📮 🔎 🕽	¢	
Version	Date of release	Entitled to support		
12	2/5/2018	Yes		
11	2/5/2017	Yes		
10	2/6/2016	Yes		
9	2/5/2015	Yes		

Add new version: Here you create a new version for the product.

- Version name: Enter the desired name for the version here.
- Release date: Specify the release date here.
- Qualified for support: Remove the check mark for unsupported versions. Such versions will be marked as Not qualified for support in the ticket's version list.

Delete version: Here you delete the selected version. Prior to deletion you will be prompted to confirm. After saving the product, the version will no longer be available in tickets and product uses. Data records in which the version has already been entered will retain the entry at first. When you open the data record in its window, the Version field will be reset. If you proceed to save the record, the version will be dropped.

**T** Sort list: Use the arrow buttons to change the order of list items.

 Adopt product versions: If you wish to use an existing version list for the current product, specify here the product whose versions you wish to use.

The selected product's versions will be displayed in the current product and may be modified here. Changes will directly affect the other product's version list.

**Open product:** If a product was entered, you open its data record window here.

Search product: Here you select a product in the Search window. Select the desired product in the list and enter it by clicking Accept & Close.

- This feature is not available in products whose versions have already been adopted by other products.
- Products that already adopt another product's versions will not be found.
- If versions have already been entered, they will be deleted. In this case, you will be asked for confirmation before the version list is adopted.
- **Delete link:** Here you delete the link to the version list. Afterwards, you may record separate versions for the product.

## 5.2 Product uses, service agreements and maintenance billing

Product uses and service agreements are available in all tickets created for a customer. Maintenance fees are calculated on the basis of the product price and maintenance rate.

With Easy Invoice, you can create maintenance bills and transfer them to your ERP or financial accounting system.

- A product use assigns a product to a customer and states the applied quantity and version. You also specify whether the product was adapted for the customer.
  - In a ticket, the product and version are automatically entered when a product use is selected.
- Service agreements cover a customer's product uses.

In the Management Console, you can activate response deadlines and submission permissions for contacts by priority. Both are recorded in the service agreement.

- When you are using response deadlines, those are displayed in the ticket depending on its priority.
- When you are using submission permissions, the selection of available priorities depends on the submitter.
- You may only create or change the special links between a service agreement and the associated product uses via the product use list in the service agreement or via the Service agreement link field in a product use.

Via the **Link with** and **New link** features in the toolbar of the data record windows and lists for service agreements and product uses, you can only create general links. Product uses linked to a service agreement only via a general link will not be displayed in the list of associated product uses in the service agreement and will not be included in maintenance bills (see next section).

This limitation preserves the consistency of the data for maintenance billing. Only if the data records are linked via the product use list in the service agreement or via the **Service agreement** link field in the product use it can be ascertained that the service agreement and all product uses have the same currency (see next section).

- Maintenance billing for service agreements is optional, as is the use of response deadlines and submission permissions.
  - The maintenance amount is calculated from the maintenance rate as a proportion of the prices of the products linked via product uses. You can enter default values for the maintenance rate for agreement types (service level) and billing interval in the Management Console. You can also specify a discount per agreement.
  - When you are reselling maintenance agreements, you can have the contribution margin calculated in the product use. To do this, enter the purchased service agreement as a product and assign it to the serviced product in the General tab via the Maintenance item link field (see "Maintenance item" on page 51).

In the maintenance item, you specify the **Purchase price** for one year of service. The difference between the maintenance amount for the product use and the maintenance item's purchase price yields the contribution margin.

- You may specify a different maintenance rate, price, discount and contribution margin per product use.
- You determine the **Currency** of a service agreement and any associated product uses in the **Maintenance** tab of the data record window for the service agreement. Product uses with a different currency are not possible.

You can change the currency of a service agreement and associated product uses via the **Tools** menu of the service agreement if this feature has been activated in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console unter **Products**. To do this, select the desired currency and, if desired, specify a conversion rate.

With the Easy Invoice module, you can create maintenance bills and transfer them to your ERP or financial accounting system (see section "5.4.5 Maintenance billing with Easy Invoice" on page 72 of this manual and the Easy Invoice manual available in the CAS genesisWorld knowledge hub under <a href="https://hilfe.cas.de/index-en.html">https://hilfe.cas.de/index-en.html</a>).

# 5.3 Product uses in the Desktop Client

In product uses, you record which customer utilizes which product in which quantity and version, and whether the product has been modified.

The following sections describe the features for product uses:

- 5.3.1 Views and features for product uses (page 56)
- 5.3.2 Creating a product use (page 56)
- 5.3.3 The data record window for product uses (page 57)
- 5.3.4 Automatic update of the service agreement (page 61)
- 5.3.5 Updating prices (page 61)
- 5.3.6 Automatically applying a changed product price (page 63)

#### 5.3.1 Views and features for product uses

The following standard features are available for product uses.

- Data record window with General, Maintenance, Change log and Dossier tabs.
  - **Currency** for maintenance billing, is copied from the service agreement.

For service agreements with product uses, you can change or convert the currency via the **Tools** menu in the service agreement's data record window if this feature has been activated under **Miscellaneous** > **Products** in the Management Console.

- General links to any other data records
- Creation in the New menu, in the toolbar of data record windows and list views as well as via the Product uses list in a service agreement
- Global Search in all fields such as Customer, Product and Serial number.
   Configurable via Settings > Search; search toolbar abbreviation PU
- Views in the program navigator (list, dossier) and in the link navigator (link list)

#### 5.3.2 Creating a product use

Proceed as follows to create a new product use.

- In the New menu, select the Product use item. Then enter the associated customer and, if applicable, the service agreement via the search.
- Via the New link menu, you can create a product use directly for a customer or service agreement. In the service agreement's data record window, you may also use the New link button above the Product uses list.

Product uses			绞 Refrest	n 🔏 Link with	1	🔓 New link	Delete link
Customer - Filter f	or						ය New link
To group the column	headers, drag the	m to this area.					
Customer ▲1	Number	Product	Version	Serial number	Quantity	Delivery on	▲2   Customization applied
NOMOSYS	1000002	Server operating system	2018	BXS-7893TZ4342	2	8/23/2018	✓
NOMOSYS	00500040	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	11	CP-3-564KL546	10	8/23/2018	~
NOMOSYS	11200003	ERP software	11	TRK-7-893FD411	7	10/9/2018	
NOMOSYS	02800030	Intranet software	11	INT-6712HT6724	10	10/9/2018	

### 5.3.3 The data record window for product uses

In the **General** tab, you record the core data of the product use. In the **Maintenance** tab, you supply information for maintenance billing.

🔚 Edit Product use						-		×
<u>File Edit View Insert Search Iools ?</u>								
🔩 Save&Close 📄 🕽	K 🖨 🕇 🕹 🚳							?
൙ Action 👻 🎽 Short	t notes 🔟 Send 👻 🔎 Link with 👻 🔓 New lin	nk 🕶 [	🖹 Report					
General Maintena	nce Change log Dossier							
Created by Peter Grayh	ound on 8/23/2018 10:56:38 AM; Last changed on 1	2/13/2	018 5:02:17 PM (Maintena	nce for CP 3.1 per license and year)				
Customer	NOMOSYS	ч.	Product	CRM Groupware CP 3.1			P	
Service agreement	Service agreement NOMOSYS	ы	Number	00500040				
Delivery on	Thursday, August 23, 2018	2	Quantity	10	Customizati	on applie	d 🔽	
Start of maintenance	Thursday, August 23, 2018	Ъ	Version	11			~	
End of maintenance		6	Serial number	CP-3-564KL546				
Terminated on		2	Maintenance status	Active			~	
Notes					🦯 Edit	P	[ime sta	mp

## General

**Customer:** Specify the customer here. When you create a product use for a service agreement or an address, the customer will be entered automatically.

Search address: Here you select the customer in the Search window.

**Open address:** Here you open the entered address.

 Contact person as customers: In the default setting, you may only enter companies and individual contacts as customers. Creating a product use for a contact person will enter the associated company as customer. You may change this to allow contact persons as customers (see "Customer and submitter" on page 150.) Service agreement: Here you specify the service agreement for the product use. When you create a product use for a service agreement, it will be entered automatically. Once a product use has a currency, the service agreement's currency must match.

Search service agreement: Here you open the Search window for selection. Only service agreements with matching currency will be available for selection.

Solution Service agreement: Here you open the entered service agreement.

Delivery on: State here when the product was delivered to the customer.

Start and end of maintenance: In product uses for service agreements, you specify here from when to when the customer is entitled to support for the product.

A product use is active as long as it is already valid (**Start of maintenance** <= **"Today"**) and not yet expired (**End of maintenance** > **"Today"**).

If you leave one of the fields blank, the associated condition is also considered to be fulfilled. A product use in which both fields are blank is always active.

Only active product uses will be available in the ticket form as well as in Helpdesk online and will be considered in the calculation of the **Maintenance amount** and **Contribution margin** when the associated service agreement is updated. (see "Maintenance" on page 70.

Maintenance bills created with Easy Invoice will also only include active product uses (see "5.4.5 Maintenance billing with Easy Invoice" on page 72.)

Terminated on: If the customer has terminated the associated service agreement, specify the termination date here.

**Product:** Here you specify the used product.

#### Note

Only products matching the associated filter will be found.

By default, these are all products for which the **Active** option has been selected in the **General** tab. You can change the associated filter condition in the Management Console under **Miscellaneous** > **Products** (see "11.3.6 Products" on page 186).

Quick search: Enter all or a part of the subject or number of the product for which you are looking in the Product field. Use the "%" character as a placeholder. It is automatically added at the end of you search term. For example, you can look for a product whose number contains the digits "001" using the search term "%001". Confirm with the [Return] key. If your search term can be associated with exactly one product, that product is entered. If multiple products were found for the entered search term, you are prompted to select the desired product.

Search product: Here you select a product in the Search window.

**Open product:** If a product was entered, you open its data record window here.

- **Number:** When a product is entered, its product number will be entered here.
- **Quantity:** Here you specify the quantity of product units the customer utilizes.
- Adaptation exists: Here you specify whether the product was modified for the customer.
- Version: All versions recorded for the selected product are available here.
- Serial number: Where applicable, enter the product's serial number here. The serial number will be displayed along with the product description when selecting the product use in a request.
- Maintenance status: For product uses in service agreements, you specify here whether the customer is currently entitled to support for the product.

The Active and Cancelled options are available as input help items.

• **Notes:** Here you record notes for the product use.

### Maintenance

🔚 Edit Product use			-	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> earch	<u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>			
🗟 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🖨 🕇	1 🕹			?
൙ Action 👻 🎽 Short notes 🔟	Send 👻 🔎 Link with 👻 🖿 New link 👻	💼 Report		
General Maintenance Cha	ange log Dossier			
Created by Peter Grayhound on 8/23	3/2018 10:56:38 AM; Last changed on 12/13/	2018 5:02:17 PM		
Maintenance rate in %	5.00	Differing maintenance rate in 9	%	
Discount in %	5.00	Differing discount in %		
Price	380.00 GBP V	Differing Price		 
Quantity		Product	CDM Croupware CD 2, 1	_
Quantity	10	Product	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	
Maintenance price (GBP)	18.05	Maintenance charge (GBP)	180.50	
Contribution margin in %	44.60	Differing contribution margin in	1 %	
Purchase price (GBP)	10.00	Maintenance item	Maintenance for CP 3.1 per license and year	
Contribution margin (GBP)	80.50			
Description				 

- Maintenance rate and discount
  - Maintenance rate in % from the service agreement. Via Differing mainentance rate in % you may enter a different maintenance rate for this product use.
  - Discount in % from the service agreement. Via Differing discount in % you may enter a different discount for this product use.
- Product and maintenance charge
  - Price from the product, if a price in the service agreement's currency has been entered for it. Otherwise, no price is adopted. Via Differing price you may enter a different price for this product use.
  - Currency from the service agreement. All product uses for a service agreement share the same currency. Product uses with a different currency are not possible.

You can change the currency of a service agreement and associated product uses via the **Tools** menu in the service agreement's data record window if this feature has been activated in the Management Console under **Miscellaneous** > **Products** (see "11.3.6 Products" on page 186).

To do this, select the desired currency and, if desired, specify a conversion rate.

- Quantity for the product use as specified in the General tab.
- Maintenance price: Maintenance price per piece for the product, according to the Price, Maintenance rate in % and Discount in %.
- **Product:** maintained product. You may open it here.
- Maintenance charge: Sum of maintenance costs (Quantity \* Maintenance price).

#### Contribution margin and maintenance item

• **Contribution margin in %:** the contribution margin's proportion of the maintenance charge.

The contribution margin is the difference between the maintenance charge and the purchase price for maintenance, which can be entered per piece via a maintenance item. If no purchase price is specified via a maintenance item, the contribution margin amounts to 100%.

Via **Differing contribution margin in** % you may specify a different contribution margin for this product use. You may then edit the **Contribution margin in** %, **Purchase price** and **Contribution margin** fields. If you edit any of these fields, the other two fields will be calculated based on the field you changed, potentially overwriting a purchase price entered via a maintenance item.

- Purchase price from the maintenance item or calculated purchase price if a Different contribution margin in % has been entered. In this case, the purchase price will be calculated by dividing the Contribution margin by the Quantity.
- Contribution margin: Contribution proportion of the Maintenance charge, whose amount corresponds to the Contribution margin in % (e.g., Contribution margin in % = 40, Maintenance charge = 200, yields a Contribution margin of 80).
- Maintenance item: When you are reselling service agreements, you can record the purchased service agreement as maintenance item of the serviced product to calculate the contribution margin (see "Maintenance item" on page 51).

If a maintenance item has been entered and is displayed here, you may open it here.

• **Description:** Enter a text for maintenance billing here.

## 5.3.4 Automatic update of the service agreement

When you save a product use, the **Maintenance charge** and **Contribution margin** fields of the associated service agreement will be updated automatically in the following cases:

- Maintenance charge or Contribution margin of the product use have changed (e.g., due to a change of the maintenance rate, discount, price, quantity or contribution margin in the product use).
- The service agreement of the product use was changed via the associated link field in the **General** tab. In this case, the previous and the new service agreement of the product use will be updated when the product use is saved.

# 5.3.5 Updating prices

When you save a product for which product uses exist after changing the price, or when you change the purchase price in the associated maintenance item, a list of the associated product uses will be displayed.

The list will only display such product uses for which the changed price or purchase price wasn't overwritten via the **Differing price** or **Differing contribution margin in** % option.

🍪 CAS genesisWorld							-		×
The following product use are linked to the product. Select and update the product uses for which you want to transfer the changed prices.									
Drag a column header into this ar	ea for group	ing.							
Customer  1	Number	Product A2	Version	Serial number	Quantity	Delivery on	Customi	ization ap	pplied
ACC Technics Inc.	00500040	CRM Groupware CP-3.1	11	CP-3-983AC964	20	11/29/2016			
Carring Electronics Ltd.	00500040	CRM Groupware CP-3.1	11	CP-3-457NM623	12	11/15/2017			
CompuTeam Ltd., Frank Grisman	00500040	CRM Groupware CP-3.1	11	CP-3-873HT764	18	12/7/2017			
Devemit Ltd.	00500040	CRM Groupware CP-3.1	11	CP-3-564KL546	20	9/21/2016		$\checkmark$	
NOMOSYS Inc.	00500040	CRM Groupware CP-3.1	11	CP-3-564KL546	10	1/2/2018		$\checkmark$	
Penthesilea	00500040	CRM Groupware CP-3.1	11	CP-3-912BR327	20	12/7/2017		$\checkmark$	
					[	Update pric	es	Close	2

The product uses will not be updated automatically.

To update the displayed product uses, select them and click on the **Update prices** button.

Alternatively, you may select the product uses to update, right-click to open the context menu and select its **Update prices** option.

🍘 CAS genesisWorld								—		$\times$
The following product use are linked to the product. Select and update the product uses for which you want to transfer the changed prices.										
Drag a column header into this a	rea fo	or grouping.								
Customer 🔺 1	Nu	umber Product ▲2	Version	Se	rial number	Quantity	Delivery on	Custon	nization a	pplied
ACC Technics Inc.				-1	P-3-983AC964	20	11/29/2016			
Carring Electronics Ltd.		<u>N</u> ew			P-3-457NM623	12	11/15/2017			
CompuTeam Ltd., Frank Grisman	-	<u>O</u> pen			P-3-873HT764	18	12/7/2017			
Devemit Ltd.	×	<u>D</u> elete			P-3-564KL546	20	9/21/2016		$\checkmark$	
NOMOSYS Inc.	6	D <u>u</u> plicate			-3-564KL546	10	1/2/2018		<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	
Penthesilea	6	Display dossier			-3-912BR327	20	12/7/2017		<ul> <li>Image: A set of the set of the</li></ul>	
		Linked documents								
		Update prices								
	₽	<u>C</u> reate receipt		F						
	۲	<u>A</u> ction		×						
		Send e-mail to participants		۲		1	Lindate pric	ec.	Clos	
		Send CAS genesisWorld data	a records	×		l	opuate pric	65	CIUS	C

This option is always available in the context menu for product uses.

# 5.3.6 Automatically applying a changed product price

If you open the **Maintenance** tab of a product use belonging to a service agreement after the price of the associated product or the purchase price of the associated maintenance item has been changed, when the prices of the product use have not yet been updated via the **Update prices** option and have not been overwritten via the **Differing price** or **Differing contribution margin in** % option, you will be asked whether the new price should be applied.



If you select the **Keep current price information unchanged** option for the product price, the **Differing price** option will automatically be selected in the product use.

If you select the **Keep current price information unchanged** option for the purchase price of the maintenance item, the **Differing contribution margin in** % option will automatically be selected in the product use.

## 5.4 Service agreements in the Desktop Client

In service agreements, you record products utilized by the customer as well as the associated agreements for response times, availability and contact persons.

The following sections describe the features for service agreements:

- 5.4.1 Views and features for service agreements (page 64)
- 5.4.2 Creating a service agreement (page 64)
- 5.4.3 The data record window for service agreements (page 65)
- 5.4.4 Update service agreements (page 71)
- 5.4.5 Maintenance billing with Easy Invoice (page 72)

#### 5.4.1 Views and features for service agreements

The following standard features are available for service agreements.

- Data record window with General, Response time, Contact persons, Maintenance, Change log and Dossier tabs
  - **Currency** for maintenance billing, is copied to associated product uses.

For service agreements with product uses, you can change or convert the currency via the **Tools** menu in the service agreement's data record window if this feature has been activated under **Miscellaneous** > **Products** in the Management Console.

- General links to any other data records
- Creation in the New menu and in the toolbar of data record windows and list views
- Global Search in all fields such as Subject, Customer and Number. Configurable via Settings > Search; search toolbar abbreviation SA
- Views in the program navigator (list, dossier) and in the link navigator (link list)

#### 5.4.2 Creating a service agreement

Proceed as follows to create a new service agreement.

- In the New menu, select the Service agreement item. Then enter the associated customer and, if applicable, other contacts.
- Via the New link menu, you can create a service agreement directly for an address.
   When you do, you will be prompted to select the desired link type, e.g., Customer.

To save a service agreement, you need to specify a customer. You may enter other contacts in the service agreeement's data record window.

### 5.4.3 The data record window for service agreements

In the **General** tab, you record core data for the service agreement. The **Response time** and **Contact persons** tabs are for recording agreements concerning tickets. Information for maintenance billing goes to the **Maintenance** tab.

#### Note

The **Response time** and **Contact persons** tabs as well as the **Product uses** list are only displayed after you have saved the service agreement. In addition, the tabs are only displayed if the associated features are switched on (see "Use service agreements, response deadlines and submission permissions" on page 152.)

# General

🖹 Edit Service agre	🖹 Edit Service agreement NOMOSYS — 🗆 🗙							$\times$
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew Insert <u>S</u> earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>								
🙀 Save&Close 🔚 🗙 🚔 👚 🚯 🔞								
😂 Action 👻 🎽 Sh	ort notes 🔟 Send 🔹	🖌 💭 Link with 👻 🔓 New I	ink 🗕 🛙	Report				
General Response time Contact person Maintenance Change log Dossier								
Created by Peter Grayhound on 8/23/2018 10:56:38 AM; Last changed on 12/13/2018 4:53:16 PM (Gold)								
Subject	Service agreement	NOMOSYS						
Number	SLA-5496002		1 <sub>3</sub> 2	Customer	NOMOSYS		<b>1</b>	<b>1</b>
Service level	Gold	~	*	Contact person (general)	Fred Mason, NOMOSYS		<b>1</b>	<b>1</b>
Country	United Kingdom	~	*	Contact person (delivery)	Fred Mason, NOMOSYS		-	<b>1</b>
Federal state	England	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	*	✓ The general contact pe	erson is also the delivery contact	person		
Maintenance status	Active	~	r	Invoice address	Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS		<b>1</b>	<b>1</b>
Terminated on			6	Start of maintenance	Thursday, August 23, 2018			Ь
Area	CRM	~	*	End of maintenance	Friday, August 23, 2019			Ъ
Notes					🦯 Edit	¶ <sup>®</sup> Ti	me sta	mp
Tue, 8/23/2018 10:58 AM (Peter Grayhound) 5% discount								
Product uses			📀 Refi	resh 🛛 🔎 Link with	🔓 New link	🍇 Delete	e link	
Customer - Filt	ter for							
To group the colu	mn headers, drag the	m to this area.						
Customer ▲1	Number	Product	Versie	on   Serial number   Q	uantity   Delivery on A2	Customizatio	on app	plied
NOMOSYS	1000002	Server operating system	2018	BXS-7893TZ4342	2 8/23/2018	~	'	
NOMOSYS	00500040	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	11	CP-3-564KL546	10 8/23/2018	~	•	
NOMOSYS	11200003	ERP software	11	TRK-7-893FD411	7 10/9/2018			
NOMOSYS	02800030	Intranet software	11	INT-6712HT6724	10 10/9/2018			

- Subject: Specify here a subject to display in lists and for searching.
- <sup>1</sup>3<sup>2</sup> **Number:** Here you generate the next free number. You enter numbering settings jin the Management Console under **Miscellaneous** > **Numbering**.

- Service level: Here you record the type of agreement. The options Gold, Silver and Platinum are available via an input help. You may store presettings for response deadlines and hotline hours by service level in the Management Console under Helpdesk > Service agreements (see "11.2.4 Service agreements" on page 174.)
- Country and federal state: Specify here the country and federal state in which the service agreement is valid. You may see and modify the presettings for those two fields in the Management Console under Helpdesk > Service agreements.

In tickets, the country and federal state are used to determine the public holidays to be accounted for in the calculation of the response deadline.

You can add other countries by importing holidays as .hol files in the Management Console under **Miscellaneous > Activities > Calendar** (see "11.3.1 Activities (holidays for service agreements)" on page 180).

Status: Here you specify whether the service agreement is currently valid. The options
 Active and Cancelled are available as input help items.

Terminated on: For terminated service agreements, enter the termination date here.

- Area: Here you distinguish service agreements for different business areas.
- Customer: Specify the customer here. When you create a service agreement for an address, the customer will be entered automatically. You need to enter a customer to save the service agreement.
  - Search address: Here you select the customer in the Search window. If product uses have been entered, you will be asked whether the new customer should also be updated in the product uses.
  - Open address: Here you open the entered address.
  - Contact person as customers: By default, only companies and individual contacts may be entered as customers. Creating a service agreement for a contact person, will enter the associated company instead. In the Management Console, you may enable contact persons as customers (see "Customer and submitter" on page 150.)

Section 2017 Contact person (general / delivery): Here you may specify customer contacts.

Search address: Here you select the contact person in the Search window.

**Open address:** Here you open the entered address.

- Identical contact person for delivery: Select this option to have the general contact person double as delivery contact person.
- Billing address: Specify here the recipient of maintenance bills.
  - Search address: Here you select the billing address in the Search window.
  - **Open address:** Here you open the entered address.
- B Start and end of maintenance: Here you record the agreement's validity period.

If you don't enter your own filter for service agreements in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **General**, a default filter by these two fields applies to tickets created in Helpdesk online (see "**Filter for service agreements**" on page 152). No default filter applies to tickets created in the CAS genesisWorld Desktop or Web clients.

- Notes: Here you record notes for the service agreement.
- Product uses: The Product uses list will be displayed after saving. Here you can see all
  product uses for the service agreement. They will be displayed in the ticket and
  accounted for in maintenance billing.
  - Refresh: Here you refresh the list to apply changes made to the product uses.
  - Link with: Here you select product uses in the Search window. Only product uses with matching currency will be available for selection.
  - **New link:** Here you create a new product use for the service agreement.
  - **Remove link:** Here you remove the selected product uses from the service agreement. The product uses will not be deleted by this.

## Response time

In the service agreement's **Response time** tab, you clear priority levels and enter agreed response times and hotline hours for each level.

You may edit the available priority levels via the input help for the job's **Priority** field in the **Database** module of the Management Console.

The priority levels and associated settings can be preselected for new service agreements depending on the **Service level** in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **Service agreements**. There you also enter other presettings and clear priority levels for requests without a service agreement (see "11.2.4 Service agreements" on page 174).

When a service agreement is selected in a request, only priority levels that have been cleared in the service agreement will be available for selection.

Edit Service agreement NOMOSYS	_	×
<u>File Edit View Insert Search Tools ?</u>		
🙀 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🚔 🚳		•
൙ Action 👻 左 Short notes 🔟 Send 👻 🔎 Link with 👻 🔓 New link 👻 💼 Report		
General Response time Contact person Maintenance Change log Dossier		
Created by Peter Grayhound on 8/23/2018 10:56:38 AM; Last changed on 12/13/2018 4:53:16 PM		
Priority level V Add		
Low 1Day Premium V 🔇 🗙		
Medium 6 hrs Premium V 🕢 🗙		
High 4 hrs Premium V 3 🗙		
Critical process 3 hrs Premium V		
System failure 2 hrs Premium V		

- You clear a priority level and enter a response time and hotline hours for it as follows:
  - ✓ Select the desired **Priority level** in the associated menu.
  - ✓ Click Add.
  - ✓ Enter the maximum response time.
  - ✓ Select the associated hotline hours.
- **Oisplay hotline hours:** Here you display the selected hotline hours.
- **X Remove priority level:** Here you remove the priority level from the selection. It will no longer be available in a request when this service agreement is selected. You may clear the priority level again at a later time.

# Contact persons

In the **Contact persons** tab, you specify which contact person has submission permissions for which priority levels. Once you have selected at least one contqact here, only selected contacts are permitted to submit requests. The service agreement will then only be available for selection for requests in which one of the contacts selected here has been entered as submitter.

🖹 Edit Service agreement NOMOSYS						-		Х
<u>File Edit View Insert Search T</u> ools <u>?</u>								
🙀 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🚔 👚 🦺 🖄	🙀 Save&Close 🔚 🗙 🚔 🕆 🦺 🚳							
link with 🗸 🎯 Send 👻 🖓 Link with	👻 🔓 New li	nk 👻 📄 Report						
General Response time Contact person Ma	intenance	Change log Doss	sier					
Created by Peter Grayhound on 8/23/2018 10:56:38 AM; Las	st changed on 1	2/13/2018 5:12:44 PM						
🛍 == 🗙								
Contact person (internal)	Low	Medium	High	Critical process	System failure	All		
Bauer, Jack	Х	х	х	х	х	Х		
Mason, Fred	Х	x	х					
All	х		x	х	х			
Contact person (external)	Low	Medium	Hiah	Critical process	System failure	All		
Devemit Ltd., Sanders, Zachary	) x	X	X	X	X	X		
All	X	X	X	X	x	X		

- Select contact persons from linked company: Here you select contact persons of the customer company to give them submission permissions.
- Select any contact person: Here you select contact persons of other companies to give them submission permissions.
- Remove contact person from list: Here you remove contact persons you have already selected. Clicking on the button opens the Remove contact person from list window, in which you select the contact persons to remove.
- Give contact persons submission permissions: Enter the desired submission permissions via the table.

By clicking a field in the **All** row or column, all associated fields will be selected automatically. Please note that this only affects explicitly selected contacts and doesn't entail submission permissions for contacts that have not been selected or priority levels added at a later time.

## Maintenance

🖹 Edit Service agreemen	t NOMOSYS		-	×
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert	<u>S</u> earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>			
🛃 Save&Close 📄 🗙	🚔 🕇 🦊 🙆			()
🕞 Action 👻 🎽 Short n	otes 🔟 Send 👻 🔎 Link with 👻 🔓 New lin	nk 👻 📑 Report		
General Response ti	me Contact person Maintenance	Change log Dossier		
Created by Peter Grayhour	d on 8/23/2018 10:56:38 AM; Last changed on 12	2/13/2018 5:12:44 PM		
Maintenance charge (GBP)	446.55	Currency	GBP	1
Contribution margin (GBP)	241.55	Last bill	Thursday, August 23, 2018	 6
Maintenance rate in %	5.00	Next billing	Friday, August 23, 2019	 <u>-</u> 2
Discount in %	5.00	Bill per	Year	~

Maintenance charge and contribution margin: If product uses exist, these fields are calculated based on all active product uses linked to the service agreement and the associated products (see "Start and end of maintenance" on page 58). You can find details about the calculation of the maintenance charge and contribution margin for a product use under "Maintenance" on page 60.

When the automatic calculation is active and the user has writing permissions for the service agreement as well as service level reading permissions for product uses and products, the two fields are updated automatically with the data of the associated product uses when the **Maintenance** tab is first opened and when the service agreement is saved.

After changing the service agreement links of product uses, any affected service agreements will be updated when one of them is saved.

You may also have the fields recalculated by selecting the **Update service agreements** option from the context menu of the the service agreement list. Only product uses and products for which you have reading permissions will be considered and only active product uses will be included.

If no product uses exist or the automatic calculation has been deactivated, the two fields may be edited freely. You may activate or deactivate the automatic calculation in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **Service agreements**.

- Maintenance charge: The maintenance fee billable per year, quarter or month.
   When product uses exist, this fee is calculated from the maintenance rate, the prices of products assigned via active product uses as well as the discount, if specified.
- Contribution margin: When reselling service agreements, enter the purchase price
  of the service agreement for a product via a maintenance product. The contribution
  margin is automatically calculated for all active product uses from the purchase
  prices of the maintenance products entered for billed products and displayed here.

 Maintenance rate in %: The Maintenance rate may be preallocated depending on the billing period and service level.

If the **Maintenance rate in** % field is empty, when you select a service level in the **General** tab and a billing period in the **Maintenance** tab, the associated mainenance rate will be entered automatically. Determine the preallocations in the Management Console under **Helpdesk** > **Service agreements** > **Default by service level**.

Changes of the maintenance rate will be applied to all associated product uses for which no differing maintenance rate has been specified.

• **Discount in %:** If applicable, enter an agreed discount here.

Changes of the discount will be applied to all associated product uses for which no differing discount has been specified.

 Currency: Here you select the currency of the service agreement as long as it doesn't have linked product uses. The selected currency will automatically be inherited by any product uses created for the service agreement. Product uses with a different currency are not possible.

For service agreements with product uses, you can change the currency of the service agreement and associated product uses via the **Tools** menu in the service agreement's data record window if this feature has been activated in the Management Console under **Miscellaneous** > **Products** (see "11.3.6 Products" on page 186).

To do this, select the desired currency and, if desired, specify a conversion rate.

- Last bill: When the service agreement is billed via the service agreement list, the current date is automatically set to be the date of last billing.
- Next billing: The next billing date is calculated from the last billing date and the billing period when the service agreement is billed.
- Bill per: Select the billing period Month, Quarter or Year. It serves for calculating the Next billing date. You can use it for automatic notification about due bills.

#### 5.4.4 Update service agreements

Via the context menu for the service agreement list, you can have the maintenance amount and contribution margin recalculated:

 Update service agreements: Select this to recalculate the Maintenance charge and Contribution margin fields for all selected service agreements.

# 5.4.5 Maintenance billing with Easy Invoice

With Easy Invoice, a freely configurable billing of service agreements is available.

# Configuration

You can configure the maintenance billing under **Extended receipt creation** in the **Easy Invoice** area of the Management Console. Click **New** to create a new configuration and enter the following settings:

In the Receipt creation tab, select the data records to bill, receipt type, links for the customer and invoice recipient as well as settings for the date and print documents:

Edit receipt creat	ion			×			
Receipt creation	Item creation	Default value receipt	Set field values				
Receipt creation f	For Prod	luct use		$\sim$			
Name	Bill se	ervice agreement					
Receipt type	Invo	ice		~			
Create receipt pe	r Serv	ice agreement		$\sim$			
Customer link	•	Customer		$\sim$			
	0			f🂓			
Differing recipient	•	Billing address					
	0			f@			
Date	OU	se current date					
	© Q	uery date					
Bill in advance	OPe	ermit without conditions					
	© R	estrict to					
	3	0 🚔 Days before "Pa	ayment period (star	t)"			
Print documents	O Cr	reate receipts with print of	document				
	00	reate receipts without pri	int document				
			ОК	Cancel			

- ✓ Select **Product uses** as data records to bill.
- Under Name, name the menu option for billing. Via the associated button, you can enter translations for other languages.
- ✓ Select the desired **Receipt type**.
- Under Create receipt per, select whether to create an invoice per receipt recipient, product use or service agreement. This selection affects the following other settings:
  - The selection of address links for the receipt (Customer and Differing recipient).
  - The selection of fields in formulas for receipt fields under **Default value receipt**.
  - The selection of fields to set for the data records to bill under **Set field values**.
✓ Under **Customer link**, select the desired customer link or determine it via a formula.

Depending on your selection under **Create receipt per**, you have access to address links of the billable product use (create receipt per receipt recipient or product use) or of the billable service agreement (create receipt per service agreement) in the drop-down menu and in the formula.

 Under Conflicting recipient, select the desired link for a differing recipient or determine it via a formula.

With the default setting, **Customer address invoice recipient**, the address that has been assigned to the selected **Customer link** address as **Invoice recipient**, if that link has been set, will be linked with the receipt as **Differing recipient**.

Depending on your selection under **Create receipt per**, you have access to address links of the receipt recipient (create receipt per receipt recipient), of the product use (create receipt per product use) or of the the service agreement (create receipt per service agreement) in the drop-down menu and in the formula.

- Under Date, determine whether the current date or a user entered date should be entered as receipt date.
- ✓ Under **Bill in advance**, specify whether and how many days ahead billing should be possible without asking for confirmation. With this setting, a warning is displayed when trying to bill a service agreement at an earlier time. The service agreement can still be billed in this case.
- Under Print documents, specify whether print documents should be created right away. Otherwise, a print preview is initially available for each receipt.

You can then create the print documents via the associated button in the data record window for a receipt or via the context menu for receipt lists.

After all receipts have been created, they will be displayed in a result list. You can immediately create the print documents here via the associated context menu.

iit receipt	creat						
eceipt cre	ation	Item crea	ation	Default value rec	eipt   Set field	values	
🗋 New	1	Edit 🗙 (	Delete	•   † ↓			
Item	Prod	uct formula	a				
1	IF {#	Product.N	1ainte	nance item.Record	ID} <> "" TH	EN {#Produ	uct.Main
Aggreg	ateide	entical item	15				
Aggreg	ate ide	entical item	าร				

In the **Item creation** tab, you configure the creation of receipt items for the product uses to bill.

Per product use, you may create any number of receipt items.

With the **Aggregate identical items** option, all receipt items for the same product will be combined to one common item automatically. This setting will affect items created for the same product use as well as items created for different product uses.

Edit it	tem creation			×
Produ	uct	IF {#Product.Maintenance item.Record ID} <> "" THEN {#Product.Maintenance item.Record ID} <> " THEN {#Prod	ct. 1	i 🎯
Creat	te an item optionally		1	<b>%</b>
Defa	ault value			
	Field	Formula		
×	Description	Software-Pflege " + {Product use.Pri	f🂓	^
×	Purchase price		f🂓	
×	Quantity	V {Product use.Quantity}	f🂓	
×	Unit	✓ IF {#Product.Maintenance item.Recoi	f🂓	
×	Price	V {Product use.Maintenance price}	f🂓	
		· · · · ·		~
		More default values		
		OK Ca	ncel	

Specify a product for each receipt item to create.

Enter a formula for the product to bill that returns one of the **Record ID** or **Product number** fields of the product.

Via **Create an item optionally**, you can enter a condition for creating this receipt item as a formula. In this case, the item will only be created when the condition is satisfied.

Under **Default value**, you can preconfigure other fields of the receipt item.

To this end, you have access to fields of the product use, the maintained product, the maintenance item, the associated service agreement and addresses as well as other linked data records.

If users are prompted to enter a receipt date, it is available as a variable under **User input**. Variables for international input help items are available under **Values from input help options**. You can use these to include input help items in your formulas regardless of the user language.

You can use the **AddInterval** date function to specify the paymend period depending on the receipt date and the service agreement's billing interval (**Bill per** field).

Please note that the accepted intervals of the **AddInterval** function are limited to **Month**, **Quarter**, **Half year**, **Year** and associated translations.

The strings accepted in a client language are displayed in the formula editor in the hint for this function when running the client in that language.

By default, the **Bill per** field of service agreements comes with the **Month**, **Quarter**, and **Year** values and corresponding translations for all installed languages.

You can find an example configuration for billing the period entered in a service agreement in the "Example configuration" section on page 77.

In the **Default value receipt** tab, you can preconfigure field values for the receipts to create via formulas.

Edit receipt creation									
Receipt creatio	n Item creation	Default value	receipt	Set field values					
Field			Formu	la					
× Payment	period (start)	$\sim$	{@Re	eceipt date}		f🂓			
X Payment	period (end)	~	AddIr	nterval({@Receip	t date}, {Si	f🂓			
X Additiona	al billing text	~	"Licer	nsee: " + {#Addre	ess.Custom	f🂓			
X Subject		~	"Serv	ice agreement bill	* + ToStrir	f🂓			
×		~				f🂓			
	ore default values								
				ОК	Cance	I			

Depending on your selection for the **Create receipt per** setting, you have access to fields and links of the customer address (create receipt per receipt recipient), the product use (create receipt per product use) or the service agreement (create receipt per service agreement).

In the Set field values tab, you can change product use fields or, when receipts are to be created per service agreement, service agreement fields. By default, this serves for setting the Last bill and Next billing fields.

dit re	eceipt creat	ion				>				
Recei	eceipt creation Item creation Default value receipt Set field values									
	Field Formula									
×	Last bill	\langle \la								
×	Next billing		$\sim$	AddI	nterval({@Receipt d	ate}, {Si f(j				
×			~			fQ				
×			~			f0e				
				A	dditional formula					
					OK	Cancel				

Depending on your selection for the **Create receipt per** setting, you have access to fields and links of the product use to bill (create receipt per receipt recipient or per product use) or of the service agreement (create receipt per service agreement).

When you are creating one receipt per service agreement, you can use the **AddInterval** date function once more for entering the next billing date based on the receipt date and the service agreement's **Bill per** field (e.g., one year after the receipt date).

Please note that the accepted intervals of the **AddInterval** function are limited to **Month**, **Quarter**, **Half year**, **Year** and associated translations.

The strings accepted in a client language are displayed in the formula editor in the hint for this function when running the client in that language.

By default, the **Bill per** field of service agreements comes with the **Month**, **Quarter**, and **Year** values and corresponding translations for all installed languages.

# Example configuration for billing per service agreement

The following configuration supports billing the period entered in a service agreement and setting the service agreement's **Next billing** field based on the receipt date entered by the user and the service agreement's billing period.

Item creation	Formula
Product	IF {#Product.Maintenance item.Record ID} <> "" THEN {#Product.Maintenance item.Record ID} ELSE {#Product.Product.Record ID}
Description	"Maintenance for " + {Product use.Product} + "\n" + ToString(Round({Product use.Maintenance rate in %},2)) + "% / " + {#Service agreement.Service agreement.Bill per} + " of " + ToCurrencyString({Product use.Price}) + " " + IF {Product use.Currency} = "EUR" THEN "€" ELSE {Product use.Currency}
Discount relative (%)	{Product use.Discount in %}
Price	{Product use.Maintenance price}
Purchase price	{#Product.Maintenance item.Purchase price}
Quantity	{Product use.Quantity}
Unit	IF {#Product.Maintenance item.Record ID} <> "" THEN {#Product.Maintenance item.Unit} ELSE {#Product.Product.Unit}

Default value receipt	Formula				
Additional billing text	"Licensee: " + {#Address.Customer.Company} + "\n\n"				
	+ "Dear Sir or Madam,\n\n" + "for the software service agreement " + {Service agreement.Service level} + " with the number " + {Service agreement.Number} +				
	", we would like to charge the following for the period from " + ToString({@Receipt date}) + " to " + ToString(AddInterval({@Receipt date}, {Service agreement.Bill per}) - 1) + ":"				
Paymend period (start)	{@Receipt date}				
Paymend period (end)	AddInterval({@Receipt date}, {Service agreement.Bill per}) - 1				
Subject	"Maintenance bill " + ToString({@Receipt date}) + "-" + ToString(AddInterval({@Receipt date}, {Service agreement.Bill per}) - 1) + " for " + {#Address.Customer.Company}				

Set field values	Formula
Last bill	{@Receipt date}
Next billing	AddInterval({@Receipt date}, {Service agreement.Bill per})

### Billing service agreements

As soon as a configuration for billing service agreements has been entered, every use who has been assigned an Easy Invoice license may bill service agreements or associated product uses via the context menu of the respective list.

With a configuration entered for product uses, the associated option will be available in the **Create receipt** sub-menu of the context menu for the product use and service agreement list.

When a service agreement is billed, all associated product uses will be considered.



Updating the service agreement before billing is not required.

# Selecting a date

Depending on your settings, the current date is entered or you will be prompted to enter the desired receipt date. When creating multiple receipts, the current or selected date will be entered for all receipts that are created. When a maximum of days before the start of the payment period has been configured, before which no receipts may be created, and the start of the payment period is farther in the future, a warning will be displayed. Billing will still be possible.



#### Result list

After billing, a window with multiple tabs will be displayed.

Depending on whether billing was successful, not all tabs will always be present.

- Unbilled service agreements
- Billed service agreements
- Unbilled product uses
- Product uses with invalid maintenance period (see note below)
- Billed product uses
- Receipts
- Print documents
- Receipts without a print document (the receipt was created without a print document or the creation of the print document failed due to lack of working memory. This can occur when processing a very large number of data records. Via the context menu for the receipt list, you may immediately create print documents for selected receipts.)

Under **Unbilled service agreements** and **Unbilled product uses**, the reason why the records couldn't be billed are displayed when selecting an item:

#### Note

Please note that the maintenance start and maintenance end of service agreements are never checked and the maintenance start and maintenance end of product uses are only checked if you start billing via the context menu for service agreements.

## 5.5 Product uses and service agreements in the Web Client

With the **Service agreements** and **Product uses** apps in the **Service and support** app group, you can see and edit existing service agreements and product uses as well as create new service agreements and product uses.

$\widehat{\square} \leftarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}$ Service agreeme +	? ₽
Q Service and support	Service agreements 🛛 🕸 🕂
Service agreement Product uses	_Q þearch Display all → Last opened
Ö İ	Service agreement NOMOSYS Inc.
Time records Team planning	Service agreement Logitron Ltd.
	Service agreement Devemit Ltd.
	Service agreement ACC Technics Ltd.
	Extended list
	Views
	Service agreements

- In the app start for the Service agreements or Product uses app, you have access to your service agreements or product uses as well as associated views.
- Click on the eye icon to create a new service agreement or product use list view.
- Click on a service agreement or product use to open the detail view. You can also edit or delete the service agreement or product use here.
- Click on the plus [+] icon to create a new service agreement or product use.
- Alternatively, you can create linked service agreements and product uses in the detail view of a contact or service agreement.
  - Service agreement for contact: [...] > Create > Service agreement
  - Product use for contact: Link with > Product use > [+]
  - Product use for service agreement: [+] above the Linked product uses list
- Please note that maintenance billing details will be displayed as read-only in the Web Client, and only if they have been calculated and saved in the Desktop Client.

You can't calculate or update maintenance billing data in the Web Client.

Click on the question mark at the top right to open the online help pages for more details.

# 6 Time records and reports

The following sections describe the features for time records and the associated reports:

- 6.1 Time records in the Desktop Client (page 81)
- 6.2 Time records in the Web Client (page 95)
- 6.3 Reports (page 98)

### 6.1 Time records in the Desktop Client

The following sections describe the features for time records:

- 6.1.1 Views and features for time records (page 81)
- 6.1.2 Creating time records (page 82)
- 6.1.3 The data record window for time records (page 83)
- 6.1.4 Time record calendar (page 86)
- 6.1.5 Billing time records (page 90)
- 6.1.6 Defining hourly rates for addresses and projects (page 92)
- 6.1.7 Time record details in projects and jobs (page 93)
- 6.1.8 User settings for time records (page 93)

#### 6.1.1 Views and features for time records

The following standard features are available for time records.

- Data record window with General, Tree, Change log and Dossier tabs
  - Type for categorization
  - Status for billing and approval processes
  - Primary links to address, project and job, displayed in the tree view and in analyses
  - General links to any other data records
- Creation in the New menu, the toolbar of data record windows and list views, the tree view and the time record calendar
- Global search in all time record fields such as Subject, Start and End. Configurable via Settings > Search; search toolbar abbreviation TR
- **Views** in the program navigator (list, dossier, calendar) and in the link navigator (link list, calendar)
- Time zone support (Start and End fields in client time zone with Timezone module)

## 6.1.2 Creating time records

You can create time records for addresses, appointments, documents, e-mails, holiday entries, jobs, opportunities, phone calls, projects and tasks.

Create time record: To create a time record for another data record, click on the Create time record button in the toolbar of its data record window or a list.

Start recording time: To start recording time in the background, proceed as follows.

- ✓ Open the desired data record in the data record window or mark it in a list view.
- Click on the little arrow next to the Create time record button to open the associated menu.
- ✓ Select the **Start recording time** option in the menu.

The data record window for a new time record opens.

The **To** and **Actual** fields are updated automatically.

A little green man next to the clock in the tray to the bottom right displays that time is being recorded.

**Exit:** By clicking this button next to the **To** field you stop the counter. You may now edit and save the time record. If you close the data record window without saving, the time record is dropped.

🖏 New Time record				- 0	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> e	earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>				
🛃 Save&Close 📑 🖶 🗙	20				?
൙ Action 👻 🎽 Short notes	🖲 Send 👻 🔎 Link with 👻 🔓 New I	ink 👻	Report		
General Tree Chan	ge log Dossier				
Subject	Display incorrect				
User	Peter Grayhound	6			
Туре	Support ~	/	Status		~
From	3:00:00 Pf		Start date	Tuesday, December 4, 2018	
То	5:00:00 Pf		End date	Tuesday, December 4, 2018	
Actual	0 PD 2 hrs 00 min		Charged	0 PD 2 hrs 00 min	
Billed internally by		9	Billed externally by		£
Billed internally on			Billed externally on		
Parent	<u>INOMOSYS</u> ℃ → 🗟 Support N	NOMOSY	′ <u>S</u> → ¬→ ) Display incorrect	•	- /
Internal text		r	External text		

#### 6.1.3 The data record window for time records

 The time record's Subject will initially be transferred from the associated data record. As for any data record, you may modify it as desired.

**User:** Each time record has exactly one participant. When you create a time record, you will be entered here. After saving, the participant can no longer be changed.

- The **Type** specifies the activity and determines internal and external hourly rates.
  - The time record type for tickets is selected in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General. By default, the Support type is used.
  - When you create a time record, the type of the associated data record is adopted if a time record type with the same exists.
  - The type may be modified as long as the time record has not been billed.
- You may use the **Status** to implement billing and approval processes.
- Start and End date: You may modify the start date as long as the time record has not yet been billed internally.

The end date is adjusted automatically. You can not change it manually.

In time records spanning two calendar days (e.g., from 6:00 PM to 2:00 AM), the end date is set to the following day.

- The **Actual** working time, which will be billed internally, is determined by the time record's duration that you enter via the date and the **From** and **To** fields.
  - Granularity and minimum: In the Management Console, you specify the time record granularity between 1 second and 1 hour. This is the precision of the From, To and Actual fields and therefore the smallest recordable period.
  - **Maximum:** The **Actual** working time to be recorded in a time record may amount to a maximum of 24 hours minus the granularity, spanning up to two calendar days.
  - Rounding: Time records below the specified granularity will automatically be corrected to the smallest admissible value. For example, with a granularity of 1 minute, entries of 1 second will always be set to 1 minute. Above the specified granularity, time records are rounded commercially (e.g., with a granularity of 1 minute, an entry of 0:01:30 will be rounded up to 2 minutes).
  - Start and end of new time records: Time records for appointments, phone calls and holiday entries will adopt the start and end of the associated data record.

When you record time in the calendar, the marked interval will be adopted.

Otherwise, the end of your previous time record will be entered as start and the current time will be entered as end. The first time record of the day will adopt the start of your working hours as start.

 Working hours: The working hours are read from the settings provided in the Management Console under Time record > Working hours.

For users for which no working hours have been entered there, the working hours stored in the user settings in the **Calendar** tab will be applied.

- Person days (PD): In the default setting, a person day spans 8 hours. You may change this in the Management Console under Time record > General.
- Overlap check: If overlaps with other time records are detected while trying to save a time record, a list of the overlapping time records is displayed. You can turn the overlap check off in the Management Console under Time record > General.
- Charged: In addition to the Actual working time, each time record has an externally billable Charged order value. This is initially zero and may differ from the actual hours or be set equal to it. The order value isn't limited to 24 hours.

Apply Actual as Charged: Here you transfer the Actual value to the Charged field.

- The **Parent** field displays as in other data records the time record's primary links. If desired, you may change the primary links using the associated features.
- Internal and external description: Record here additional notes for the time record. The external description is provided for work reports.

Copy external or internal description: Here you overwrite the associated notes field with the content of the respective other field.

 To destination, from destination and break for appointments: Each user may activate the recording of trips to and from the destination and of a break for appointments (see "6.1.8 User settings for time records" on page 93.

🖏 New Time record				— C	x c
<u>File Edit View Insert</u>	Search Tools ?				
🛃 Save&Close 📄 💼	× 🖶 🔊				?
le Action 👻 🌶 Short no	otes 🔟 Send 👻 🔎 Link with 👻	🔓 New link 👻 📄 Report			
General Tree Ch	nange log Dossier				
Subject	Installation for NOMOSYS				
User	Peter Grayhound	đ			
Туре	Service	✓ Status			~
To destination					
Туре	Travel time	✓ Status			$\sim$
From	7:00:00 AM	Actual	0 PD 1 hrs 00 min		
То	8:00:00 AM	Value	0 PD 1 hrs 00 min		
From	8:00:00 Al	Start date	Wednesday, December 5, 2018		Ŀ
То	5:00:00 Př	End date	Wednesday, December 5, 2018		
Actual	1 PD 0 hrs 00 min	Charged	1 PD 0 hrs 00 min		
🗹 Break	From 12:00:00	То	1:00:00 PM		3
From destination					
Туре	Travel time	✓ Status			$\sim$
From	5:00:00 PM	Actual	0 PD 1 hrs 00 min		
То	6:00:00 PM	Value	0 PD 1 hrs 00 min		
Parent	Momosys, Jack Bauer	Contract Con	DMOSYS		•
Internal text		🖉 External text			

Select the respective option in the data record window.

- To record the trip to the destination, enter the start or duration of the trip.
- To record the trip from the destination, enter the end or duration of the trip.
- If the trips to or from the destination should be billed externally, enter the billable period in the Charged field or apply the duration as order value by clicking on the Copy duration to charged time button.
- To record a break, enter the start and end of the break. In the default setting, the pause stretches from 12:30 to 13:30.

Trips to and from the destination will be created as separate time records when you save the record. If available, the **Travel time** type will be assigned automatically. If you specify a break, two time records will be created, one before and one after the break. If the total of **Charged** hours exceeds the **Actual** hours of the first record, the remainder will be booked on the second record. The **Internal text** and **External text** fields and all fields placed with Form Designer will be transferred to all time records created this way.

## 6.1.4 Time record calendar

You access the time record calendar via the program navigator, in the dossier and in the **Time records** tab of data record windows.

- Program navigator and dossier: The calendar is available in both the program navigator's view wizard and the dossier's view wizard as Calendar for time recording.
- Data record windows: The calendar is available in the Time records tab of the data record windows for addresses, projects, jobs, tasks, appointments, documents, phone calls and holiday entries.
  - Settings: In your user settings, under Modules and Solutions, you specify whether the Time records tab is displayed in data record windows. Here you also specify the view's presettings (see "6.1.8 User settings for time records" on page 93.)

Edit Installation	n for NOMOSYS							– 🗆 ×
File Edit View	Insert Search	Tools ?						
🔩 Save&Close F	🗏 🗙 🖨 🐔 1	1 🖡 🔊						0
🖏 👻 📄 Create d	locument 👻 ℈ A	Action 👻 🌛 Short no	otes 🔟 Send 👻 🔎 Li	ink with 👻 🔓 New li	nk 🕶 📄 Report			
General Detail	ls Recurrence	s Time records	Change log Doss	sier				
Installation for NOM	IOSYS (8:00:00 AM,	5:00:00 PM)						
🔳 Today 🗋 📕	🖿 🗙   🕑 🕻	🛣 🚔 🤣						
M	lon - 03.12.2018	Tue - 04.12.2018	Wed - 05.12.2018	Thu - 06.12.2018	Fri - 07.12.2018	Sat - 08.12.2018	Sun - 09.12.2018	Thursday, December 6, 2018
6:30								^ < 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 ▶
7 :00			Travel time					Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar ▶
, :30			Travel time					December 2018
8 :00 E-m :30 Adr	<b>nails</b> ministration	E-mails Administration	Installation for NOMOSYS					CW         Mon         Tue         Wed         Thu         Fri         Sat         Sun           48         26         27         28         29         30         1         2
о <sup>:00</sup> Теа	am meeting	Sync issue	(Appointment)	Creat	te new time record	in history		49 3 4 5 <b>6</b> 7 8 9 50 10 11 12 13 14 15 16
9 :30 Adr (Ap	ministration opointment)	Support (Job)		Creat	te new time record for	resource plan		51 17 18 19 20 21 22 23
10 .00		Form 12 E4 won't		Oper	n time record			- 01 31 1 2 3 4 5 6
:30 Fre	equent crashes er printing	Support (Job)		Delet	e time record			Statistics
11	pport (Job)			Char	ige link		>	Working hours: 40:00:00
:00				Oper	n corresponding record	d		December 2018 total: 152:00:00
12 :30				Crea	te new time record for	the corresponding rea	cord	Recorded time: 26:00:00 December 2018 total: 26:00:00
13 <sup>:00</sup> "Re	etro" form	Print command	Installation for					Time records: 14
	pport (Job) –	Support (Job)	Service					Unlinked time records: 2
14			(Appointment)					User selection:
:00 ====	42.54	D'autoria and						Peter Grayhound V
15	rm 12 E4 won t act	Support (Job)				Legend		
3 C :00 Sup	pport (Job)							Linked time record
10 <sub>:30</sub>								Unlinked time record
17 :00			Travel time					I me record for this record
:30			Travel time					-
18:00								~

• Free time and working hours: Free time and working hours are displayed with the same colors as in the calendar view for appointments, holidays, jobs and phone calls.

You may change the colors in the Settings under Calendar > Colors.

Other color settings of the default calendar won't be used.

If available, the current working hours as entered in the Management Console under **Time record > Working hours** are used. For users having no working hours set there, the working hours stored in the **Settings** in the **Calendar** tab are displayed.

- Colors
  - Yellow: linked time record
  - Blue: unlinked time record
  - **Red:** time record for current data record (in data record windows)

#### Note

Please note that a time record's associated data record can not be changed at a later time if it stands below the job level. A time record created for an appointment, for example, stays associated with that appointment, even if the time record's primary links change or a general link between the time record and another data record is created.

Time records created for an address, a project or a job, as well as time records which were not created for another data record, may be assigned to another address, project or job by changing their primary links.

- Select start date: At the top right, you select the view's start date.
- **Statistics:** The statistics display information about your working hours and your time records in the displayed period and in the current month.
  - Working hours: your working hours in the displayed period. Below it, your total working hours in the selected month are given.
  - **Recorded time:** the total duration of your time records in the displayed period. Below it, the total duration of your time records in the current month is given.
  - **Time records:** the number of your time records displayed in the calendar. Below it, the number of displayed time records without an associated data record is given.
- Select user: Here you access other users' calendars.
  - **Close shared calendar view:** Here you reset the view to display your own time records again.

#### Creating and editing time records

The following sections describe the features for creating and editing time records in the time record calendar.

Create new time record: Here you create a time record in the marked interval. Alternatively, you create a time record in the marked interval by right-clicking and selecting the **Create new time record** option in the calendar's context menu.

 Create new time record from history: Select this from the context menu to create a new time record for one of the data records for which you have last recorded time. Only the primary links and the type of the original time record are adopted. • **Fill gaps:** If you mark a period in which time records and gaps alternate and create a time record from history, each gap in the marked period will be replaced by a corresponding time record.

This also applies when overlap checks are disabled for time records.

- Create new time record for the corresponding record: Open a time record's context menu and select the Create new time record for the corresponding record option to create a time record for the same data record.
- Change link: You may relink time records via the history. To do this, open the context menu by right-clicking on the time record whose link you wish to change. Select the desired option in the Change link sub-menu.
- Open corresponding record: Here you open the data record for which the time record was created.
- Open time record: Here you open the selected time record. Alternatively, you open time records by double-clicking on them or via the context menu.
- Delete time record: Here you delete the selected time record. Alternatively, you delete time records via the context menu. Before the time record is deleted you are asked for confirmation.
- Record appointments: Here you record time for all appointments in the displayed period. If there is a time record type of the same name, the type of each appointment is adopted as the type of the associated time record.
- **C** Record phone calls: Here you record time for all appointments in the displayed period. If there is a time record type of the same name, the type of each phone call is adopted as the type of the associated time record.
- **Example 7** Record holiday: Here you record time for holiday entries in the displayed period. In the process, a separate time record is created for each day off, spanning from start to end of the participant's working hours.

This operation will be available even if part of the holiday entry to record is farther in the future then time records may be created (see "Time window for the creation and editing of time records" on page 187) if time is to be recorded for a current holiday or a holiday starting on the next work day in the time record calendar.

#### Note

In the Management Console, under **Time record > Calendar**, you specify which appointment phone call and holiday types may be recorded here (see "11.4.3 Calendar" on page 190).

If you wish to group holiday records by projects in reports, you may also select projects there for which leaves should be recorded. If a participant of such a project records his leave by clicking **Record holiday** in the calendar, the holiday records will be automatically assigned to the project.

- Print: Here you print the displayed calendar page. Please note that the Print option in the File menu is not supported here. Use the Print button in the view's toolbar.
- Sefresh view: Here you apply changes made to time records while the view was open.
- Change points of time: move time records or change the duration via drag-and-drop.
  - Move time record
    - Click on the time record's start and hold the mouse button.
    - Holding the mouse button, move the pointer to the desired start time.
  - Change duration
    - ✓ Click on the time record's end and hold the mouse button.
    - ✓ Holding the mouse button, set the desired duration by moving the mouse.

#### Creating a time record calendar in the program navigator

You insert the view in your program navigator in the following way.

- Right-click on the desired place to call up the context menu.
- ✓ Select **Create new view**. The view wizard opens.
- ✓ Select Calendar for time recording. Then click Next.
- ✓ Enter the desired name for the view. Then click **Next**.
- ✓ Start date
  - **Today:** In the default setting, the view displays the current date.
  - **Previous week:** With this option, the previous week will be displayed.
  - This date: With the Use current month or Use current year options, the current month or year is substituted.
- Display mode: Select here whether the day or week display should be used and specify the desired detail level (hours, half hours, quarter hours or 5 minutes).
- User: Select here the user whose time records should be displayed. Resources are also available for selection.
- ✓ Complete the creation by clicking **Finish**.

### 6.1.5 Billing time records

In a time record's data record window and in the list's context menu, you may bill time records internally or externally or undo billing.

- Internal billing: When a time record is internally billed, the following information is written in the associated time record fields.
  - Internally billed by: user
  - Internally billed on: date and time
  - Internal hourly rate: the current internal hourly rate for the user and type
  - Actual costs: internal hourly rate times Actual; values are stored with up to 4 decimals and displayed in lists and report views rounded to 2 decimals.

In internally billed time records and without reading rights for the **Billed internally by/ on** fields, the **Type**, **From**, **To**, **Actual** and **Start** fields may no longer be edited.

- **External billing:** When a time record is externally billed, the information is written in the associated time record fields.
  - Externally billed by: user
  - Exernally billed on: date and time
  - External hourly rate: the current external hourly rate for the user and type
  - Actual turnover: the external hourly rate times Charged; values are stored with up to 4 decimals and displayed in lists and report views rounded to 2 decimals.

In externally billed time records and without reading rights for the **Billed externally by/on** fields, the **Type** and **Charged** fields may no longer be edited

Billing in the time record list: In the context menu for the time record list, you may access the Bill sub-menu.

The **Apply Actual as Charged** and **Set Charged to Null** options are only available with writing permissions for the **Charged** field. Additionally, reading permissions for the **Actual** field are required for the **Apply Actual as Charged** option.

The options **Bill externally** and **Reset the bill externally option** are only available with writing permissions for the **Externally billed on** and **Externally billed by** fields.

The options **Bill internally** and **Reset the bill internally option** are only available with writing permissions for the **Internally billed on** and **Internally billed by** fields.

You also need reading permissions for all time record fields in order to bill time records.

Apply Actual as Charged: Here you overwrite the Charged field with the Actual value in all selected time records.

Set Charged to Null: Here you reset the Charged field in all selected time records.

**E** Bill internally: Here you internally bill all selected time records.

- **Reset the bill internally option:** Here you cancel internal billing.
- Bill externally: Here you externally bill all selected time records.
- Reset the bill externally option: Here you cancel external billing.
- Billing in the data record window: In the lower third of the data record window for a time record, you can see the Internally billed by, Internally billed on, Externally billed by and Externally billed on fields.
  - Bill internally: Here you bill the time record internally or cancel internal billing. The button is only available with writing rights for the Internally billed on and Internally billed by fields. You also need reading rights for all time record fields in order to bill time records.
  - Bill externally: Here you bill the time record externally or cancel external billing. The button is only available with writing rights for the Externally billed on and Externally billed by fields. You also need reading rights for all time record fields in order to bill time records.
- Billing in the report view: In the Billing tab of a report view's properties, you can turn on the billing features in the view:
  - Display button to internally bill time records
  - Display button to externally bill time records

You can access the billing features via the **Billing** menu in the report view's toolbar.

First select the desired time records in the view. The select the desired billing action in the **Billing** menu. This works like in the time rcord list. The same restrictions also apply.

 Specify external billing date: With the Bill externally setting under Time records > General in the Management Console, you determine whether the external billing date may be modified. In this case, you can edit the Externally billed on field in the data record window and will be prompted to enter the billing date when billing time records externally via the time record list or report view.

# 6.1.6 Defining hourly rates for addresses and projects

In the toolbars of the data record windows for each addresses and projects, the **Hourly rates** button is available. Here you define hourly rates for a customer and thereby for all associated projects or hourly rates for a project. You may specify different hourly rates for a company and associated contact persons.

You may enter global hourly rates in the **Time record** area of the Management Console under **Hourly rates**. There, you also specify whether individual internal hourly rates may be entered for addresses and projects. By default, only individual external hourly rates may be entered for addresses and projects (see "11.4.4 Hourly rates" on page 191).

Entering hourly rates for addresses and and projects requires the **Time record: hourly rates** right. You can assign it in the Management Console under **User Management** in the **Other rights** tab of the user's **Properties** dialog.

Hourly rates for an address take precedence over global hourly rates.

Hourly rates for a project take precedence over hourly rates for an address.

🎯 Edit hourly ra	tes												-	_		×
6																
External hourly rates (turnovers)																
	All	Acquisition	Administration	Conception	Consulting	Documentation	Holiday	Marketing	Programming	Project management	Service	Support	Training	Travel t	ime	
All									200							
Antonio Matarazzo		0	0	180	180	180	0	0	200	150	130	140	160	50		
Michael Green		0	0	180	180	180	0	0	200	150	130	140	160	50		
Peter Grayhound		0	0	180	180	180	0	0	200	150	130	140	160	50		
Robert Glade		0	0	180	180	180	0	0	200	150	130	140	160	50		
													ОК		Car	ncel

**Hourly rates:** Here you open the hourly rates view.

- Transfer hourly rates: When internal hourly rates for addresses and projects have been activated in the Management Console, you may overwrite any values entered in the current view that are displayed in black with the respective values from the other view, Internal or External. This will also empty fields if the respective fields in the other view are empty. You may apply this change with OK or revert it with Cancel.
- Select participants: Here you select the users and resources you wish to enter hourly rates for. Users and resources for which hourly rates have already been entered for the current address or project will be selected automatically. When entering hourly rates for a project, any other project participants will also be seelected.

When you remove a participant with hourly rates entered in the current view (address or project) that are displayed in black, these will be deleted after confirmation.

• **Global hourly rates** will be displayed in red. They are still valid for all users and types for which you have not specified different hourly rates.

- Hourly rates for the address will be displayed in blue when entering hourly rates for a project. They are valid in all projects for the address for all users and types for which you have not specified different hourly rates.
- Entering hourly rates: See page 192 for details.
- **OK:** Here you apply any changes you have made to the database.
  - Transferring changes made to the company to contact persons: If you change the hourly rates for a company, you will be asked whether the changes should also be transferred to the associated contact persons. In this case, the previous hourly rates for the contact persons will be overwritten.
- **Cancel:** Here you revert any changes.

## 6.1.7 Time record details in projects and jobs

In the **Details** tab of the data record window for projects, you may lock the project for time recording (see "0 The **Board view** supports the following interactions.

- Open radial menu by right-clicking on a card.
- Change field value (group) by dragging a card to another column and dropping it.
- Create data records by clicking on the plus button.

Project details" on page 114).

 Lock for time recording: When this option is set in a project, time records can no longer be created for that project. The Actual field in existing time records assigned to locked projects can no longer be modified.

#### Note

The flexible job hierachy isn't considered here.

Sub-tasks of locked tasks won't be locked automatically as well.

#### 6.1.8 User settings for time records

In your **Settings**, you configure the time record calendar in data record windows, time records for appointments and time records for tickets. These settings only affect you.

To open your **Settings**, select the associated option from the **Tools** menu in either of the main or **Search** window or in any data record window. Then switch to the embedded **Time records** tab of the **Modules and Solutions** tab to edit time record settings.

Telepl	nony		Ticket	action		Working enviro	onment	
ddresses Caler	ndar Docume	ents E-mail	General	Lists	Mobile sync	Modules and Solutions	Rules	Searc
tings for								
ne records								
me record calendar i	n data record wind	lows						
Chande allows								
				Show	'Time records' ta	b in data record windows		
Previous week								
This date:	) This date: Friday, December 7, 2018			✓ For ap	pointments, sho	w time to and from destir	nation	
O This dutc.	Use currer	nt month		🗹 Open	time record for t	ickets		
	Use currer	nt year						
Disalaurada								
Display mode	0.0	Quitat						
Planning period	ODay	Week	_					
Level of detail	Half an hou	r	$\sim$					
Users								
Logged-on use	er							
◯ This user	ADMINISTR/	ATOR	$\sim$					

### Time record calendar in data record windows

- **Start date:** Here you specify the start date of the time record calendar in the **Time records** tab of data record windows and in the dossier.
- Display mode: Select here whether the day or week display should be used and specify the desired detail level (hours, half hours, quarter hours or 5 minutes).
- User: Select here the user or resource whose time records should be displayed.
- Show 'Time records' tab in data record windows: Display the Time records tab for addresses, projects, jobs, tasks, appointments, documents, phone calls and holidays.
- For appointments, show time to and from destination: Here you specify whether panels for recording the time to and from your destination and a break will be displayed when you record time for appointments.
- Open time record for tickets: In the default setting, time records created for tickets using the associated button in the top right of the ticket's data record window are created automatically, not requiring any additional user action. Select this option to open time records you create for tickets this way in their data record window instead.

## 6.2 Time records in the Web Client

In the Web Client, you may record time via the following apps under Service and support.

- 6.2.1 Time record calendar (page 95)
- 6.2.2 Time records (page 97)

## 6.2.1 Time record calendar

With the **Time record calendar** app in the **Service and support** app group, you can see and edit time records for the current day or week.

$\widehat{\square} \leftarrow$	Service agreeme +		? ⊒
Q	Service and support	Service agreements	@ +
Service agreement	Product uses	<u>Q</u> search Di Last opened	isplay all >
Time records	Team planning	Service agreement NOMOSYS Inc. Platinum Service agreement Logitron Ltd. Silver	>
		Gold Service agreement Devemit Ltd.	>
		Service agreement ACC Technics Ltd. Gold	>

✓ Click on the associated tile to open the app.

ŵ	← 🐻 Time reco	rd cal					?	$\square$
	Day W	eek Today	<b>↓</b>	Time record calendar		Jun 2022 50:30 (176:00 CW 23 26:30 (40:00	) Quick entry	+
2022				Today				
Jun	Mon 06/06	Tue 06/07	Wed 06/08	Thursday, 06/09	Fri 06/10	Sat 06/11	Sun 06/12	
06:00 AM								
07:00 AM			Travel time					
08:00 AM	08:00 AM - 09:00 AM	08:00 AM - 09:00 AM	08:00 AM - 12:00 PM	08:00 AM - 09:00 AM				
	E-Mails	E-Mails	Installation NOMOSYS Inc.		New time record			
08 59 AM	09:00 AM - 10:00 AM	09:00 AM - 10:30 AM			-			
	Sync issue	ERP interface stopped running			Time record from histo	ory		
10:00 AM	10:00 AM - 11:00 AM				Software delevo	pment for NOMOSYS, NOM	IOSYS Inc	
	Team meeting	10:30 AM - 12:00 PM			Service, 3.3 Installat	ion		
11:00 AM	11:00 AM - 12:00 PM	No access to CP3.1 server			Support SecuriT	, SecuriT		
	Sync issue				Support System of			
12:00 PM					Support NOMO Support, No access	to products		
						3		
01:00 PM	01:00 PM - 02:30 PM	01:00 PM - 02:00 PM	01:00 PM - 05:00 PM		01:00 PM - 02:00 PM			
	Customer form not responding	Webshop interface not worki	Installation NOMOSYS Inc.		leam meeting			
02:00 PM		02:00 PM - 04:00 PM						
	02:30 PM - 03:30 PM	ino access to products						
03:00 PM	rrequent clashes after printing							
04:00 014	ERP interface stopped running	04.00 DM 05:00 DM						
04.00 PW		System crashed						I
05:00 PM			05-00 PM - 06-00 PM					
			Travel time					
06:00 PM								
<	CW 22 05/30 - 06/05	CW 23 06/06 - 06/12	CW 24 06/13 - 06/19 CV	V 25 06/20 - 06/26 CW 26 06/27 - 07/03 CW	27 07/04 - 07/10 CW 2	8 07/11 - 07/17 CW 29 0	7/18 - 07/24	cw з >

• The calendar can display time records, appointments, holiday entries and phone calls.

Optionally, public holidays are also displayed.

To select the data records to display and whether public holidays are displayed, click on the **Settings** button with the slider icon.

- The statistic, like in the Desktop Client, displays your recorded time and working hours in the displayed period and in the current month.
- Select a period or click a data record to create a time record.
  - When selecting a period, a history is available.
  - When clicking on on an out of office appointment, you can enter travel times to and from the destination and a break.
- The Quick entry record past appointments, holiday entries and phone calls in the displayed period, including data records that are not currently displayed.

Click on the question mark at the top right to open the online help pages for more details.

## 6.2.2 Time records

With the **Time records** app in the **Service and support** app group, you can see and edit existing time records as well as create new time records.

	? ⊒
Q Service and support	Time records 🛛 🙊 🕂
Service agreement Product uses	Q ¦search Display all →
Time records Team planning	System crashes     >       Peter Grayhound     >       Address not imported correctly     >
	Image: Weiter Grayhound           Image: Weiter Grayhound           Image: Weiter Grayhound
	Image: Strength of the strengt of the strength of the strength of the strength of the s
	Display incorrect Peter Grayhound >
	Error XI0Pe 00012675 Peter Grayhound
	Image: Program not responding Peter Grayhound         >
	Extended list

- In the **Time records** app start, you have access to your time records and associated views.
- Click on the eye icon to create a new time record list view.
- Click on a time record to open its detail view. You can also edit or delete it here.
- Click on the plus [+] icon to create a new time record.
- Additionally, you can create time records for most other data records.

To do this, in the associated detail view, open the action menu with the three dots and select **Create** > **Record time**.

Alternatively, you can record time via the radial menu for a data record in a list.

Click on the question mark at the top right to open the online help pages for more details.

### 6.3 Reports

With Helpdesk, you jave access to the **Time records** report for addresses, projects and jobs. Additionally, the Crystal Reports design **Work report** is available.

- 6.3.1 Time record report for addresses (page 98)
- 6.3.2 Time record report for projects (page 100)
- 6.3.3 Time record report for jobs (page 101)
- 6.3.4 Working with reports (page 102)
- 6.3.5 Editing reports (page 102)

The reports will be added to the favorites of each user who is licensed for the Helpdesk module and has been granted the other right **Time record: analysis**. This way, they will be available in the associated menus for addresses, projects and jobs respectively, which you open by clicking on the little black arrow on the right side of the **Report...** button.

🔎 Search: Jobs							-		×
File Edit View Tools ?									
<	Search in: Jobs								
Search Advanced search Link search	Subject  V Filter for								
Search area     Image: Search area     Image: Search area	ö - 👸	🖏 + 📸 Participants 🖺 Create document + 👁 Action + 🍃 Short notes 🗐 Send + 💂 Link with + 🍃 New link + 📑 Report +							Map
Search pattern	To group th	To group the column headers, drag them to this area.							
Subject 🗸	Number   S	ubject	Туре	Status	Start 🔺	End		Du	ration
Search item(s)	24 F	orm 12 E4 won't react	Ticket	In process by support	12/3/2018 9:33 AM	12/3/2018 2:53 PM	5 hrs,	19 mins,	35 secs
form 12 e4 v									
© Search									
Search options Search all data records which can be accessed									
Display result as a dossier Calculate number of results									

#### Note

You assign the required **Time record: analysis** right to users and groups in the **User Management** area of the Management Console, in the **Other rights** tab of the user's or group's **Properties**.

#### 6.3.1 Time record report for addresses

The **Time records** report for an address displays all time records stored with the address as well as the associated projects and jobs.

#### Note

The address report's default link mode is **Overall dossier**. In addition to directly linked records, all records linked to the same company or one of its contacts will also be displayed. You may change this setting (see "6.3.5 Editing reports" on page 102).

🍘 Time records									– 🗆 ×
🗐 ァ 👁 View 🔹	🗐 Configuration 🛄 List 📀	🗊 Export 👻 📀 Report 🧕	🔓 Billing 👻 🚔						
Filter									
🖏 Actu 🖂 🖏 Charg	정 Actual c 것 Actual tur	🐨 🖏 Start (Years) 🔺 🔻	🖏 Start (Months) 🔺	• 💌					
		× 2018				Total 2018			
		December							
🗃 ( 🔺 💌 🛅 S 🔺 💌	💿 S 🗕 🔄 🖏 L 🖉 🕲 T 🔺	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover (Sum)
<ul> <li>NOMOSYS</li> </ul>		2 PD, 4 HR, 45 mins	2 PD, 5 HR, 45 mins	s 1,075.00	2,895.00	2 PD, 4 HR, 45 mins	2 PD, 5 HR, 45 mins	1,075.00	2,895.00
<ul> <li>Software develo</li> </ul>	pment for NOMOSYS	1 PD, 5 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 6 HR, 00 mins	s 680.00	1,810.00	1 PD, 5 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 6 HR, 00 mins	680.00	1,810.00
Installation		1 PD, 2 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	5 500.00	1,270.00	1 PD, 2 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	500.00	1,270.00
> Project mar	nagement	3 HR, 00 mins	3 HR, 00 mins	s 180.00	540.00	3 HR, 00 mins	3 HR, 00 mins	180.00	540.00
<ul> <li>Support NOMO</li> </ul>	SYS	7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	s 395.00	1,085.00	7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	395.00	1,085.00
> Display inco	prrect	2 HR, 00 mins	2 HR, 00 mins	s 100.00	280.00	2 HR, 00 mins	2 HR, 00 mins	100.00	280.00
Form 12 E4	won't react	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	\$ 250.00	700.00	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00	700.00
> Product acc	ess not available	0 HR, 45 mins	0 HR, 45 mins	5 45.00	105.00	0 HR, 45 mins	0 HR, 45 mins	45.00	105.00
Addresses Time record	ds Primary address Primary pro	ject Primary job Report o	lata						
Subject - Filter for.									
Our Da		Bar in Ba							
🥩 Action 👻 🎽 Sho	rt notes 🔟 Send 👻 🛵 Link with	h ▼ 📺 New link ▼ 🔟 Rep	oort 🥂 Map						
To group the column	headers, drag them to this area.								
User	Subject	Type S	itart 🔻	End	Act	ual Acti	ual costs	Charged	Actual turnover
Marcus Clayden	Product access not available	Support 1	2/11/2018 8:03:00 AM	12/11/2018 8:48:00 A	M 0 HR, 45 n	nins	0 HF	R, 45 mins	
Michael Grün	Nomosys Jour Fixe	Conception 1	2/6/2018 10:01:52 AM	12/6/2018 11:31:52 A	M 1 HR, 30 n	nins	1 HF	30 mins	
Robert Glaser	Nomosys Jour Fixe	Conception 1	2/6/2018 10:01:52 AM	12/6/2018 11:31:52 A	M 1 HR, 30 n	nins	1 HF	ζ, 30 mins	
Peter Grayhound	Travel time	Travel time 1	2/5/2018 5:00:00 PM	12/5/2018 6:00:00 PM	/ 1 HR, 00 n	nins	1 HF	3, 00 mins	
Peter Grayhound	Installation for NOMOSYS	Service 1	2/5/2018 1:00:00 PM	12/5/2018 5:00:00 PM	4 HR.00 n	nins	5 HF	2,00 mins	
								-	

- Other rights: Time record: analysis
- Display fields: Actual, Charged, Actual costs, Actual turnover
- Grouping row: Address, Project, Job, User, Type
- **Grouping column:** Start (Years), Start (Months)
- Crystal Reports design: Work report

🌐 Time records					-		×			
📄 🖛   👁 View 🔹 🗐 Configuration 💷 List 🛷   豒 Expo	ort 👻 💽 Report 🔃 Billing 👻 🚔									
≝ ∰ @ 🖺 🕜 🚼 H 🕢 🕨 H 1	/14 🏤 🔍 -				SAP CR	/STAL RE	PORTS®			
Main Report							1			
							^			
🖬 S	Software development for NOMOSYS									
	Ustomor NOMOSVS									
	Now0313									
Person responsible Peter Grayhound										
( cha	rea rates of project members	Per day	Bashaus							
Ant	enio Matarazzo	Per day	Per nour							
Anto	onio Matarazzo	1 600 00	200.00							
PIOL	granning	1,000.00	200.00							
Dr.	Michael Green									
Con	ception	1,600.00	200.00							
Proj	ect management	1,200.00	150.00							
Pete	er Grayhound									
Con	ception	1,200.00	150.00							
Prog	gramming	1,600.00	200.00							
Proje	ect management	1,600.00	200.00							
Serv	vice	1,200.00	150.00							
Trav	vel time	400.00	50.00				~			
Current Page No.: 1	Total Page No.: 14	Zo	om Factor: 100%							

# 6.3.2 Time record report for projects

The **Time records** report for a project displays all time records stored with the project as well as the associated jobs.

🍪 Time records								— C	X
📄 ァ 🔍 👁 View 👻 頂 Configuration 🚺	🗆 List 🛷 🛛 🗊	Export 👻 擾 Rep	oort 🕵 Billing 👻 层	à.					
Filter									
[경 ▲] 영 C 및 경 Act 및 경 Actu 및	🖏 Start (Years)	🔺 💌 🖏 Start (	(Months) 🔺 💌						
	v 2018				Total 2018				
December									
	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover	(Sum)
✓ NOMOSYS	7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	395.00	1,085.00	7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	395.00		1,085.00
<ul> <li>Support NOMOSYS</li> </ul>	7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	395.00	1,085.00	7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	395.00		1,085.00
<ul> <li>Display incorrect</li> </ul>	2 HR, 00 mins	2 HR, 00 mins	100.00	280.00	2 HR, 00 mins	2 HR, 00 mins	100.00		280.00
> Form 12 E4 won't react	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00	/00.00	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00		/00.00
Product access not available	0 HK, 45 mins	0 HK, 45 mins	45.00	105.00	0 HR, 45 mins	0 HR, 45 mins	45.00		105.00
Designed Time records Drivery address	D.:	Deine er die ber							
Projects Time records Primary address	Primary project	Primary Job Kep	ort data						
Subject - Filter for									
👄 Action 👻 🏹 Short notes 🔟 Send 👻	Link with 🝷	🔓 New link 🝷	🗎 Report 🗾 Mar	5					
	613								
To group the column headers, drag them t	to this area.								
User Subject	·	Туре	Start 🔻	End		Actual	Actual co	Charged	Actual t
Marcus Clayden Product access no	t available	Support	12/11/2018 8:03	3:00 AM 12/11/2018 8:44	8:00 AM	0 HR, 45 mins		0 HR, 45 mins	
Peter Grayhound Display incorrect	:	Support	12/4/2018 3:00:	00 PM 12/4/2018 5:00:	00 PM	2 HR, 00 mins		2 HR, 00 mins	
Peter Grayhound Form 12 E4 won't	react	Support	12/4/2018 10:00	0:00 AM 12/4/2018 12:00	0:00 PM	2 HR, 00 mins		2 HR, 00 mins	
Peter Grayhound Form 12 E4 won't r	react	Support	12/3/2018 3:00:	00 PM 12/3/2018 5:00:	:00 PM	2 HR, 00 mins		2 HR, 00 mins	
Antonio Matarazzo Form 12 E4 won't r	react	Support	12/3/2018 11:45	5:00 AM 12/3/2018 12:4	5:00 PM	1 HR, 00 mins		1 HR, 00 mins	

- Other rights: Time record: analysis
- Display fields: Actual, Charged, Actual costs, Actual turnover
- Grouping row: Address, Project, Job, User, Type
- Grouping column: Start (Years), Start (Months)
- Crystal Reports design: Work report

👙 Time records							-		×			
📄 🖛 🛛 👁 View 🔹 🗊 Configuration 💷 List 🛷 🗍 豒 B	xport 👻 👰 Report 🛍 Billing	- 🖨										
📇 🎒 🎘 🖺 🕜 📴   н. ч. 🕨 н.   1	/6 🏦 🔍 -						SAP CRY	STAL RE	PORTS®			
Main Report												
									^			
	Support NOMOSY	s										
	Customer N	IOMOSYS										
	Person responsible											
c	Charge rates of project members Per day Per hour											
A	ntonio Matarazzo											
s	upport			1,120.00	140.00							
N	Aarkus Klass											
s	upport			1,120.00	140.00							
р	eter Grayhound											
s	upport			1,120.00	140.00							
R	obert Glade											
s	upport			1,120.00	140.00							
c	Overview about costs	1 PD = 8.00 hrs	days	Daily rate	Sum							
	Support	1 PD, 0 hrs, 15 min	1.03	1,120.00	1,155.00							
	Total				1,155.00							
									~			
Current Page No.: 1	Total Page N	lo.: 6		Zoo	m Factor: 100%							

# 6.3.3 Time record report for jobs

The **Time records** report for a job displays all associated time records.

🍪 Time records									- 0	ı ×		
🗐 ァ 👁 View 🗸	Configuration	🛾 List 📀 📑	Export 👻 擾 Re	port 🗟 Billing 👻 🚝	<u>.</u>							
<b>5</b> 10												
rite?												
🖏 / 🖳 🖏 C 🖳 🤯 Actu 🗐 🤯 Start (Years) 🔺 🔤 छ Start (Months) 🔺 🖳												
		v 2018				Total 2018						
December												
	- 5 - 5 -	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover	(Sum)		
<ul> <li>NOMOSYS</li> </ul>		5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00	700.00	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00	0	700.00		
<ul> <li>Support NOMO</li> </ul>	SYS	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00	700.00	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00		700.00		
Form 12 E4	Form 12 E4 won't react         5 HR, 00 mins         5 HR, 00 mins         250.00         700.00         5 HR, 00 mins         5 HR, 00 mins         250.00         700.00											
Jobs Time records	Primary address P	rimary project F	rimary job Repo	ort data								
Subject - Filter for.												
			-									
le Action 👻 🌛 Sho	ort notes 🔟 Send 👻	🔏 Link with 👻	🔓 New link 👻	📄 Report 🛃 Maj	р							
To group the column	headers, drag them t	o this area.										
User	User   Subject   Type   Start 🔻   End   Actual   Actual   Actual     Charged   Actual t											
Peter Grayhound	Form 12 E4 won't r	eact	Support	12/4/2018 10:00	0:00 AM 12/4/2018 12:0	0:00 PM	2 HR, 00 mins		2 HR, 00 mins			
Peter Grayhound	Form 12 E4 won't r	eact	Support	12/3/2018 3:00:	00 PM 12/3/2018 5:00	00 PM	2 HR, 00 mins		2 HR, 00 mins			
Antonio Matarazzo	Form 12 E4 won't r	eact	Support	12/3/2018 11:45	5:00 AM 12/3/2018 12:4	5:00 PM	1 HR, 00 mins		1 HR, 00 mins			

- Other rights: Time record: analysis
- Display fields: Actual, Charged, Actual costs, Actual turnover
- Grouping row: Address, Project, Job, User, Type
- Grouping column: Start (Years), Start (Months)
- Crystal Reports design: Work report

🎯 Time records						-		×
📄 🖛 🛛 👁 View 👻 🗐 Configuration 💷 List 🛷 🗌	🗊 Export 👻 👰 Report 🔃 Billing 👻	2						
▲ 過 ② ■   ⑦ =   H → ▶ H   1 Main Report	/6 🏦 🔍 🗸					SAP CR	YSTAL RE	PORTS®
								^
	Support NOMOSYS							
	Customer NO	MOSYS						
	Person responsible							
	Charge rates of project membe	ers		Per day	Per hour			
	Antonio Matarazzo							
	Support			1,120.00	140.00			
	Peter Grayhound							
	Support			1,120.00	140.00			
	Overview about costs	1 PD = 8.00 hrs	days	Daily rate	Sum			
	Support	5 hrs, 00 min	0.62	1,120.00	700.00			
	Total				700.00			
								~
Current Page No.: 1	Total Page No.	: 6		Zoon	n Factor: 100%			

### 6.3.4 Working with reports

In the table view, you may access nearly all features for processing your data that are available with a Manager license for the Report module, such as:

- Filter via the arrow down button on the associated field
- Add and remove display values; change the calculation function (Sum, Minimum, Maximum, Average) via the associated context menu
- Add and remove grouping fields; regroup via drag-and-drop of fields
- Change the sort order via the context menu for a grouping field (by group name or by display value)
- Display as bar, area, pie or line diagram
- Prepare for billing, billing and vendor credit notes (see Project user manual, "7.8 Billing in reports (Desktop Client only)").
- Export to Microsoft Excel or Microsoft Access, as an xml or html file
- Create a report with Crystal Reports

۰	Time records									– 🗆 X
-	🕗 View 🔹	🗊 Configuration 🛄 List 🛷	🇊 Export 👻 👰 Report 💈	🖁 Billing 👻 🚔						
Filter	r									
۵,	Actu 🔄 🖏 Charg	🔄 🖏 Actual c 🔄 🖏 Actual tu	🐨 🖏 Start (Years) 🔺 🔻	🖏 Start (Months) 🔺	•					
			✓ 2018				Total 2018			
			December							
<b>1</b>	( 🔺 💌 🖺 S 🔺 💌	💿 S 🗕 💌 🖏 I 🔺 💌 🖏 T 🔺	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover (Sum)	Actual (Sum)	Charged (Sum)	Actual costs (Sum)	Actual turnover (Sum)
~ I	NOMOSYS		2 PD, 4 HR, 45 mins	2 PD, 5 HR, 45 mins	; 1,075.00	2,895.00	2 PD, 4 HR, 45 mins	2 PD, 5 HR, 45 mins	1,075.00	2,895.00
	<ul> <li>Software develo</li> </ul>	pment for NOMOSYS	1 PD, 5 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 6 HR, 00 mins	680.00	1,810.00	1 PD, 5 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 6 HR, 00 mins	680.00	1,810.00
	> Installation		1 PD, 2 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	500.00	1,270.00	1 PD, 2 HR, 00 mins	1 PD, 3 HR, 00 mins	500.00	1,270.00
	> Project mar	nagement	3 HR, 00 mins	3 HR, 00 mins	: 180.00	540.00	3 HR, 00 mins	3 HR, 00 mins	180.00	540.00
	Support NOMOSYS		7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	; 395.00	1,085.00	7 HR, 45 mins	7 HR, 45 mins	395.00	1,085.00
	> Display inco	orrect	2 HR, 00 mins	2 HR, 00 mins	: 100.00	280.00	2 HR, 00 mins	2 HR, 00 mins	100.00	280.00
	Form 12 E4	won't react	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	; 250.00	700.00	5 HR, 00 mins	5 HR, 00 mins	250.00	700.00
	> Product acc	ess not available	0 HR, 45 mins	0 HR, 45 mins	45.00	105.00	0 HR, 45 mins	0 HR, 45 mins	45.00	105.00
				<u></u>						
Add	resses Time record	ds Primary address Primary pro	ject Primary job Report o	lata						
Su	biect - Filter for									
0	🛡 Action 👻 🌛 Sho	ort notes 📧 Send 👻 👧 Link wit	h 👻 🔓 New link 👻 📑 Rep	oort 🐖 Map						
То	aroup the column	headers, drag them to this area.								
	5									
Us	er	Subject	Type   S	Start 🔻	End	Act	ual Acti	ual costs	Charged	Actual turnover
Ma	arcus Clayden	Product access not available	Support 1	2/11/2018 8:03:00 AM	12/11/2018 8:48:00 4	AM 0 HR, 45 m	nins	0 HF	, 45 mins	
Mi	ichael Grün	Nomosys Jour Fixe	Conception 1	2/6/2018 10:01:52 AM	12/6/2018 11:31:52 4	AM 1 HR, 30 m	nins	1 HF	, 30 mins	
Ro	Robert Glaser Nomosys Jour Fixe (		Conception 1	2/6/2018 10:01:52 AM	12/6/2018 11:31:52 4	AM 1 HR, 30 m	nins	1 HF	, 30 mins	
Pe	ter Grayhound	Travel time	Travel time 1	2/5/2018 5:00:00 PM	12/5/2018 6:00:00 Pf	vi 1 HR, 00 m	nins	1 HR	, 00 mins	
Pe	ter Grayhound	Installation for NOMOSYS	Service 1	2/5/2018 1:00:00 PM	12/5/2018 5:00:00 PM	vi 4 HR, 00 m	nins	5 HF	, 00 mins	

You can find details about the available features in the user guide for the Report module. The user guide's current version is available for download under the following URL: <u>https://hilfe.cas.de/index-en.html</u>.

### 6.3.5 Editing reports

You can edit most settings for the reports listed here. While you can't add or remove data record types via link queries, the following settings are editable:

Remove or add fields

- Reset Overall dossier mode to Normal for address reports in order to only display data records that have been linked directly.
- Select more data (e.g. User data tab for time records and expenses)
- Activate preparation for billing, vendor credit notes and billing features (**Billing** tab)
- Preselect display and grouping fields (Visualization tab)
- Select a Crystal Reports design
- Enter Crystal Report Viewer settings for exporting and archiving created reports as documents in CAS genesisWorld (Crystal Reports tab)

🏶 Edit report template – 🗆 🗙								
Name	Time records							
Participants	All (public)	rate fidential						
Notes		🦯 <u>E</u> dit	🖺 <u>T</u> ime stamp					
Data record	s User data Time records Additional fields Billing Primary links Visualization Cryst	al Reports						
General	Calculations							
Data reco	ord type Precalculated values							
Address	es 🗸		1					
Fields								
Company, Company 2, Country, First name, Form of address, Name, Postal code, Street, Title, Town, Type, is Company								
Options								
View form	Standard (public)		~					
Include links INew								
Query	Include Link types							
🖏 Time	e records Additional links Primary link							
✓ Use Report visualization								
Design Work report Edit design Select different design								
		Save report template	Cancel					

You can find details about the available features in the user guide for the Report module. The user guide's current version is available for download under the following URL: <u>https://hilfe.cas.de/index-en.html</u>.

With a Report Manager license, you can duplicate the reports. The duplicates may then be edited freely, including adding or removing data record types via link queries.

# 7 Planning views in the Web Client

In the Web Client, you have access to the following planning views with Helpdesk:

- 7.1 Team planning (page 104): Scheduling for teams
- 7.2 Timeline view (page 109): Chronological order of data records
- 7.3 Board view (page 112): Group data records by field values

## 7.1 Team planning

The **Team planning** app is available under **Service and support** in the Web Client:



Instead of clicking on the associated tile, you can also open the app out of a ticket:

No access to CP	+		? ⊒
Tickets		Ticket	∘∘∘ Edit
No access to CP3.1 server 05/10/2021, 05:50 PM	Subject No access to CP3.1 server	<ul> <li>Create</li> <li>Display change log</li> <li>Display report</li> </ul>	>
	General <sup>Number</sup> 28 <sup>Type</sup> Ticket Priority High	<ul> <li>Display team planning</li> <li>Duplicate</li> <li>Link with</li> <li>Send e-mail to authorized persons</li> </ul>	>

The app will then display the ticket's subject and highlight associated appointments. Appointments created in the app will adopt the ticket's subject and be associated with it. The option to add participants from the parent project is ignored here. The following sections describe the presentation and features of the Team planning app.

- 7.1.1 Presentation and editing of appointments (page 105)
- 7.1.2 Change display mode and focus (page 106)
- 7.1.3 Change display date (page 107)
- 7.1.4 Change view settings (page107)
- 7.1.5 Display in map (page 108)
- 7.1.6 Create appointment (page 108)
- 7.1.7 Collapse or expand user list (page 108)

## 7.1.1 Presentation and editing of appointments

The app displays a row for each selected user. Appointments (blue) and holiday entries (grey) are displayed per user and day on a timeline. Hints display appointment and holiday entry details. Public holidays are displayed with red captions.

	m planning 🕂					? ∃
Day Week	Month Toda	y <b>[↑] î\$</b> ∇	te Te	am planning		R +
	<	Mon 6/10	Tue 6/11	Wed 6/12	Thursday, 13. June	Fri 6/14
Ben M Account	ller Manager		8:00 AM - 7:00 PM	12:00 AM - 12:00 AM Ho (cay		
V Frank	hreeve er		8:00 AM – 7:00 PM	12:00 PM – 8:00 CostumerCen	8:00 AM - 8:00 PM	
			11:00 2 4:00 C V C 4 C 4:0			
> Warcu Event N	Clayden anager		Overlappings	9:00 C Be		
Micha Market	l Green ng Manager		8:00 AM - 7:00 PM			
Peter CEO	rayhound		8:00 AM – 7:00 PM	10 G	8.00 AM - 8.00 PM	
CW 23 6/3 - 6/7	CW 24 6/10 - 6/14	CW 25 6/17 - 6/21	CW 26 6/24 - 6/28	CW 27 7/1 - 7/5	CW 28 7/8 - 7/12 CW 29 7/15 - 7/	(19 CW 30 7/22 - 7/26 CW 31 )

- Click an appointment to open the associated editing view.
- Drag an appointment within a row to move it on the timeline. Please note that this is only possible for appointments that are completely displayed.
- Drag an appointment's left or right edge within a row to change its start or end.
- Drag an appointment between rows to replace a participant by another one (e.g., drag from a placeholder resource to a user to assign that user to the appointment, see "Resource as placeholder" in section "7.1.4 Change view settings" on page 108).
- Select a period to create a new appointment. Alternatively, click on the plus icon at the top right to create an appointment (see "7.1.6 Create appointment" on page 108).
- <sup>4</sup> Holiday entries are displayed as grey bars and can't be opened or edited in the app.

- Overlaps are displayed as light grey bars. Click on the grey overlaps bar or the arrow at the left edge of the associated row to expand all overlapping appointments and holidays.
- Icons displayed for appointments indicate various properties:
  - Recurring (part of a series)
  - 🥌 Private
  - <sup>6</sup> Confidential
  - 💐 Out of office
  - One or more external participants
  - Reference or the second 
#### 7.1.2 Change display mode and focus

The view displays the appointments of a day, week or month.

Click Day, Week or Month to change the view mode:

- Day
  - The timeline displays the day above and hours below.
  - The precision for displaying and editing appointments are quarter hours.
  - Initially, the first displayed hour is focussed and displayed with a greater width.

Click on the column header of another hour to switch the focus.

- Week
  - The timeline displays the days of the selected week.
  - The precision for displaying and editing appointments are hours.
  - Initially, the current day (or Monday if the current week is not displayed) is focussed and displayed with a greater width.

Click on the column header of another day to switch the focus.

- Month
  - The timeline displays weeks above and days below.
  - The precision for displaying and editing appointments are days.
  - Initially, the current week (when opening the view) or the first displayed week (after switching the date) is focussed and displayed with a greater width.

Click on the column header of another hour to switch the focus.

# 7.1.3 Change display date

In addition to the view mode, you can select a date via the buttons at the top left:

- Click **Today** to jump to the current date.
- Click this to select a date in the calendar.
- Alternatively, use the timeline below the view to switch to another date.

# 7.1.4 Change view settings

Using the slider, filter and user icons, you can change various view settings.

Click this to change view settings:

- Visibility of weekends
- Working hours to be displayed (start and end); please note that you can't drag appointments starting or ending outside displayed working hours.
- User employee address filter field (via filter icon at top right, see below); requires users to be linked with employee addresses.

Any fields with multiple selection (checkbox list) input helps will be available.

 User employee address grouping field (users will be grouped by this field); requires users to be linked with employee addresses.

Any fields with single selection input helps will be available.

- Resource as placeholder (displayed in a separate row to schedule appointments not yet assigned to a specific user. Drag such an appointment to the desired user to assign that user to that appointment).
- Color classification (select a field with a single selection input help to assign colors to field values. You may select the **Type** and **Status** fields individually or in combination. Select the **Type / Status** item to assign a color to each type and each type/status combination).

Changes will only be applied after confirming your selection by clicking **Apply** both in the **Color classification** and **View properties** windows.

Please note that, with a color classification by fields values, appointments for a ticket for which you opened the team planning view will no longer be highlighted by color.

Click this to filter the displayed users by the employee address filter field selected in the settings. Selecting multiple items will filter the view such that only users with all of these items will be displayed. For instance, if you filter users by language and select multiple languages, only users knowing all selected languages will be displayed.

 $^{
m R}$  Click this to select the users to display.

# 7.1.5 Display in map

Click on the map icon to display all appointments with a georeferenced primary address in the map view.

III Click this to display the appointments of the team planning view in the map view.

- On the right hand side, a list of the appointments is displayed.
- Click on the location of one or more appointments to filter the list.
- Click on the location again to display all appointments again.
- Click on an appointment in the list to show its location on the map and other details.
- For locations with only one appointment, details of that appointment will also be displayed when you hover over the location.
- Use the toolbar to change the period or participants of the appointments to display.

## 7.1.6 Create appointment

Click on the plus icon or select the desired period (see "7.1.1 Presentation and editing of appointments" on page 105) to create an appointment.

Click this to create an appointment. Initially, you will be entered as participant. If a planning resource is selected, it will initially be entered as participant instead.

# 7.1.7 Collapse or expand user list

Click on the left arrow button above the user list to collapse it. The list will be displayed with a smaller width, showing only the user images stored in the associated employee addresses.

Click on the button again to display the user list with full width again, showing user images, names and descriptions.

Click this to collapse or expand the user list.
#### 7.2 Timeline view

The following sections briefly outline the availability, visualization and features of the **Timeline view**, which is available in CAS genesisWorld Web with Helpdesk.

- 7.2.1 Licensing (page 109)
- 7.2.2 General (page 109)
- 7.2.3 Options (page 110)
- 7.2.4 Interactions (page 111)

# 7.2.1 Licensing

When Report, Project or Helpdesk is licensed, the **Timeline view** is available in the Web Client (for Project and Helpdesk, activation in the Mangement Console isn't required).

# 7.2.2 General

The **Timeline view** displays the chronological order of data records with a start and finish.

All projects	+			? ∃
Days Weeks Mont	ths Today 🗂 🎲	All projects		+
Type <		July 2021	Aug 2021	Sep 2021
✓ Consulting project	Consulting Argus		Consulting FutureCorp	
	Consulting Rooftop Inc.	Consulting Semper Fidelis Inc.		
	Mon 8/9 – Mon 8/	16	Consulting YellowHouse	e Inc.
			Ca	onsulting Carring Electronics
✓ Product sales	IT infrastructure for ComGraphics Ltd.	Custom software delevopm	nent for Devemit Ltd.	
	Terminal workstation for NOMOSYS	Software delevopment for Devemit Ltd.		
	User training for Mafark Inc.	Mobile Workstation for Fe	rnoplan	
	User training for DHC Compute	er Co. Mobi	le Workstation for ComGraphics Ltd.	User training iNetVision, phase 2
			Mobile workstation for	Kramer & Partner
< June 2021 J	July 2021 August 2021	September 2021 October 2021	November 2021 December	r 2021 January 2022

With either of the associated licenses, you may open the view out of saved list views for any type of data records with a start and finish.

Other than the standard data records type with a start and finish in CAS genesisWorld, the view will display any data record type with date fields named **START\_DT** and **END\_DT**.

To open a **Timeline view** for the data records displayed in a saved list view, click on the three horizontal bar at the top left to open the view menu and select **Timeline view**.

	-		?	
Q Search	All projects		00	• +
Board view	bject	Туре	Status	
lisplay available views	onsulting Berger Inc.	Consulting project	Acquisition	> Î
O Edit view	> er training iNetVision, phase 2	Product sales	Acquisition	>
🔟 Map view	onsulting Carring Electronics	Consulting project	Acquisition	>
Report view	ftware development for Mafark Inc.	Product sales	Acquisition	>
Save view as ann	er training for Smith & Sons	Product sales	Acquisition	>
Select columns	onsulting YellowHouse Inc.	Consulting project	Acquisition	>
	obile workstation for Kramer & Partner	Product sales	Acquisition	>
Timeline view	rver center for Western Automatics Inc.	Product sales	Acquisition	>

#### Notes

This feature is only available for saved list views listed under **Views** in the associated app. It isn't available for combined list views, list views with a link filter or list views that are currently filtered via the **Search...** field.

The opened view always contains all data records from the list view. Selecting data records via the checkboxes in the first column has no effect.

All settings will be restored when next opening the view. Configurations are saved per list view and user, such that other users can't overwrite your view settings.

## 7.2.3 Options

In the **Timeline view**, you have the following options.

- Interval: Days, Weeks or Months.
- Start date: Today, selection in the calendar or via the time bar below the view.
- Settings
  - Visibility of weekends (Visible/Not visible).
  - Working hours to be displayed (start and finish for each day).
  - Number of columns in day, week and month view.
  - Use field for the grouping.
  - Use field for the color classification and select colors for field values.

#### 7.2.4 Interactions

The **Timeline view** supports the following interactions.

- **Open data record** via left-click on a bar.
- Change start and/or finish via drag-and-drop.
- **Create data records** with the plus button or by selecting a period with the mouse while holding the left mouse button. Not supported for all data record types.

#### 7.3 Board view

The following sections briefly outline the availability, visualization and features of the **Board view**, which is available in CAS genesisWorld Web with Helpdesk.

- 7.3.1 Licensing (page 112)
- 7.3.2 General (page 112)
- 7.3.3 Settings (page 113)
- 7.3.4 Interactions (page 114)

# 7.3.1 Licensing

When Report, Project or Helpdesk is licensed, the **Board view** is available in the Web Client (for Project and Helpdesk, activation in the Mangement Console isn't required).

# 7.3.2 General

The Board view displays the grouping of data records by input help items of a field.

My opportunities +			? ⊒		
<b>889</b>	My opportunities				
Lead Σ 63.356,95 GBP	Presentation Σ 46.860,54 GBP	Offer         Sale           Σ 42.900,00 GBP         Σ 145.400,79 GBP			
Custom software development open 29.233.33 GBP	ERP software & standard training deferred 14.768.94 GBP	Terminal workstation & standard deferred 42.900.00 GBP 4.500.00 GBP			
Intranet software open 29.585.80 GBP	IT infrastructure defered 32.09160 GBP	Mobile workstation open 15.530.30 GBP			
IT system sales and installation open 4.537.82 GBP		Office software open 22.000.00 GBP			
		Office software open 54.000.00 GBP			

With either of the associated licenses, you may open the view out of saved list views for any type of data records that have at least one field with input help items.

The view is available for both standard and custom data record types.

To open a **Board view** for the data records displayed in a saved list view, click on the three horizontal bar at the top left to open the view menu and select **Board view**.

My opportunities	÷		?	
C Search	🔀 My opportun	ities	000	+
Board view		Customer	Total weighted	
Display available views	m sales and installation	Maria Morales, CasaTujo SA	1,350.00	>
Ø Edit view	> oftware	Ethan Miller, ACC Technics Ltd.	2,700.00	>
Map view	oftware & standard training	Quentin Melrose, CCC	405.00	>
Report view	oftware	Marcus Boyle, William Maine Ltd.	1,100.00	>
Save view as app	software development	Pear & Hemple UK	9,647.00	>
Colost columns	workstation	Peter Foster, Alpha Systems Inc.	1,025.00	>
	il workstation & standard training	Wilma Bruser, Kahrmann electronic Ltd.	10,725.00	>
Timeline view	t software	Harry Nicholson, Young & partner	12,500.00	>

#### Notes

This feature is only available for saved list views listed under **Views** in the associated app. It isn't available for combined list views, list views with a link filter or list views that are currently filtered via the **Search...** field.

The opened view always includes all data records from the list view. Selecting data records via the checkboxes in the first column has no effect.

Only assignments of field values that are available as input help items will be displayed.

Data records with field values which are not or no longer available as input help items will be displayed as **Not assigned**.

All settings will be restored when next opening the view. Configurations are saved per list view and user, such that other users can't overwrite your view settings.

## 7.3.3 Settings

The following **Settings** are available for the **Board view**.

- Use the following field for grouping: Select here the field whose values will be displayed as columns for grouping the data records.
  - Use the following type for grouping by Status: If you select the Status field for grouping and the status depends on the type, status assignments will only be displayed for a specific type, which you select here in this case.

Items with other values in the **Type** field will not be displayed in this case.

 Display the following column values of the grouping: Display or hide columns for specific field values here.  Use the following field for the sorting: Select here the sorting field for records within a column. In addition to fields of the displayed data record type, you may sort by the first or second row as defined for that data record type in the App Designer with the 1. row and 2. row items.

Sorting by the second row is always supported regardless of whether it is actually displayed in the board view (see **Also display the following field on the card**).

- Use the following field for the sum row: Select the number of cards or a field to display as sum in the header row here.
- Offer currency fields in the base currency: When you select a currency field for the sum row (e.g., **Total** for opportunities), this option will be available for converting data records with foreign currencies to your base currency and summing up column totals.

This requires entering conversion rates from the base currency to the currencies of all displayed data records in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console under **Currencies** (see "11.3.2 Currencies" on page 181).

#### Note

This feature isn't supported for fields of the money data type.

Such fields will always be displayed in the base currency.

- Also display the following field on the card: The first row on each card can't be configured and is defined by the associated App Designer setting for the displayed data record type. For the second row, you may select between the App Designer configuration (default setting 2. row) and fields of the data record type.
- Use the following field for the color classification: Select a color classification field here. This can be the grouping field or another field with input help items. Once you have selected a field, you can also select colors for individual field values.
- Use the following field for the user picture: Select a user field here to display the associated picture on each card.

#### 7.3.4 Interactions

The Board view supports the following interactions.

- Open radial menu by right-clicking on a card.
- Change field value (group) by dragging a card to another column and dropping it.
- Create data records by clicking on the plus button.

# 8 Project details

With Helpdesk, different features are available in the **Details** tab of the data record window for projects than those available there by default.

📱 Edit Software developmen	nt for NOMOSYS			-		×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> e	earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>					
🛃 Save&Close 📄 🗙 🚔	🗗 🕈 🦊 🙆					?
👎 🖏 🗕 🖏 Workflow 🏰	Hourly rates 📄 Create docu	ment 🔹 🎯 Action 👻	🍃 Short notes 🔟 Send 👻	🖥 Link with 👻 🔓 New link	🕶 📄 Rep	ort 🝷
General Details Tree	e Time records Change	e log Dossier				
Software development for NOMO	OSYS (Peter Grayhound, Robert (	Glade)				
Project management						
Project status  Rea green	ason Project started.					
Lock for time recording	]	Project head customer	NOMOSYS, Fred Mason		<b>1</b>	<b>1</b>
Responsible (comm.)	obert Glade V	Project directory	\\Fileserver\Projects\NOMOSYS			-
Last contact						
Contact person Ro	obert Glade	Contact on/via	Monday, 3/ December 2018	Phone call	~	

The calculation displayed here by default is dropped, since reports based on time records are available in the **Report** menu with the Helpdesk module.

The following features supplement the **Details** tab with Helpdesk.

- Project management
  - Project status / Explanation: The project status is available in the General tab without Helpdesk as well with CAS genesisWorld Premium. With the Helpdesk module, the project status is also displayed in the Details tab. Here you can also store a comment about the project status in the Explanation field.
  - Lock for time recording: When this option is selected, no additional time records can be created for the project and the Actual field in existing time records for the project can no longer be modified.
  - **Project manager (customer):** Link the customer company's project manager here.
  - Responsible (comm.): Sales executive.
  - Project directory: Directory for documents or other additional information for the project. You can display this directory in the project's tree view.
- Last contact
  - Last contact on / Contact person / Last contacted via: These fields are available here without Helpdesk as well with CAS genesisWorld Premium. The information is updated when certain appointments, phone calls, e-mails and documents are created for the project. In the Management Console, under Miscellaneous > Last contact, you specify in which cases a contact is recorded.

# 9 Using project and job templates

The following sections describe the features for project and job templates:

- 9.1 Using project templates (page 116)
- 9.2 Editing a template (page 118)
- 9.3 Editing a project in the data record window (page 123)
- 9.4 Adding or continuing a workflow (page 124)
- 9.5 Using job templates (page 124)

# 9.1 Using project templates

When you create a project, the selection of project templates opens first.

Create project from template	
늘 🗙 📸	🗅 🖻 🥕 🗙 🖆 🍰
<ul> <li>All templates</li> <li>Marketing</li> </ul>	E E
Sales	CAS genesisWorld Workshop / Training for [Address:Com
Always create projects without a temp	late Continue with selection Continue without a template Cancel

Under **All templates**, you can see all templates to which you have access. Select a folder in order to only display the templates it contains.

- **Continue with selection:** Here you create a project from the selected template.
- **Continue without a template:** Here you create a project without a template. You can add a template later (see "9.4 Adding or continuing a workflow" on page 124).
  - Always create projects without a template: Select this option to disable template selection. You can reactivate in your settings (General > Deactivated messages).
- Cancel: Here you close the template selection without creating a project.

In the **User Management** area of the Management Console, you can assign permissions for reading, inserting, changing and deleting of project and job templates.

# 9.1.1 Creating and editing templates

For creating and editing templates, the following features are available here.

**Create new template:** Here you create a new template in the template editor.

**Import project as a template:** Here you open a list for selecting the project to import. The selected project is loaded into the template editor with its tree structure.

Edit template: Here you open the selected template in the template editor. When you click OK in the template editor, changes are saved and you get back to the template selection.

Delete template: Here you delete the selected template. The Continue workflow feature will then no longer be available for associated projects (see "9.4 Adding or continuing a workflow" on page 124).

**Duplicate template:** Here you create a copy of the selected template.

Change access rights for template: New templates are initially owned by the user who created them. Here you open the Select team window in order to set access permissions to the template. The Standard permission is used.

# 9.1.2 Organizing templates in folders

For organizing your templates in folders, the following features are available here.

**Treate folder:** Here you create a new folder.

- Move template to folder: Hold mouse button while dragging a template to a folder.
- Detach template from folder: To detach a template from a folder, open the folder and hold the mouse button while dragging the template to the All templates entry.
- Rename folder: To rename a folder, select it and click it again.
- **Delete folder:** Here you delete the selected folder as well as any contained folders, project and job templates. Please note that the same folders are used for project and job templates, so it's possible to delete templates not visible in the current view.
- Change access rights for template: New folders are initially public. Here you open the Select team window in order to set access permissions to the folder and all subfolders. This permission only entitles users to see the folder structure. Separate permissions are distributed for the contained templates.

# 9.2 Editing a template

In the template editor, you create and edit project and job templates.

The template editor opens when you create a new project or job from any template in which the **Create template directly** option is not selected.

🚯 Create project				- 🗆 X
💿 🖻 🔕 📞 🗎	General More			
×   🕀 🖃   🚍 🛩	Subject	CP 3.1 for [Address:Compa	ny]	
✓ ⓑ ♥ CP 3.1 for [Address:Company]     ✓ ⓒ ♥ 1 Order placed     ✓ ⓒ ♥ 1 Order placed	[프] Project end	2 month(s), 14 day(s) after s	tart of "CP 3.1 for [Address:C	Company] [Helpdesk]"
v	🚰 Person responsible	#ROLE#Project manager	餶 Deputy	#ROLE#Project deputy
✓      ✓     ✓     ✓     ✓     ✓     ✓      ✓	🔒 Participants		🚮 Category	
<ul> <li>✓ 2 Development</li> <li>✓ 2 Development</li> <li>✓ 2.3 Test</li> </ul>	Developer, Project deputy, Trainer	Project manager, Tester, 🛛 \land		^
 → ✓ Create test plan → Test plan → → → → → → → → → →		~		~
	Type Product sales	~	Status Acquisition	~
2.5 Installation C Z Arrange installation date D Installation	Notes			^
<ul> <li>✓ —③☑ 2.6 Training</li> <li>— <ul> <li>▲ Arrange training date</li> <li>— <ul> <li>▲ Prepare training</li> </ul> </li> </ul></li></ul>				
Socumentation Socumentation				
Create documentation     Documentation     A Project management				
				~
Create template directly				OK Cancel

- **Create template directly:** Select this if projects created from this template should open the template editor first.
- OK: Create the project from the template (Create project window), confirm creating additionally selected project steps (Continue workflow window) or save changes in the template and get back to the template selection (Edit template window).
- Cancel: Cancel creating or extending the project or editing the template without committing your changes.

## 9.2.1 Editing a project in the tree view

The following features are available in the tree view and the associated toolbar.

Insert data record: Click on the symbol of a data record type to create a new data record of this type for the selected data record.

Jobs are created in the project or in another job.

- **Tasks** are created in the project or in a job.
- Appointments are created in the project or in a job.

#### Note

Creating appointments via project and job templates isn't supported when you are using the Exchange sync module.

**C** Phone calls are created in the project or in a job.

Documents are created in the project or in a job from templates. Select a template and click OK. Click Edit template in the data record editor to the right in order to open the document template in the associated data record window.

**Exclude data records from creation:** In the box next to each data record, you control whether the data record will be created along with the project or job.

- Continue workflow: Data records that were excluded from creation at first can later be added by clicking on the Workflow button in the toolbar of the data record window for projects (see "9.4 Adding or continuing a workflow" on page 124).
- Automatic creation: In the Automatic creation tab, to the right of the template editor, you select status options whose assignment to the project causes the data record selected to the left to be created automatically (see "Automatic creation by status" on page 122).
- Modifying links and order of data records: Via drag-and-drop, you can change a data record's association or the data records' order. To do this, click on the entry to move and, while holding the mouse button, drag it to the desired place.
  - **Change association:** Drag a data record on the project or on another job.
  - Change order: Drag a task, an appointment, a phone call or a document to another data record of one of these four data record types to insert the first after the latter.
  - Association and order of jobs: If you move one job onto another, a menu opens. Here you select whether the moved job should be inserted before, after or in the target job as its sub-job.
- Deleting data records from the template: You delete the selected data record from the template by clicking on the Delete button in the toolbar, by pressing the [Del] key or via the context menu. Before deletion you are asked to confirm. Like all changes, the deletion is only applied when the template is saved.
- 🛨 Open tree: Here you expand all branches.
- Giose tree: Here you close all branches.
- Save changes in the template: When creating or editing a template, clicking OK saves the template. When creating a project or job from a template, changes are not saved automatically. In this case, click **Save changes in the template** to save the changes.
- Check time relations: Here you check the consistency of entered time relations (see "Entering time relations" on page 120.) Any insosistencies will be displayed.

# 9.2.2 Editing data records in the data record editor

In the default setting, the data record editor is displayed to the right. Via the **General** and **More** tabs you access any preallocatable fields.

#### Note

Input helps of the **Selection tree** type are not fully supported in the **Category** field. If such an input help has been entered for this field, only top level items will be available for selection.

The following sections describe special features of the data record editor.

- Transfer participants: This is available for jobs, tasks, appointments, documents and phone calls. Here you assign to the selected data record the participants and resources as well as the Maximum external access right of its parent data record.
- Using roles as placeholders: By clicking on the Participants button you open the selection of participants. In addition to users and resources, roles are available here. These are replaced by users and resources when the project is created. Via the list to the left you create roles, delete or rename existing roles. Via the Rights button you limit data record access for the user assigned in a role. The External access menu is synchronous with the Maximum external access right menu and serves for limiting external access rights of other users to data records of the future participant.
- Entering time relations: When a project is created from a template, the current point of time is inserted as the project start. The project end results from the duration which you specify in the template. The project start and end may be modified in the project's data record window when it is created.

When you save the project, all other data records will be created. You either specify associated dates as fixed dates to be entered when the project is created from the template or as time relations depending on the project start or end.

 Specifying the project duration: Click on the Project end button to open the Enter time relation window.

Enter time relation	
O Query date when creat	ing new records
Default value	Wednesday, 12/ December 2018
Enter a date in relation	to a fixed time (days, months and years)
14 days	Ignore weekends and holidays
2 months	0 years
After $\lor$ $\bigcirc$ C	urrent date
() s	Start $\sim$ of CAS genesisWorld for [Addre $\sim$
	OK Cancel

Select **Query date when creating new records** if users should be prompted to enter the project end whenever a project is created from the template. Under **Default value**, you may also enter a default value for the project end.

Select **Enter a date in relation to a fixed time (days, months and years)** in order to enter the project's duration instead of the project end. The **Ignore weekends and holidays** option only affects the **days** specified. The options for other points of reference are disabled when entering the project end as you can only refer to the project start here.

 Specifying the start and end of other data records: Select a data record in the tree view. Then click on the button with the date you wish to specify in the data record editor. The Enter time relation window opens.

Enter time relation						
O Query date when creating new	○ Query date when creating new records					
Default value Wedne	esday, 12/December 2018					
Enter a date in relation to a fixe	d time (days, months and years)					
0 days Igno	ore weekends and holidays					
0 months 0	years					
After 🗸 🔿 Current d	ate					
Start	$ \sim $ of $$ CAS genesisWorld for [Addre $ \sim $					
	OK Cancel					

Select **Query date when creating new records** if users should be prompted to enter the date whenever a project is created from the template. Under **Default value**, you may also enter a default value for the date.

Select **Enter a date in relation to a fixed time (days, months and years)** in order to enter the date in relation to a point of reference. Like when entering the project end, the **Ignore weekends and holidays** option only affects the **days** specified.

Then select the desired point of reference.

With the **Current date** option, you may refer to the respective date of creation for data records you exclude from creation at first in order to add them later via **Automatic creation by status** or **Continue workflow**.

Moreover, the beginning and end of the project as well as the beginning and end of any other associated data records are available for selection unless a time relation referring to the current record has already been entered for them. When you enter the end date, you may also refer to the beginning of the data record itself like when entering the project end.

- Set time: For jobs, tasks, appointments and phone calls, you set the reminder time in relation to the data record's start or end.
- Variables for address fields, project subject and roles: The following sections describe the inclusion of placeholers in data record fields.

 References to fields: You may refer to any fields of all parent data records in the Subject and Notes fields. References will be replaced when the record is created if the required links are present (e.g., the project has a primary address).

The references must be of the form [Data record:Field].

For example, [Address:Company] will be replaced by the company name of the primary address.

 Roles in text fields: Roles created in the team selection may be embedded in text fields (e.g., to enter the selected project manager in the Person responsible field).

The references must be of the form #Role#Name.

For example, #Role#Project manager will be replaced by the user selected for the **Project manager** role.

 Automatic creation by status: Data records initially excluded from creation may be created automatically when the project is saved with a status for which this is intended. If roles are included, the user is asked to select participants and resources.

If you have assigned a type to the project in the data record editor, the associated status options will be available for selection for other data records in the **Automatic creation** tab. Here you select the status options whose selection in the project should cause the selected data record to be created automatically.

 Create with all subordinate data records: Select this option if the automatic creation of a job should include the creation of its subordinate data records.

# 9.3 Editing a project in the data record window

After selecting a template and specifying any additional information that may be required, the project opens it its data record window.

0						
New Project				-	- 🗆	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew	<u>I</u> nsert <u>S</u> earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>					
🛃 Save&Close	🖥 🖬 🗙 🚔 👬 🔊					?
📮 🖏 - 🖏 W	orkflow 🏰 Hourly rates 🗎 Crea	te doo	ument 👻 ラ Action 🤸	🖌 🎽 Short notes 🔟 Send 👻 🚜 Link with 👻 🔓 New li	ink 🚽 📄 Rep	ort
Canaral Data		Char				
General Deta	alis Tree Time records	Char	ige log Dossier			
	iks nave been entered.					1
Subject	CAS genesisWorld for NOMOSYS	3				
Start	Wednesday, 12/ December 2018	Ъ	Number	2018-123		1 <sub>3</sub> 2
End	Tuesday, 26/ February 2019	Ŀ	Person responsible	Peter Grayhound	~	]
			Deputy	Robert Glade	~	]
				· · ···		1
l ype	Product sales V		Status	Acquisition	×	]
<u>C</u> ategory		1	Keywords	NOMOSYS, Jack Bauer	Project status	s 🚇
						•
					I	
Participants	🤱 Antonio Matarazzo 🗙 🤱	Ben	Miller 🗙 🤱 Michael	Green 🗙 🖳 Peter Grayhound 🗙 🖳 Robert Glade >	ε	<b>6</b>
e <u>p</u> rivate						
						]
Parent	뒘 NOMOSYS, Jack Bauer 🕻 🕻 🗸				•	1
Notes				🧷 <u>E</u> dit	🖆 <u>T</u> ime st	amp

- Adjust start and end: The current date is automatically entered as start. The end is defined by the duration entered in the template and may only be modified after saving. If you modify the start prior to saving, the end is shifted accordingly.
- ✓ Save project: If desired, make further entries for the project. Save it in a final step by clicking Save or Save&Close.

Any other data records in the template that were not excluded are now created.

# 9.4 Adding or continuing a workflow

Using the **Workflow** button in the toolbar of the related data record window, you extend a project in the template editor. To do this, the project template that was used must still exist. For projects not created from a template or whose template was deleted in the meantime, the template selection opens first.

The template editor opens in the Continue workflow mode in any case.

- Data records that were already created can no longer be modified here.
- All data records that have not yet been created or that have meanwhile been deleted are available for creation.
- Data records under a job cannot be created without the associated job. The same holds true for items in item groups.
- All features of the template editor are fully accessible in this view. However, changes made to the template cannot be saved.
- ✓ Select the data records to create by clicking in the boxes next to them.
- ✓ Confirm the project's extension by clicking **OK**.

If you have selected data records for creation to which roles have been assigned, you are now asked to select the intended participants and resources.

## 9.5 Using job templates

For job templates, the same features are available as for project templates.

## 9.5.1 Project and job templates

The following segments briefly describe the interaction, differences and similarities of project and job templates.

- Job templates in projects: You may use job templates in different projects regardless
  of the use of project templates. When a process changes, you only need to adjust one
  job template instead of several project templates.
- Job templates without projects: Jobs from templates may also be used without an associated project.
- Turning off the template selection: The template selection for jobs may be turned off independently from the template selection for projects.
- **Continue workflow:** In the toolbar of the data record window for jobs, the **Workflow** button is available as it is for projects. Click this to extend a job created from a template or to add a template to a job which was initially created without using a template.

# 9.5.2 Specifics when using job templates

The following specifics apply to job templates.

Create job from					
늘 🗙 📸	🗋 🕥 🧷	× 🖻 윩			
✓ - ∰ All templates Marketing Sales	Individual tra	ining	Workshop		
Always create jobs without a template	Co	ontinue with	selection	Continue without a template	Cancel

- Template folders for projects and jobs: The same folders are used for project and job templates. Deleting a folder will also delete any project and job templates it contains. Please note that you may delete templates not currently visible this way.
- Job is point of reference for all time relations: When you enter time relations, the topmost job is the point of reference for any other data records. You therefore start by entering the job's duration. All other data records relate to the job or to other data records associated to the job.
- Not available for tickets: Job templates aren't available for tickets. The Type selection for a job template is filtered such that it doesn't include ticket types.

# 10 Helpdesk online

The following sections describe the installation, configuration and usage of the Helpdesk online support portal:

- 10.1 Installing Helpdesk online (page 126)
- 10.2 Configuring Helpdesk online (page 127)
- 10.3 Cookies (page 128)
- 10.4 Invocation and language selection (page 129)
- 10.5 Logging on, activating the account and logging off (page 129)
- 10.6 Personal area (page 133)
- 10.7 FAQ search (page 134)
- 10.8 Request lists (page 137)
- 10.9 Detail view and actions (page 138)
- 10.10 Creating a request (page 141)
- 10.11 User menu (page 144)
- 10.12 Modifying the appearance (page 145)
- 10.13 Log file (page 146)

#### 10.1 Installing Helpdesk online

A separate setup is available for Helpdesk online. You can find it on the CAS genesisWorld DVD or in the respective download in the "Portals" folder.

To install Helpdesk online, start the setup and execute the following steps.

The setup first checks whether the CAS genesisWorld client and server as well as the .NET Framework 4.6.2 are installed. This is required for installing Helpdesk online.

If not all required components are present, click **Cancel**, click **Yes** to confirm, then click **Finish** to abort the installation.

Install the missing components and restart the setup.

- Confirm the message saying that the required components are available.
- Confirm the license agreement.
- You will be prompted to select the desired database and log on with a CAS genesisWorld user with Administrator permissions.
  - When Helpdesk online is accessed via the associated URL, the application will connect with the database specified here.

- You can switch Helpdesk online to another database. To do this, start the setup again and select **Change**. Confirm the individual steps of the wizard and select the desired database.
- After the database has been adapted, you will be prompted to specify the desired web page and the associated virtual directory.
- You will be prompted to enter the installation directory.

# Note on Microsoft IIS

Helpdesk online requires Microsoft IIS (Internet Information Services) as web server. Other web servers are not supported. If the IIS Windows features aren't active, they will be activated automatically when Helpdesk online is installed.

 Helpdesk online will now be installed. After successful installation, the application will be available in the selected virtual directory on the computer, on which you have installed Helpdesk online.

# 10.2 Configuring Helpdesk online

You configure Helpdesk online in the Management Console.

The most important settings are under **Helpdesk > Helpdesk online**:

- Under Requests, you enter one or more types of new requests like "Change request" or "Question". In the process, you specify precisely which data the user may or must enter.
- Also under **Requests**, you enter actions that allow users to modify a request in Helpdesk online. Filters make sure that the selection of available actions matches the type and status of the request.
- Under Lists, you enter an arbitrary number of list views. Filters specify which requests are displayed in each list.
- Under Detail view, you specify whether documents stored with requests are available online and whether a service agreement is displayed in the detail view.
- Under **FAQ**, you activate or deactivate the FAQ search and enter settings for it.
- Under Personal area, you may enter a web page with additional information that will be accessible as the first or last navigation item in Helpdesk online.

Other Management Console settings for Helpdesk online:

The language selection under Helpdesk > Notifications and languages is regarded in Helpdesk online. With the associated language resources, Helpdesk online will be available in all languages selected there. The language resources must be installed on the application server used for Helpdesk online.

- Sending e-mails for the Forgot your password feature on the logon page as well as requires the configuration of a system e-mail account (Management Console Rules > Server settings).
- Additionally, most other settings in the Helpdesk area of the Management Console affect Helpdesk online.

The configuration of Helpdesk and Helpdesk online in the Management Console is described in chapter "11 Management Console settings" on page 147.

Section "2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online" on page 37 provides details about setting up access and about address links relevant for Helpdesk online.

#### 10.3 Cookies

Helpdesk online stores the following cookies on the client side:

• ASP.NET\_SessionId (temporary, when logging on): Controls the active session.

This cookie will be deleted automatically when closing the browser.

 HelpdeskOnline (while active, when logging on): Selecting Remember logon data and logging on will create a cookie containing the user name and encrypted password.

When the user accesses Helpdesk online again, he will be logged in automatically.

When the user logs off, the encrypted password will be removed from the cookie.

In this case, the user name will be retained and automatically entered when the user accesses Helpdesk online again.

This cookie will be preserved until the user logs off, deactivates **Remember logon data** and logs on again, or until it is actively deleted.

 HelpdeskOnlineLanguage (permanently, when opening the logon page or changing the setting): Stores the language (see following section) to select it automatically when Helpdesk online is accessed again.

This cookie will be preserved until it is actively deleted.

- UserSettings (permanently, when logging on or changing the setting): Stores user settings to restore them when logging on to Helpdesk online again.
  - Access level for displaying requests in lists (all / own company / only own), see
     Views > Submitter on page 137.
  - Selection of Display only my products when creating a new request, see Product information on page 142.

This cookie will be preserved until it is actively deleted.

Saving the **HelpdeskOnline**, **HelpdeskOnlineLanguage** and **UserSettings** cookies requires that Helpdesk online internally uses an HTTPS connection in IIS.

# 10.4 Invocation and language selection

Helpdesk online is accessible with most internet browsers supported by CAS genesisWorld Web via desktop computers, laptops, tablets and other mobile devices.

The page layout is optimized for small screens on mobile devices. This depends on the device's resolution and is determined whenever Helpdesk online is accessed.

Helpdesk online starts with the logon page unless users are already logged on or use a logon link (see next section).

If you have selected additional languages in the **Helpdesk** area of the Management Console under **Notifications and languages** (see "11.2.7 Notification and languages" on page 178) and a CAS genesisWorld client with the required language resources is installed on the computer on which Helpdesk online runs, the user may also select the desired language here.

- If cookies are enabled and a secure connection (HTTPS) is used, the selected language will be saved in a cookie (see "10.3 Cookies" on page 128).
- If the user has already logged on and the language cookie is still present, the previous language selection will be retained.
- When a user first logs on or has deleted the language cookie, Helpdesk online will default to the browser language, English, the database language, or the first available language, in this order, depending on availability:
  - By default, the browser language will be selected.
  - If the browser language isn't available, English will be selected.
  - If English isn't available, the database language will be selected.
  - If the database language isn't available, the first available language will be selected.

## 10.5 Logging on, activating the account and logging off

Most Helpdesk online features require logging on.

- The FAQ search may be available without logging on:
  - You may enable this feature in the Management Console by selecting status options of FAQ items available without logging on (see "FAQ" on page 170).
- The following features require users to log on:
  - Personal area
  - Request lists and detail view
  - Actions (changing the status, commenting on tickets and uploading files)
  - Creating new requests

Helpdesk online × +			— C		×
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\bullet$ https://helpdesk.example.com/helpdesk/L	ogin.aspx		☆	θ	:
FAQ		English			/
	Helpdesk online				
	E-mail (business)				
	I. I				
	Password				
	Log on				
	Remember logon data     Forgot Password?				
	Activate account x11.1.2.11770				

- As user name, the address field E-mail (business) will be requested by default. You may change this setting in the Management Console under Helpdesk > Helpdesk online (see "User name" on page 155).
- Users set their own **Password** when activating their accounts (see following page).

Alternatively, you can enter a password for a company contact or individual contact in the **Details** tab (see "2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online" on page 37).

Here you also select the contact's access level (**Helpdesk online**). If access hasn't been enabled, the contact will not be able to log on or activate the account.

- Remember logon data: Store the user name and password in a cookie (see "10.3 Cookies" on page 128).
  - The next time the user accesses Helpdesk online, he will be logged on automatically.
  - When the user logs off, the cookie will be preserved without the password. The next time the user accesses Helpdesk online, the user name will be entered automatically. The password must be reentered.
  - When the user unchecks the Remember logon data option and logs on again, the cookie will be deleted.
  - This feature requires that Helpdesk online internally uses an HTTPS connection in IIS.
- **Forgot your password:** Here users enter their e-mail address to receive an e-mail with a link for resetting their password. If the e-mail address can be assigned to an address with access to Helpdesk online in CAS genesisWorld, the user will receive this e-mail.

Users will also receive a confirmation e-mail after changing their password.

To send the e-mails, the system e-mail account configured in the **Rules** area of the Management Console under **Server settings** will be used.

If no system e-mail account has been configured, this feature won't be available.

#### Note

The subject and content of the German e-mails for resetting the password and notifying users about the password change are stored in the <code>PasswordResetMail.tpl</code> and <code>PasswordChangedMail.tpl</code> files under <code>Config</code> in the installation directory for Helpdesk online. For all other supported languages, e-mail templates with the same name and the file extension for the respective language are stored in this directory (e.g., English versions <code>PasswordResetMail.tpl.en</code>, <code>PasswordChangedMail.tpl.en</code>).

Please do not directly edit these files. If you wish to make changes, copy the files to the .\Custom folder in the Helpdesk online installation directory and make the desired changes to the copies. If copies exist in the .\Custom folder, they will be used instead of the original files.

The e-mail templates use variables for the salutation (@salutation@) and the link for resetting the password (@passwordresetlink@) which should always be included in the e-mail templates.

Activate account: Users whose account has been enabled without assigning a
password can activate their account via the Activate account link.

You can enable an account and select the desired access level via the **Helpdesk online** field in the **Details** tab of a company contact or individual contact (see "2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online" on page 37).

Section "12.1 Helpdesk online account enabling notification" on page 195 describes setting up a notification rule for sending customers an activation link when their access is enabled by selecting an access level in the **Helpdesk online** field.

#### Note

The subject and content of the German e-mails for activating the customer's account and for confirming the activation are stored in the ActivationMail.tpl and AccountActivatedMail.tpl files under Config in the installation directory for Helpdesk online. For all other supported languages, e-mail templates with the same name and the file extension for the respective language are stored in this directory (e.g., English versions ActivationMail.tpl.en, AccountActivatedMail.tpl.en).

Please do not directly edit these files. If you wish to make changes, copy the files to the .\Custom folder in the Helpdesk online installation directory and make the desired changes to the copies. If copies exist in the .\Custom folder, they will be used instead of the original files.

The e-mail templates use variables for the salutation (@salutation@) and the link for resetting the password (@activationlink @) which should always be included in the e-mail templates.

- Blocked support entitlement: Contacts of blocked companies as well as blocked single contacts will not be able to log on to Helpdesk online (see "2.5 Blocking support entitlement" on page 36).
- Logging on automatically: Users can skip the logon page and directly log on via the AutoLogin.aspx page using the LoginField, PWField and Language parameters (e.g., https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/AutoLogin.aspx? LoginField=jack.bauer@nomosys.co.uk&PWField=cas&Language=en).

This page may also be called via POST.

- LoginField: user name, which is the contact's business e-mail address by default.
- **PWField:** password, stored in the contact's **Password** field.
- Language: two letter ISO Code of any enabled language (see page 129).
- **Logging off:** After successfully logging on, the user menu in the upper right corner will be added to the navigation bar at the top. Users can log off via the user menu.

To work with Helpdesk online again, a user must log on again, even if the **Remember logon data** option has been selected. You can find more features of the user menu under "10.11 User menu" on page 144.

## 10.6 Personal area

If you have entered a title and URL for a personal area in the Management Console under **Helpdesk > Helpdesk online > Personal area**, it will be displayed as the first or last item in the navigation, depending on your settings.

This way, for instance, you can include an internet page with information about handling problems or links to a user documentation.



With the **Use as start page after logon** option, the personal area will be displayed first. Without this option, the page will be displayed last (see "Personal area" on page 172).

# 10.7 FAQ search

If the FAQ search has been activated in the Management Console, users may open it by clicking on the **FAQ** button in the navigation menu. Depending on your settings, the FAQ search may also be available without logging in to Helpdesk online.

Helpdesk online		× +						- 🗆 ×
← → C 🔒 h	ttps://	/helpdesk.example.com/helpdesk	elpdesk/FAQList.aspx					☆ \varTheta :
Documentation		FAQ F	Requests				(	JB Jack Bauer ~
Product		l	anguage					
All		~	English	~				
Search								
Subject Reques	t Solu	tion Notes			Search			
Link search terms wit	h 🥑	AND 🔿 OR						
Date	•	Request	Solution	Product	Area	Version from	Version to	Document language
	Ċ	۲	т	۲	٣	۲	۲	۲
12/4/2018		Error JK3312789JQ	Reregister component HGZ67453	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Documents	10	11	English
11/12/2018		Error FI00992154JZ	Reregister component HGZ67453.	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Administration	10	11	English
10/26/2018		Error XI0Pe 00012675	The issue occurs in version 10 when the ZWXRMON.EXE service runs at the same time as LCR5. To fix this, please download hoftix 10.07.03.01 and follow the contained installation instructions.	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Administration	10	10	English
10/15/2018		Error 5539001JKQ	Install client update GJR78346.	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Addresses	11	11	English
10/8/2018		Print command is not executed.	Install the printer driver.	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Documents	9	11	English

In the **Helpdesk** area of the Management Console, under **Helpdesk online** > **FAQ**, you determine the following FAQ search settings (see "FAQ" on page 170).

- Status options for displaying the FAQ search with or without logging in
- Search fields with option to limit them in Helpdesk online
- **Display fields** and default sorting for the result list
- Date field format: only date or date and time
- Number of items when opening the FAQ search: You may configure the FAQ search to display the FAQ documents with the latest Date when it is opened.
- Number of results per page when searching
- Allow filtering in columns: When a search term is entered in the Filter field above a column, the result list will only display items where the search term matches in this column.
- Allow grouping: When a column header is dragged into the grouping area above the result list, this column will be grouped by the items in the associated column. Dragging the column header back into the result list will remove the grouping.

 Show language selection (language filter): Multiple selection of languages entered in the Document language field of available FAQ documents. The No language item will also be available for displaying FAQ documents without a Document language. Via Select all, users may select all languages and the No language option.

The following features are available for searching and in the result list:

- Select a product, product version and feature area: When a product is selected, menus for entering the version and area will appear. The selection of a product, version and area limit the search results. If the user doesn't select a product, FAQ documents for all products will be found. If he selects a product but neither a version nor an area, FAQ documents for all versions and areas of the selected product will be found.
- Link search terms with: Here the user selects whether all (AND) or at least one (OR) of the entered search terms must appear in the sought document.
- Search: Here the user enters his search terms. If set up accordingly, he may also select which fields to search. When you are searching with AND, only entries in which each of the search terms appears in one of the searched fields will be found. When you are searching with OR, all entries in which a search term appears in one of the search fields will be found. The percent character % serves as a placeholder for a character string of arbitrary length. The placeholder character will automatically be inserted at the beginning and end of each search term. This way, search terms which are not whole words will also be found.

If the user doesn't enter a search term, all FAQ documents with a status configured for display will be found. To display all FAQ documents for a given product, version or area, the user enters the desired selection with the associated menus and leaves the search field blank.

 Opening the FAQ detail view: Clicking on an item in the result list will open the associated detail view:

S Helpdesk online	× +			- 🗆 X
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $$ https:/	//helpdesk.example	.com/helpdesk/FAQDetails.aspx?gguid=0x6C2061E84A07	5418798197048F06704	☆ <b>⊖</b> :
Documentation	FAQ	Requests		JB Jack Bauer v
<				
Error XI0Pe 000126	75		Date	10/26/2018 12:00 AM
Error XI0Pe 00012675	5		Product	CRM Groupware CP 3.1
			Area	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Administration
Solution The issue occurs in ve LCR5. To fix this, plea	ersion 10 when the se download hotfix	ZWXRMON.EXE service runs at the same time as 10.07.03.01 and follow the contained installation	Version from Version to  Documents	10 10 Hotfix 10.07.03.01.zip
insuccions.				

• **Opening or downloading files:** If a file has been stored with an FAQ document, users can open or download it by clicking on the link under **Documents** at the lower right.

# Sending links for opening an FAQ item

The FAQDetails.aspx page can also be opened directly via the following links in order to display a specific FAQ document.

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/FAQDetails.aspx?gguid={gguid}

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/FAQDetails.aspx?faqnumber={docnumber}

Replace https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/ by your Helpdesk online system URL. Replace {gguid} or {docnumber} by the associated field value.

Helpdesk online supports both formats (with GGUID and docnumber).

If you wish to use the notification and action service to notify users about newly created or modified FAQ documents, only the first of the two links listed above will work. Other than inserting the URL of your Helpdesk online installation, the link may be typed in as listed above, with the {gguid} variable, including the curly brackets.

Please also regard the instructions for setting up notifications in section "12 Notification and support account" on page 195.

# 10.8 Request lists

After logging on, the first of the configured request lists opens. Via the lower navigation bar, users switch between request lists and change the list format

S Helpdesk online	× +					- 🗆 ×	<
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\square$ https:/	//helpdesk.example.	com/helpdesk/Tick	ketList.aspx			☆ 🖰 :	:
Documentation	FAQ	Requests	•			JB Jack Bauer v	
New request v	ests Process	ed requests	Response required	Completed requests		Views 🗸	
Number			Subject		Last change of status	•	
		T		۲		<b>6</b>	
31			Customer form not respond	ling	11/29/2018 11:28 AM		
30			Sync issue		11/29/2018 10:12 AM		
29			"Retro" form localization		11/29/2018 8:25 AM		
28			No access to AXC03 serve	r	11/29/2018 7:15 AM		

As long as users are logged on, they may access this view by clicking on the **Requests** button in the upper navigation bar.

The following features are available in request lists by default. Filtering and grouping can be turned off for each list in the configuration.

- **Sorting:** Clicking a column header will sort the list by entries in this column.
- **Filtering:** Entering a search term in the **Filter** field above a column will filter the list, so it only displays entries in which the search term appears in this column.
- Grouping: Clicking a column header, dragging it to the grouping area above the list and dropping it there will group the list by entries in this column. Dragging the column header back into the result list will remove the grouping.
- Views
  - Submitter: The access level specified for each contact in the Details tab determines whether the contact may see only his own requests, all requests from his company or all requests of all companies from the same company structure (see "2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online" on page 37). Via Views > Submitter, users may switch to lower access levels to hide requests from other companies or contacts.

Additionally, requests from any address linked to the user's address via the **Has ticket access** link will be displayed starting with the **All my company's requests** access level (see "11.3.5 Links" on page 185).

This setting will be preserved via a cookie (see UserSettings on page 128).

• View: Via Views > View, users may change the list format.

All formats entered in the configuration of a list will be available for selection here.

# 10.9 Detail view and actions

Clicking a request's line in a request list opens the detail view.

Helpdesk online x +		- 🗆 X
← → C	4DA1A30BA0C3681332	☆ ⊖ :
Documentation FAQ Requests		JB Jack Bauer ~
Close ticket		
Form 12 E4 won't react Form 12 E4 won't react.	Number Ticket type Submitter Customer	24 Error Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS NOMOSYS
Solution Was resolved by development.	Status Created on Changed on Priority	In process by support 12/3/2018 9:33 AM 12/3/2018 4:14 PM High
JB Jack Bauer Mon, 12/3/2018 4:14 PM Portal action: Reopen ticket Hello Mr. Grayhound, the error reoccurred. Could you please look at this again?	Product Version Area Service agreement	CRM Groupware CP 3.1 11 CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Addresses Service agreement NOMOSYS
Thank you, Jack Bauer	Documents	Error.png
JB Jack Bauer Mon, 12/3/2018 2:55 PM Thank you once more for your support!		
JB Jack Bauer Mon, 12/3/2018 2:50 PM Portal action: Close ticket Thank you!		
PG Peter Grayhound Mon, 12/3/2018 12:33 PM Error should be resolved.		

The following information about a request is displayed here if the associated fields have been entered. Empty fields are not displayed in the detail view.

- Request, Solution and Notes
- Number
- Ticket type
- Submitter and Customer
- Status, Created on, Changed on and Priority
- Product, Version and Area
- Service agreement
- Reference (Manufacturer), Reference (Submitter)
- Documents: All documents linked to the request are displayed here. Clicking on the associated button will open or download the file.

Clicking < will take the user back to the request list from which he opened the request.

Via actions, requests can be edited in the detail view.

Available actions will appear in the lower navigation bar.

An action can encompass the following steps.

- Enter a comment (will be written in the notes field with date and time.)
- Upload file(s) (will be linked to the request as documents and therefore appear in the dossier as well as in the request's detail view in Helpdesk online.)

The maximum size is determined by the **Maximum size of archive documents** setting under **Miscellaneous** > **Documents** in the Management Console and may not exceed 2 GB. Additionally, the MaxRequestLength and MaxAllowedContentLength IIS settings are considered here. If either value is smaller than the maximum size of archive documents setting, the maximum size is equal to the smaller one.

Trying to upload a larger file will display the maximum size.

- Change submitter
- Change product version
- Change priority
- Change field values of the request; for example, change the status to complete a request, reopen a completed request or record another change of status.

Each action will be written into the request's notes with a time stamp and the name of the portal user who has executed the action.

## Visualization of notes and editing of comments

In the Mangement Console, you select one of two modes for notes visualization and editing of comments (see **"Visualization of comments**" on page 156):

 As chat (default): Formatting isn't displayed and isn't available when entering comments. The inidividual entries are visually grouped by author and point of time as dinstinguished by timestamps.

An example of this display mode is shown on page 138.

 As formatted content: Formatting is displayed and is available when entering comments. The individual entries in the notes field are grouped by author and point of time via timestamps only.

An example for this display mode is shown on page 140.

Documentation FAQ Requests			JB Jack Bauer v
Enter a comment     Upload file     Close ticket	l i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		
Saving customer form not possible "Save" button in customer form not working	Enter a comment	× Number Ticket type Submitter Customer	31 Error Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS Inc. Daway I tri
Fri, 11/27/2020 5:48 PM (Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS Inc.) - Portal action: Enter a comment URGENT: All international customers are affected!		Status Created on Changed on Priority	New 11/27/2020 1:00 PM 11/27/2020 5:48 PM High
Fri, 11/27/2020 1:00 PM (Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS Inc.) - New request: Report problem		Product Version Area	ERP Software 11 ERP Software   Database management   Addresses
		Service agreeme	nt Service agreement Dewey Ltd.
	Send Discard		

# Sending links for opening the detail view

The TicketDetails.aspx page can also be opened directly via the following links display a request, replacing https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/ by your system's URL and {gguid} or {tsknumber} by the associated field value.

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/TicketDetails.aspx?gguid={gguid}

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/TicketDetails.aspx?ticketnumber={tsknumber}

You can embed links to a ticket's detail view in e-mails regarding this ticket sent via ticket actions or by the notification and action service. How exactly links are embedded differs:

- Ticket actions: Here, separate variables for links to the detail view and request for feedback are available in the e-mail editor under Response (see "Edit e-mail" on page 31). This feature must be enabled by entering the link prefix in the Helpdesk area of the Management Console under Helpdesk online > General (see "Link" on page 155).
- Notification and action service: Here you must insert the links as hyperlinks into the e-mails to send using the {gguid} variable (written in this fashion including the curly brackets). The Notification and action service only supports the {gguid} variable. The {tsknumber} parameter isn't supported here (see "12 Notification and support account" on page 195).

# 10.10 Creating a request

When a request type is selected in the **New request** menu, a form opens for entering the new request of the selected request type. Exactly what can be entered here depends on the configuration of the request type. The following description includes optional entries.

#### Note

Users can filter any drop-down menus in the form like the customer, product and version selection by typing. Only menu options in which the entered search term appears will then be displayed.

Helpdesk online	× -	+	– 🗆 X
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ $C$ $\cong$ https	://helpdesk.exa	mple.com/helpdesk/TicketCreate.aspx?requestGuid=0xD24FEF5FA60628449561A952BFE0555D	☆ \varTheta :
Documentation	FAQ	Requests	JB Jack Bauer ~
<			
		Report problem Please describe the problem.	
		This request is for	
		Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS	
		O Devemit Ltd. ~	
		Subject*	
		1	
		Request*	
		Description for reproduction	
		Upload	
		Store files here Browse	

This request is for: Via the Customer link, supervised customers can be assigned to partners in CAS genesisWorld (company to company). All customers assigned to the user's company this way are available for selection here. Additionally, any addresses linked directly to the user's address via the Has ticket access link are available (see "11.3.5 Links" on page 185).

Customers blocked for support are never available for selection (see "2.5 Blocking support entitlement" on page 36).

The customer selection will only appear if activated for the selected request type.

#### Request information

- **Subject:** Corresponds to the job field of the same name and is always mandatory.
- **Request:** Corresponds to the job field of the same name and is always mandatory.
- Additional information: Per request type, you may configurte up to two additional fields without associated job fields. In the error report example, the **Reproduction** instructions field has been configured as additional information field. The contents of these fields will be written into the notes when the ticket is created.

Optionally, you can set both fields as mandatory.

Additionally, one of both fields allows formatting if you have enabled this feature in the Management Console (see page 158)

• **Upload files:** If configured accordingly in the request, users can upload files here.

The maximum size is determined by the **Maximum size of archive documents** setting under **Miscellaneous** > **Documents** in the Management Console and may not exceed 2 GB. Additionally, the MaxRequestLength and MaxAllowedContentLength IIS settings are considered here. If either value is smaller than the maximum size of archive documents setting, the maximum size is equal to the smaller one.

When trying to upload a larger file, the maximum admissible size will be displayed.

- Product information
  - All top level feature areas are available for selection as products in Helpdesk online. Additionnally, all subareas that have been linked with a product are available for selection as products (see "11.1 Settings in the Database area" on page 147).
  - With the **Display only my products** option, the **Product** menu will be filtered, such that only products for which the entered customer has an active product use will be available for selection (see "Start and end of maintenance" on page 58).

This setting will be preserved via a cookie (see UserSettings on page 128).

- When a product is selected, the Version and Area menus are displayed. Here users select the version in use and the affected feature area.
- If there is at least one active product use for the selected customer and product, the **Product use** menu is displayed. If the selected customer has more than one active product use for the same product, the desired product use can be selected via the serial number. When a product use is selected, the version is entered automatically.
- Request types with the **Display only product uses and area** setting require only the selection of a **Product** and **Area**, automatically selecting the appropriate **Version** and **Product use** (see "Requests" on page 156). With this setting, only products with existing product uses for the entered customer will be available for selection, such that customers without any product uses won't be able to select a product.
- When the Enter parent product in the "Product" field option has been selected in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General, a product is also considered

as the customer's product if an active product use for another product which inherits the first product's versions exists for that customer. In this case, the **Product use** menu will also offer product uses for selection, whose products inherit the versions of the selected product.

- Service agreement
  - The service agreement can not directly be selected in Helpdesk online. Depending on your settings, it will be entered automatically or selected indirectly by the user via the product use.
  - If the Select service agreement automatically option has been selected in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General, an existing service agreement will always be selected automatically if there is exactly one service agreement which matches the associated filter which you also enter in the Management Console under Helpdesk > General. If no filter has been defined there, service agreements are filtered by Maintenance start and Maintenance end like product uses, where an empty date field always satisfies the associated condition. In the Management Console, under Helpdesk > General, you also specify whether the customer's or the submitter's service agreement should be used when both differ.
  - Regardless of the Select service agreement automatically option, when a product use is selected, the associated service agreement is also entered automatically. Like for automatic selection, service agreements are filtered. An existing service agreement is only selected if it matches the filter.
- Priority: Here users select the request's priority.

When service agreements and response times are used, priority levels must be cleared in the service agreement to be available for selection. If submission permissions are also used and have been entered in the selected service agreeement, only priority which the user is permitted to submit will be available for selection.

If no service agreement has been selected and response times are used, all priority levels that have been cleared for requests without a service agreement under **Helpdesk** > **Service agreements** will be available for selection.

The **Response time** depends on the priority and is taken from the selected service agreement. If no service agreement has been selected, the default response time for the selected priority for requests without a service agreement will be used.

You enter it in the Management Console under **Helpdesk > Service agreements**.

If the priority is displayed, the "Standard" suffix in the **Priority** field indicates that the default response time is used.

• **Reference (Submitter)** and **Reference (Manufacturer):** If the request has already been recorded in other ticket systems, users may enter the associated numbers here.

# 10.11 User menu

Clicking on the button labelled with the logged on user's name opens the user menu.

Helpdesk online	× +					– 🗆 X
$\leftrightarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $$ https://	/helpdesk.example.c	<b>com</b> /helpdesk/Ti	cketList.aspx			☆ \varTheta :
Documentation	FAQ	Request	S			JB Jack Bauer ~
						Change password
New request ~						Log off
Lists Open reque	sts Processe	ed requests	Response required Completed requests			Views ~
Number			Subject		Last change of status	-
Number		Ť	Subject	T	Last change of status	-
Number 31		۲	Subject Customer form not responding	T	Last change of status 11/29/2018 11:28 AM	• #
Number           31           30		٢	Subject Customer form not responding Sync issue	۲	Last change of status 11/29/2018 11:28 AM 11/29/2018 10:12 AM	• •
Number           31           30           29		۲	Subject Customer form not responding Sync issue "Retro" form localization	T	Last change of status 11/29/2018 11:28 AM 11/29/2018 10:12 AM 11/29/2018 8:25 AM	
Number           31           30           29           28		Ť	Subject Customer form not responding Sync issue "Retro" form localization No access to AXC03 server	۲	Last change of status 11/29/2018 11:28 AM 11/29/2018 10:12 AM 11/29/2018 8:25 AM 11/29/2018 7:15 AM	• 

The following options are available here.

• Change password: Here the user changes his password.

The minimum length will be checked if set in the Management Console (see "Activate password guideline for portal users" on page 155).

• Log off: Here the user logs off.

To continue working with Helpdesk online, he must log on again.

If the **Remember logon data** option has previously been selected, the user name will be retained in the associated cookie such that it may be automatically entered when the user accesses the logon page again.

The encrypted password will be deleted from the cookie.

In order to log on again, the user must reenter his password.
## 10.12 Modifying the appearance

The appearance of the individual Helpdesk online components is controlled via css files. You may find these in the css subdirectory of the installation directory of Helpdesk online (default C:\Inetpub\wwwroot\Helpdesk\css).

## Important notes for modifying the appearance

Please do not modify files in the css folder.

If you wish to modify the appearance of Helpdesk online, copy the css file(s) to modify to the Custom folder and modiy the copies as desired.

If a version of a css file is found in the Custom folder, it will be loaded in addition to the associated original file. All elements defined in the css file in the Custom folder will be loaded instead of the elements of the same name in the original file. Elements that haven't been defined in the Custom file will still be loaded from the original file. If desired, you can delete unmodified elements from the copies.

When you update to a more recent version of Helpdesk online, the contents of the Custom folder will be retained without changes.

If the css files shipped by default should ever change due to an update, changes will only be adopted for elements that aren't overwritten by css files in the Custom folder.

Please note that the css files have changed with version x9.

Modifications you have created for older versions are no longer compatible with the new version and must be created again based on the new css files if required.

- HelpdeskOnline.css: basic layout and components
- Login.css: logon page
- FAQList.css: FAQ search
- GridView.css: request lists and FAQ list
- DetailsView.css: request and FAQ item detail views
- TicketCreate.css: new request form
- Feedback.css: request for feedback
- PasswordReminder.css: Forgot password page
- ChangePassword.css: Change password page

# 10.13 Log file

The log file for Helpdesk online is usually located in the following path on the computer on which the application is running:

C:\Windows\Temp\genesisWorld\itdesign\GWHelpdeskOnline.log

# 11 Management Console settings

The following sections describe the Management Console settings for the Helpdesk module:

- 11.1 Settings in the Database area (page 147)
- 11.2 Settings in the Helpdesk area (page 148)
- 11.3 Settings in the Miscellaneous area (page 180)
- 11.4 Settings in the Time record area (page 187)

## 11.1 Settings in the Database area

In the **Database** area, you enter input helps for fields of requests (jobs) and other associated data records. Please note that the selection tree input help for the **Area** field of products is also used for requests (jobs) and FAQ items (documents).

However, the available input help items can only be edited under **Products**:



Via the **Area** field in the **General** tab of a product, you can assign a feature area to that product (see "5.1.1 General" on page 50). When you enter that area in a request or FAQ item, the product will also be entered automatically and vice versa.

Area product assignments will be be converted when updating from a version before x9.

In the **Database** area, you can also determine or change the types and status options used in Helpdesk for jobs (requests), projects, documents (FAQ items) and time records.

To do this, first select the required data record type in the left hand side list. Then select the **Type** or **Status** field and click on the **Input help** button.

## 11.2 Settings in the Helpdesk area

The following sections describe the settings in the Helpdesk area:

- 11.2.1 General (page 148)
- 11.2.2 Helpdesk online (page 154)
- 11.2.3 Hotline schedule (page 173)
- 11.2.4 Service agreements (page 174)
- 11.2.5 Tasks for tickets (page 176)
- 11.2.6 Groups (page 177)
- 11.2.7 Notification and languages (page 178)

## 11.2.1 General

Here you modify settings for tickets, for FAQ management, for notification, for time recording as well as for service agreements and product uses.

🛐 CAS genesisWorld Management	Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE						-		×
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp									
▲ Areas	General								
🔑 Helpdesk	Talata								
General	Ticket types	Project management	^	EAO type	FAO			~	
Helpdesk online	indice cypes	Training							
Hotline schedule		☑ Service ☑ Ticket	~	Time record type	Support			~	
Service agreements	Create tickets with priority	Medium	~	Project type	Support			~	
Groups				Project subject	Support				
Notification and languages	Create tickets with ticket type	Question	~	Enter parent pr	roduct in the "	Product" field.			
	Status for accepted tickets	In process by support	$\sim$	Notes					
	Status for completed tickets	Appointment arranged     Gampleted	^	Display internal	Inotes				
		Further process not required							
		In analysis by development	*	O Only display no	otes				
	"Error cause" field active	Question		Adopt notes from p	phone calls ar	nd e-mails			
	for ticket type	Product extension		Phone calls	never	external	() Inter	nal	
				E-mails			 ⊖ inter	and lea	
	Do not set "Responded on" field	Appointment arranged     Completed	^	L mais	Jiever	CALEMA	Unter		
	if status is changed to	Further process not required		Create ticket to e-n	mail				
		In analysis by development	*	Adopt subject line	ne as inquiry				
	Display serial number for product	t use		Adopt message	text as inquir	у			
				FAQ search Adopt product Use MS SQL fu Maximum h	t, version and ull-text search hits	l area			
	Customer and submitter			Miscellaneous					
	Submitter link to ticket must exist	t		Display "Inform su	ubmitter abou	it newly create	d ticket" pr	ompt	
	Use the following e-mail address of	the submitter as communication address:		✓ If requests	s are created	in the CAS gen	esisWorld	Desktop	Client
	Default e-mail 🗸 🗸			✓ If requests	s are created	in CAS genesis	World Wel	)	
	Allow product uses for contact p	ersons		Display the "Infor	rm submitter a	about changes"	prompt		
	Allow tickets and service agreem	ents for contact persons; adopt submitter as		✓ If changes	are made in	the CAS genesi	sWorld De	sktop Clie	ent
	customer in ticket			✓ If changes	are made in	CAS genesisWo	orld Web		
				Only notify if a	an e-mail addr	ress is entered	for the su	omitter	
				Use automatic	time recordin	ng for tickets			
	Use service agreements, response de	eadlines and submission permissions							
	Display service agreement	-							
	Filter All Service agree	ments	_ 0	Use service agreemen	nt of customer	r for differing a	ustomer		
	Air Sci Vice agree		Ϋ́O	Use service agreemen	nt of submitte	r for differing c	ustomer		
			$\checkmark$	Select service agreem	nent automatio	cally			
			$\checkmark$	Response deadline fro	om service ag	reement			
				Submission permiss	sions from ser	rvice agreemen	t		

 Tickets: Here you specify default values for the ticket fields Type, Priority, Ticket type and Status as well as types for FAQ documents, support time records and projects. For support projects, you may also specify the subject prefix here.

In addition, you make settings for the **Responded on** stamp, for ticket notes, for the FAQ search, for product uses and service agreements as well as for notifications and time records for tickets.

You may edit the available options for all fields for which you may enter default values here in the **Database** module under **Jobs** (tickets), **Documents** (FAQ), **Time records** and **Projects** via the respective field list's **Input help** button.

 Ticket types: Select here the job types to be used for tickets. When a ticket type is selected in a job, the Ticket tab is displayed in place of the General tab.

In new tickets you create for other data records by clicking on the ticket icon, the first ticket type will automatically be selected.

- Create tickets with priority: Select here the priority for new tickets.
- Create tickets with ticket type: Select here the default value for the Ticket type field.
- Status for accepted tickets: This status will be assigned to new tickets you create for other data records via the ticket icon.
- Status for completed tickets: Select here the status to mark completed tickets.
- "Error cause" field active for ticket type: In the default setting, the Error cause field displays the ticket type. Select here the ticket types for which an error cause may additionally be specified.
- Do not set the "Responded on" field if status is changed to: In the default setting, a ticket's Responded on field will be set to the current point of time once the status is changed. In tickets created with an entry in the Status field, the Responded on field will be set directly when those tickets are created.

Select here all status options whose assignment to a ticket is not supposed to create an entry in the **Responded on** field.

For example, select the **New** status, if tickets created via Helpdesk online are created with this status in order to only set the **Responded on** field in such tickets when a support employee changes the status again.

- Display serial number for product use: Here you control the display and storage format of the Product use ticket field in CAS genesisWorld Desktop and in CAS genesisWorld Web. In Helpdesk online, the serial number is displayed regardless of this option when selecting a product use. There, the new option only controls the storage format of the Product use field (with or without the serial number).
- **FAQ type:** Select here the type for FAQ documents. When this type is selected in a document, the **FAQ** tab will be displayed instead of the **General** tab.
- **Time record type:** Select here the type for time records in tickets.

- Project type: Select here the type for support projects under each of which all tickets for one customer will be collected.
- Project subject: Specify here the prefix for support projects' subjects. The customer company will also be written in the subject.
- Enter parent product in the "Product" field: With this option, when a product which adopts another product's versions is selected in a request, it is automatically replaced by the product whose versions it adopts.
- Notes: Here you specify whether the Internal notes field is available in tickets.
- Adopt notes from phone calls and e-mails: Here you determine whether, when a ticket is created for a phone call or an e-mail, the phone call notes or e-mail body will be transferred to the ticket's Notes or Internal notes field.
- Create ticket to e-mail: Here you determine whether creating a ticket for an e-mail will enter the e-mail's subject or body in the ticket's **Request** field. Regardless of this setting, the e-mail subject will always be transferred to the ticket's **Subject** field and the e-mail body will always be transferred to the ticket's **Notes** or **Internal notes** field (see previous setting).
- FAQ search: Here you modify FAQ search settings.

Select **Adopt product, version and area** if these data should automatically be transferred to the FAQ search as a filter.

Select **Use MS SQL full text search** to activate the full text search. When the SQL full text search is activated, it is initially assembled in the SQL server. All text fields in jobs and documents will be indexed. Depending on the number of data records to be indexed this may take up to several minutes.

You can limit the number of hits for the purposes of accelerating search queries over large data pools with the **Maximum hits** setting. The number of hits will be displayed in the FAQ search. If more hits than the defined maximum were found, this is also indicated here.

- Customer and submitter: Here you make settings for the customer and submitter in a ticket as well as for the customer links in product uses and service agreements.
  - Submitter link to ticket must exist: Here you specify whether a ticket must be linked to a submitter. This option is selected by default, such that the submitter link is mandatory.

Deactivate this option to allow creating tickets for e-mails which have no primary address because the sender is unknown.

This applies to manual ticket creation as well as automatic creation via a support account (see "12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account" on page 218).

• Use the following e-mail address of the submitter as communication address: For tickets created without a submitter for inbound e-mails sent to the support account (see "12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account" on page 218), the sender's e-mail address will be stored in the **Communication** field.

Here you specify for tickets with a submitter link, from which address field the e-mail address should be entered in the ticket's **Communication** field.

The default setting is **Default e-mail** (as selected in the address). Alternatively, you may select an e-mail field.

 Allow product uses for contact persons: Here you specify whether product uses may only be created for companies or also for contact persons.

This option is deactivated by default. In this case, every product use created for a contact person will automatically be assigned to the associated company.

 Allow tickets and service contracts for contact persons; adopt submitter as customer in ticket: Here you specify whether contact persons may be entered as customers in service agreements and tickets. With this setting, the submitter is also entered as customer when a ticket is created.

This option is deactivated by default. This means that only companies may be entered as customers in service agreements and tickets.

- Miscellaneous: Here you configure the automatic notification of the submitter about tickets newly created or modified in the Desktop Client or Web Client as well as the automatic time recording.
  - Select Display "Inform submitter about newly created ticket" prompt, if a prompt for notification should appear when a new ticket is created in CAS genesisWorld ("Do you wish to inform the submitter about the newly created ticket automatically?")

If a user confirms the prompt when creating a ticket, the **Notification change** option will be set in the ticket.

When the prompt is disabled, the **Notification change** option will not be set in new tickets and submitters will never be notified about them automatically.

To set up notification by the notification and action service, you must specify a rule reacting to newly created jobs with this option (see "12.3 Notifying the submitter about changes in a ticket" on page 205).

 Select Display "Inform submitter about changes" prompt if users should be prompted to confirm the submitter's notification when the notes or solution field changes in a ticket ("You have changed the notes or solution field. Do you wish the submitter to be informed automatically about the change?")

If a user confirms the prompt when he saves a ticket, the **Notification change** field in the ticket will change (the field will switch between **true** and **false** during changes). In the Desktop Client, when the prompt is disabled, the **Notification change** field will be changed with each modification made to the **Notes** or **Solution** field in a ticket, triggering a notification if an according rule has been set up.

In the Web Client, no notification will ever be triggered without the prompt.

To set up notification by the notification and action service, you must specify a rule reacting to changes in this field in jobs (see "12.3 Notifying the submitter about changes in a ticket" on page 205).

With the Only notify if an e-mail address is entered for the submitter option, if a change occurs that triggers an e-mail notification, the field E-mail (business) in the submitter's address will first be checked. If it is empty, a note will appear stating that no e-mail address has been entered. The ticket will not be marked for notification.

If you turn the option off, the submitter's e-mail address will not be checked before a ticket is marked for notification. Changes about which the submitter could not be notified due to the lack of an e-mail address will appear in the action service's log.

- Select Use automatic time recording for tickets to display the stop watch in the top right corner of the Ticket tab. By clicking on the associated button the ticket is saved and closed and a time record is created for it.
- Use service agreements, response deadlines and submission permissions: Here you specify whether, and how, service agreements are used in ticket management.
  - Display service agreement: Here you specify whether the Service agreement field is displayed in the ticket.
  - Filter for service agreements: Here you specify filter conditions for the ticket's Service agreement field. The filter is also considered in Helpdesk online.

If you don't specify a filter here, all service agreements available for the customer will be available for selection in the ticket form in CAS genesisWorld.

Helpdesk online uses a default filter which will apply if you don't specify a filter here. A service agreement which is associated with a selected product use will then only be selected if it is already valid (**Start of maintenance** >= **"Today"**) and not yet expired (**End of maintenance** < **"Today"**). If either of these date fields is empty, the associated condition is also considered to be fulfilled. If both date fields are left blank in a service agreement, it is indefinitely valid.

- Use service agreement of customer for different customer: With this setting, when the submitter doesn't belong to the same company as the customer, all service agreements of the customer will be available for selection.
- Use service agreement of submitter for different customer: With this setting, when the submitter doesn't belong to the same company as the customer, all service agreements of the submitter's company as well as service agreements of associated contacts will be available for selection.

- Select service agreement automatically: With this option, whenever there is only service agreement available for selection in a ticket, it will be selected automatically.
- **Response deadline from service agreement:** Here you determine whether a response deadline depending on the priority will be displayed in tickets.

With this option selected, the **Response time** tab will be displayed in service agreements. Here you can record response deadlines for tickets subject to the service agreement. In addition, you may specify default values for tickets without a service agreement (see "11.2.4 Service agreements" on page 174.)

 Submission permissions from service agreement: Here you determine whether the selection of priority levels available in a ticket may be limited depending on the submitter via the service agreement.

With this option selected, the **Contact persons** tab will be displayed in service agreements. Here you select contact persons entitled to submit tickets and assign to each contact person the priority levels with which he may submit tickets.

In tickets for service agreements with submission permissions, only priority levels for which the submitter has been approved in the service agreement will be selectable.

In tickets for service agreements for which no submission permissions have been entered, all priority levels are always available.

### 11.2.2 Helpdesk online

Here you modify settings for logging on, for new requests, for ticket actions, for request lists as well as for the FAQ search in Helpdesk online.

- General (page 154)
- Requests (page 156)
- Lists (page 166)
- Detail view (page 169)
- FAQ (page 170)
- Personal area (page 172)

## General

In the **General** tab, you specify the displayed name of the service portal and enter the link for the service portal in order to use variables for links to the detail view of a ticket or to the request for feedback page in ticket actions. Moreover, you make general settings for logging on to Helpdesk online.

CAS genesisWorld Managemen	it Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE	-	×
rie <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> eip ◀ Areas	Helpdesk online		
Helpdesk General Helpdesk online Hotline schedule Service agreements Tasks for tickets Groups Notification and languages	General       Requests       Lists       Detail view       FAQ       Personal area         Portal start page       Title       Helpdesk online          Link       https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk          Example:       "https://helpdesk.cas.de/CASHelpdesk"         Logon and registration		
	User name E-mail (business)		
	Activate password guideline for portal users Minimum length of password 5 Require capital letters from A to Z Require lowercase letters from a to z Require digits from 0 to 9 Require special characters (e.g. 1\$#%) Visualization of comments The setting will be available as soon as the notes field for tickets has been entered as formatted text field in the database.		

#### Portal start page

- **Title:** Here you enter the title of the service portal to display on the logon page (default setting **Helpdesk online**).
- Link: Here you enter the internet link to your Helpdesk online installation, if you wish to use the associated variables in e-mails for ticket actions (see "Subject and body" on page 32).
- Logon and registration
  - User name: Here you select an address field which serves as user name to log on to Helpdesk online.

In the default setting, the E-mail (business) field is used.

The field title is displayed on the logon page.

You enter the associated password in the **Details** tab of the data record window for company contacts and individual contacts.

#### Note

When a user logs on to Helpdesk online via the specified user name, addresses stored in CAS genesisWorld are searched for an entry in which the given user name is stored in the associated field and the password as well as the tickets to display are taken from that address.

Therefore, you should absolutely select a field as user name which stores only values unique to each address. Users with duplicate user names will not be able to log on.

- Information for access lock: Enter here the note which appears if a contact who has been blocked for support tries to log on to Helpdesk online (see "2.5 Blocking support entitlement" on page 36).
- Activate password guideline for portal users: Select this to activate password requirements, then select the desired requirements.
  - Minimum length
  - Require capital letters
  - Require lowercase letters
  - Require digits
  - Require special characters

This setting is regarded when setting or changing the password for an address in the CAS genesisWorld Desktop client as well as in Helpdesk online when customers set or change their own passwords.

- Visualization of comments: Here you control the edit and display mode for comments in Helpdesk online.
  - Display comments as chat (without formatted content): This is the default setting. With this setting, formatting in the Notes field won't be displayed in Helpdesk online and won't be available when entering comments. In this mode, the notes will be displayed in Helpdesk online with a graphical grouping by author and point of time.
  - Display comments as formatted content: This setting is available after selecting the Allow formatting option for the Notes field of Jobs in the Database area of the Management Console. In this mode, formatting in ticket notes will be displayed and available when entering comments in Helpdesk online.

The graphical grouping by author and point of time isn't available in this mode. This information is given in the time stamp which is automatically inserted when someone enters a comment in Helpdesk online.

## Requests

In the **Requests** tab, you define different kinds of requests, each with an individual preselection of the most important ticket fields, as well as ticket actions available to users of Helpdesk online.

<u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp								
Areas	Helpdesk online							
Helpdesk	General Requests Li	sts Detail view Fi	AO Perso	nal area				
neral	Overview of requests							
odesk online	🗋 New 🥒 Edit	🗖 Duplicate 🗙 D	elete	1				
line schedule vice agreements	Name	Description		Type	User filter	Ticket type		
ks for tickets	Question			Ticket	All Addresses	Question		
ups	Report problem	Please describe the p	problem.	Ticket	All Addresses	Error		
ification and languages	Suggestion	Please describe your	r idea.	Ticket	All Addresses	Product exter	nsion	
				Ticket	All Addresses	Error		
	Actions	Duplicate 🗙 D	Delete   1	\$				
	Actions New / Edit	Duplicate X D	Delete	Status	User filter	Target	status	
	Actions New / Edit Name Enter a comment Lineard file	Duplicate X D Type Ticket	Delete 1 Ticket type (No filter) (No filter)	Status New; In process by sup	User filter port; All Addresses	Target :	status	
	Actions New C Edit Name Enter a comment Upload file Close ticket	Duplicate X D Type Ticket Ticket	Delete 1 Ticket type (No filter) (No filter) (No filter)	Status New; In process by sup New; In process by sup	User filter port; All Addresses port; All Addresses	Target :	status	
	Actions New C Edit Name Enter a comment Upload file Close ticket Reopen ticket	Duplicate X D Type Ticket Ticket Ticket Ticket	Pelete Ticket type (No filter) (No filter) (No filter) (No filter)	Status New; In process by sup New; In process by sup New; In process by sup Completed	User filter port; All Addresses port; All Addresses All Addresses All Addresses	Target a Complet	status ted ess by support	

Requests: In the upper list, you enter request types which will be available for selection in the New request menu in Helpdesk online. For each request type, you specify which entries the Helpdesk online user can make for it. You also enter preselections for other ticket fields that the user can't see or edit in Helpdesk online.

**Create new request:** Here you create a new request type.

Edit request: Here you edit the selected request type. Alternatively, you can open a request type for editing by double-clicking on the associated list entry.

Duplicate request: Here you create a copy of the selected request type.

**X** Delete request: Here you delete the selected request type.

**T** Edit order: Use the arrow buttons to modify the order of request types. The request types are displayed in the same order in the New request menu in Helpdesk online.

Edit request				×
Name	Report problem			
Description	Please describe	the problem.		
Primary proje	ct			
Use supp	port project settir	igs		
O Use own	project selection			
Filter				$\forall$
Define sorti	ng for primary pro	ojects		
Fields	Start (descend	ng)		/
Display Def Optional ent Additio Mar Additio Mar Upload Docum	ault values Filte ries that are displ nal information 1 ndatory field nal information 2 ndatory field I file ent defaults	r ayed for this request Description for reproduction ✓ Use the HTML editor Use the HTML editor	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Customer selection  Project  Mandatory field  The area is a mandatory field  Display only product uses and area  Priority Respond until (read-only) Reference (Submitter) Reference (Manufacturer)
				OK Cancel

- Name: The request type is listed under this name in the New request menu in Helpdesk online.
- **Description:** Enter here notes for the request type. The description is displayed in the header oft he associated online form when requests of this type are entered.

- Primary project: Specify here whether requests of the current type should be linked to the support project of the submitter's company (Use support project settings), or to another project linked to the submitter's company or one of its contacts (Use own project selection).
  - With the Use own project selection setting, all projects whose primary address is the submitter's company or an associated contact are added to the selection first. You can use the Filter to limit the selection, for example to only display projects whose end date is in the future or which have a certain type or status.
  - With the Define sorting for primary projects setting, you specify the order in which suitable projects are offered for selection in Helpdesk online. When the project selection is disabled for the current request type, the first project in the configured sorting is automatically entered.
- Display: The Display tab in the request type configuration offers optional entries and information for selection:
  - The Additional information 1 and 2 fields serve for additional entries. They will be written into the ticket's notes field under the respective title defined here for requests of the current type.

You may configure both of these fields as Mandatory.

You may also **Use the HTML editor** for one of the two fields if formatting is allowed for the **Notes** field of jobs and has been enabled for comments in Helpdesk online in the **General** tab of the associated settings (see page 156).

- With the Upload file option, you specify whether a file upload dialog should appear when a request is created. If desired, specify field values with which uploaded files should be created as documents in CAS genesisWorld under Document defaults. This way you ensure that the documents match the associated filter and will be displayed in Helpdesk online once uploaded.
- With the Customer selection option, partners are offered all of their serviced customers for selection in addition to their own company when submitting a request. This requires that the companies of a partner's customers have been entered in CAS genesisWorld and are linked to the partner's company via the Partner/Customer link.
- The Project option displays the project selection in the request. All projects defined under Primary project are offered for selection here. This option serves to enter project requests as opposed to support tickets. If you have set up requests of the current request type to be linked to the support project, this setting is usually not required because there is only one support project per submitting company.
- Select the **Priority** option to allow the user to select a request's priority. Alternatively, you can specify the priority for new requests under **Default values**. If you activate selection of the priority in Helpdesk online under **Display** and also

specify the priority of new requests under **Default values**, the selected preselection will be entered in the **Priority** field in Helpdesk online when a request is entered.

When response times are used, the selection in the **Priority** field will be limited by the service agreement or by the default settings for tickets without a service agreement (see "**Priority**" on page 18).

• With the **Product** option, you activate the selection of a product and area.

In Helpdesk online, all first level areas will be available for selection as products.

Additionally, all subareas linked with a product in the Management Console will be available for selection as products (see "5.1.1 General" on page 50).

You may also set each the **Product** and **Area** as a **Mandatory field** here.

With the **Display only product uses and area** option, instead of selecting the product and version independently, both are selected via a product use.

Please note that this setting requires that product uses have been entered for a customer in order to select a product in associated requests.

When you have activated response deadlines under Helpdesk > General > Use service agreements, response deadlines and submission permissions in the Management Console, you may display the valid response deadline in the request with the Respond until (read-only) option.

The response deadline depends on the priority and is taken from the selected service agreement.

If no service agreement has been selected, the response deadline is taken from the default settings for tickets without a service agreement. This is indicated by the **(Standard)** suffix in the **Priority** field.

- The Reference (Submitter) and Reference (Manufacturer) fields serve to enter ticket numbers from the system of the submitter or manufacturer of the affected product. If, for example, a partner who operates an own Helpdesk system submits the request of a customer which he cannot solve on his own, he enters the ticket number from his system for reference in the Reference (Submitter) field.
- Default values: In the Default values tab, you select field values with which requests of the current type are created.

Edit request					×
Name	Report problem				
Description	Please describe	the problem.			
Primary proje	ect				
Use sup	port project settin	igs			
O Use own	n project selection				
Filter					Y
Define sort	ing for primary pro	ojects			
Fields	Start (descendi	ing)		 	
Display De	fault values Filte	r			
Field		Value			
🥖 Type		Ticket	$\sim$		
🥖 Status		New	~		
🦯 Ticket t	ype	Error	~		
🧪 Error ca	use		~		
🧷 Priority			~		
音 Team		Support	~		
📸 Employe	e		~		
📸 Respon	sible team		~		
🔐 Respon	sible employee		~		
				OK	Cancel

• You may only select a value in the **Type** field if multiple ticket types are used.

This may be used to tell tickets creted via Helpdesk online from such submitted through other channels.

You can use the entry in the Status field to tell new tickets created via Helpdesk online apart from tickets submitted through other channels.

Specify a status which is only used in Helpdesk online for this (e.g., New).

You may analyze the response duration by excluding this status from updates of the **Responded on** field (see "**Do not set the "Responded on" field if status is changed to**" on page 149).

 Specify the request type in the **Ticket type** field. In the default setting, only the Question, Error and Improvement items will be available for selection here.

You may create further items in the **Database** area of the Management Console under **Jobs** as input help items for the **Ticket type** field.

- The Error cause field is available for selected items in the Ticket type field, in the default setting for the Error request type. Any other items in the Ticket type field will be repeated in the Error cause field, which can't be changed in this case.
- Enter the default priority for requests of the current type in the **Priority** field.

If you have selected the **Priority** option in the **Display** tab, you specify here the preselection of the **Priority** menu in the request.

When response times are used, the selection in the **Priority** field is limited by the service agreement or by the default settings for tickets without a service agreement (see "**Priority**" on page 18). Please note that not all values available here will always be available for selection in Helpdesk online as well in this case.

The Team, Employee, Responsible team and Responsible employee fields serve to preselect the responsibility.

Enter here groups and, if desired, users, responsible for new requests of the current type. Please note that if you select nothing here, tickets will be created with the **All (public)** entry in the **Participants** field and will thus be visible for all employees who have at least reading access to jobs.

• **Filter:** In the **Filter** tab, you may limit access to this request type by selecting users (addresses with access to Helpdesk online), for which it should be available via filter conditions. The request will then no longer be available for selection for other Helpdesk online users.

Edit request			$\times$
Name	Report problem		
Description	Please describe the problem.		
Primary proje	-t		
Use sup	oort project settings		
O Use own	project selection		
Filter			$\forall$
Define sorti	ng for primary projects		
Fields	Start (descending)		1
Display Def Visibility of re Filter for He	ault values Filter quest pdesk users All Addresses		7
		OK Can	icel

Actions: In the lower list, you specify which actions will be available in a request's detail view in Helpdesk online. For each action, you specify via filters for which requests it will be available and enter changes in ticket fields made by the action. You also specify whether the user can enter a comment and upload a file when executing the action in Helpdesk online.

**Create new action:** Here you create a new action.

Edit action: Here you edit the selected action. Alternatively you can open an action for editing by double-clicking on the associated list entry.

Duplicate action: Here you create a copy of the selected action.

- X Delete action: Here you delete the selected action.
- **Change order:** Use the arrow buttons to modify the order of actions. The actions are displayed in the same order in a request's detail view in Helpdesk online.

൙ Edit A	ction		-		×
Name	Upload file				
Description					
Filter (	Change field values	More steps			
Туре		Ticket		0	1
Ticket typ	be	(No filter)		0	1
Status		New; In process by support; Response from submitter required; Solution suggested			1
Filter for	Helpdesk users	All Addresses			7
		0	ς	Can	cel

- Name: The action will be listed under this name in a request's detail view in Helpdesk online.
- Description: Enter notes for the action here. When the action is executed, the description will be displayed in the header of the associated online form.
- Filter: Select here via entries of the Type, Ticket type and Status fields, for which requests the action is available. Via Filter for Helpdesk users, you may limit access to selected users (addresses with access to Helpdesk online).

 Change field values: Here you specify target values set by the action for each of the fields Type, Status, Ticket type, Error cause, Priority, Team, Employee, Responsible team and Responsible employee.

Select the **<No change>** option for all fields that should not be changed by the action.

൙ Edi	t Action			-		×
Name	Upload file					
Descript	ion					
Filter	Change field values Mo	pre steps				
Fiel	d	Value				
1	Туре	Ticket	~			
1	Status	<no change=""></no>	$\sim$			
1	Ticket type	<no change=""></no>	$\sim$			
1	Error cause	<no change=""></no>	~			
1	Priority	<no change=""></no>	~			
6	Team	<no change=""></no>	~			
6	Employee	<no change=""></no>	~			
6	Responsible team	<no change=""></no>	~			
6	Responsible employee	<no change=""></no>	~			
				ОК	Cano	el

൙ Edit Acti	n	-		×
Name	Upload file			
Description				
Filter Cha	nge field values More steps			
Show dia	alog to enter a comment			
Allow	saving only for a filled-in commentary field			
Show dia	alog to upload files			
Documer	nt defaults 🧷			
Only	allow saving if a file has been selected			
Show dia	alog to change the submitter			
Show dia	alog to change the product version			
Show dia	alog to change the priority			
		ЭК	Cano	el

• **More steps:** Here you specify which entries the user can make when executing the action in Helpdesk online.

With the Show dialog to enter a comment option, the user can enter a comment when executing the action, which will then be written in the request's notes.

Also select the **Allow saving only for a filled-in commentary field** option to make the comment mandatory.

With the Show dialog to upload files option, the user can upload an arbitrary number of files when executing the action, which will be stored as documents in CAS genesisWorld and linked with the request. If desired, specify field values with which uploaded files should be created as documents in CAS genesisWorld under Document defaults. This way you ensure that the documents match the associated filter and will be displayed in Helpdesk online once uploaded.

Also select the **Only allow saving if a file has been selected** option to make the file upload mandatory.

With the Show dialog to change the submitter option, the user can change the request's submitter when executing the action. All active contacts of the logged on user's company will be available for selection.

- With the **Show dialog to change the product version** option, the user can change the product version when executing the action. For this, a product must have been specified in the request.
- With the Show dialog to change the priority option, the user can change the request's priority when executing the action. When response times are used, the selection in the Priority field is limited by the service agreement or by the default settings for tickets without a service agreement (see "Priority" on page 18).

When submission permissions are also used, only priority levels which the logged on user is permitted to submit will be available for selection. Please note that not the submission permissions of the entered submitter but those of the logged on user are considered here.

### Lists

In the Lists tab, you define list formats and list views.

List formats determine the selection of fields and sorting of the associated list. A list view can use one or more list formats. If more than one list format has been assigned to a list view, Helpdesk online users can switch between the available list formats when the list view is selected.

In the properties of a list view, you select the used list formats and determine, via a job filter, which tickets will be displayed.

Additionally, a project filter is available here in order to define project request lists. With the default setting for the project filter in a new list, **Use support project as filter**, only support tickets will be displayed.

<table-of-contents> CAS genesisWorld Managemen</table-of-contents>	t Console (localhost) - EXAMP	LE					-	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp								
◀ Areas	Helpdesk online							
▲ Areas          Image: Areas         Image: Areas         Image: Areas         Image: Areas         Helpdesk online         Hotins schedule         Service agreements         Tasks for tickets         Groups         Notification and languages	Helpdesk online General Requests Lists List views Available list formats for list Name Field Advanced Num Compact Num Standard Num List views available online New Catit C D Description Open requests Response required Completed requests	Detail view FAQ Person Views buplicate X Delete dis ber, Status, Request, Solution, ber, Status, Request, Solution, ber, Status, Request, Solution, ther, Status, Request, Solution, status, Subject, Last changed fist ther, Status is identical with Status is identical with Status is identical with	Last change of status, Submitter, atus ge of status, Submitter Project filter Use support project as filter Use support project as filter Use support project as filter Use support project as filter	, Customer User filter Al Addresse Al Addresse Al Addresse	Sorting Last chang Last chang Last chang Set chang Set chang Set chang Set chang Set chang Set chang Set chang Set chang Last chang	ge of status (descending) ge of status (descending) ge of status (descending) ge of status (descending) List formats Compact, Standard Standard, Advanced Standard, Advanced Compact, Standard, Advance	d	

 Available list formats for list views: Here you define list formats, each of which specifies the selection of fields and sorting of the associated lists.

Create new list format: Here you create a new list format.

Edit list format: Here you edit the selected list format. Alternatively you open a list format for editing by double-clicking on the associated list entry.

Duplicate list format: Here you copy the selected list format.

X Delete list format: Here you delete the selected list format.

				_
me Advanced				_ ·
iold coloction				
ield selection				
Available fields	Selec	ted fields	T	÷
% completed Activity status Actual costs Actual costs Actual time Actual turnover Area Budget Category Changed by Changed on Charged Comment Communication Completion Created by Created on Duration Employee	↑ → Numi Stat Solut Last Subn Cust	ber (150 Pixel) us (150 Pixel) uest (150 Pixel) ion (150 Pixel) change of status (150 Pixel) itter (150 Pixel) omer (150 Pixel)		
End	•			
	Widt	1		
Sorting La	t change of status (descending)			
Date fields				
O Display only date	Display	date and time		

- Name: Name the list format here. The name serves to assign the list format to lists and will be displayed in the list format menu in Helpdesk online if more than one list format has been assigned to a list.
- Field selection: Select the desired fields here. Use the arrow buttons above the **Selected fields** list to define the field order. Specify the desired width for each field in the **Width** field. Please note that these entries will be translated into relative values in Helpdesk online and the specified width can therefore differ from the actual value.
- Click on the **Sorting** button to select an arbitrary number of sorting fields. Note that sorting fields don't need to be visible. For each sorting field, you determine whether the sorting will be ascending or descending. Use the arrow buttons above the list of sorting fields in order to specify the sorting order.
- **Date fields:** Specify here whether date fields are displayed with only the date or with the time of day as well.

- List views available online: Here you define list views, the properties of which specify the tickets to display via a filter as well as the list formats to use.
  - **Create new list view:** Here you create a new list view.
  - Edit list view: Here you edit the properties of the selected list view. Alternatively you open the properties of a list view by double-clicking on the associated list entry.
  - Duplicate list view: Here you copy the selected list view.
  - X Delete list view: Here you delete the selected list view.
  - **Change order:** Use the arrow buttons to modify the order of list views. The list views will be displayed in the same order in the navigation bar in Helpdesk online.

<table-of-contents> Edit list view</table-of-contents>			_		×
Caption	Open requests				
Filter	Status is identical with Neu				Y
Project filter	Use support project as filter				
	O Use own project filter				
	All Projects				T
Filter for Helpdesk users	All Addresses				7
List Number of entries Allocated list form	per page 30 × Allow filtering in columns	Allow grouping			
Available	Allocate	ed		î	+
Advanced	→     Compassion       ↓     ↓	sct ard			
			ОК	Ca	ncel

- **Caption:** Name the list view here. The list will be available for selection under this name in the navigation bar in Helpdesk online.
- Filter: Enter here filter conditions for the requests to display.
- Project filter: Lists with the default setting Use support project as filter display requests linked to a support project. Alternatively, you select projects for which requests should be displayed via filter conditions.

- Filter for Helpdesk users: Here you may limit access to this list to selected users (addresses with access to Helpdesk online).
- List: Here you specify how many entries will be displayed per page and whether users can filter and group in the list in Helpdesk online. Enter 0 in the Number of entries per page field in order to always load all entries.
- Allocated list formats: Here you select the list formats to use. If you have selected
  more than one list format, use the arrow buttons above the Allocated list to define
  the order in which list formats appear in the associated menu in Helpdesk online.

#### Detail view

In the **Detail view** tab, you specify whether a service agreement, if linked to a request, should be displayed in the request's detail view and whether users may download associated documents in a request's detail view.

🛞 CAS genesisWorld Management 🤅	Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE	-	×
<u>File A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp			
Eile Areas Help	Helpdesk online         General Requests Lists       Detail view       FAQ       Personal area         Request details       Display service agreement information online         Ø Make documents referring to request available online       Filter       All Documents         Filter       All Documents       ¥		

- Display service agreement informationen online: Determine here whether the detail view of a request should display the associated service agreement if there is one.
- Make documents referring to requests available online: Specify here whether documents linked to a request should be available for download in the request's detail view. Additionally you can define a filter to only make linked documents available if they match the filter conditions.

## FAQ

In the FAQ tab, you configure the FAQ search in Helpdesk online.

CAS genesisWorld Managemen	t Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE				-	$\times$
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp						
◄ Areas	Helpdesk online					
📁 Helpdesk	General Requests Lists Detail vie	w FAQ Personal area				
General	FAQ search settings					
Helpdesk online	FAQ status for search without logon	Internal	1			
Hotine schedule		Public (displayed in Helpdesk online)				
Tasks for tickets	FAQ status for search	Internal	1			
Groups	with logon	Public (displayed in Helpdesk online)				
Notification and languages	Fields available for search	Subject, Request, Solution, Notes	/			
		Enable online selection of fields	-			
	Fields shown in hit list	Date, Request, Solution, Product, Area, Version from, Version to	1 🥒			
	Default sort order in hit list	Date (descending)	/			
	Date fields	Display only date				
		O Display date and time				
	Initial FAQ search view	5 atest entries				
	Number of hits after FAQ search	30 per page				
	Options available for the hit	Allow filtering in columns				
	list	Allow grouping				
	Language filter for FAQ entries	Display the language filter in Helpdesk online				
	Documents referring to FAQ document					
	Make documents attached to FAQ document available online					
	Filter	Type is identical with FAQ	Y			
	P.					

- FAQ status for search without logon: Here you determine, by selecting one or more status options, which FAQ documents will be available without logging on to Helpdesk online. If you do not select any status options here, the FAQ search will not be available without logging on.
- FAQ status for search with logon: Here you determine, by selecting one or more status options, which FAQ documents will be available after logging on to Helpdesk online. All status options selected under FAQ status for search without logon are automatically selected here as well. If you don't select any status options in either FAQ status selection box, the FAQ search will not be available at all in Helpdesk online.
- Fields available for search: Here you determine which fields of the FAQ documents are going to be searched.
  - **Enable online selection of fields:** Specify here whether users may select the fields to search in Helpdesk online.
- Fields shown in hit list: Here you select the fields with which FAQ documents will be displayed. Use the arrow buttons above the Selected fields list to specify the order. Enter the desired width for each field in the Width field.

Please note that these entries will be translated into relative values in Helpdesk online and the specified width can therefore differ from the actual value.

 Default sort order in hit list: Here you select by which fields and in which order (ascending or descending) the FAQ list in Helpdesk online will be sorted by default.

- **Date fields:** Specify here whether date fields are displayed with only the date or with the time of day as well.
- Initial FAQ search view: Here you determine whether the latest FAQ documents will be displayed when opening the FAQ search.

To this end, enter the desired number of FAQ documents to display. The FAQ documents with the newest entry in the **Date** field will be displayed.

Select **0** if no FAQ entries should be displayed when opening the FAQ search.

 Number of hits after FAQ search: Specify here how many FAQ entries will be displayed at most after a search request. If less FAQ entries are found, only the found entries will be displayed.

Select **0**, if all entries should always be displayed.

- **Options available for the hit list:** Here you determine whether users may filter and group in the result list of the FAQ search in Helpdesk online.
- Language filter for FAQ entries: Here you specify whether a language selection will be displayed for the result list of the FAQ search. With this, the list may be filtered by the **Document language** field of FAQ documents. The filter will be available regardless of whether the **Document language** field is actually displayed in the result list.
- Documents referring to FAQ document: Specify here whether documents linked to an FAQ document should be available for download in Helpdesk online. Additionally, you can define a filter in order to only make linked documents available which match the filter conditions.

#### Personal area

In the **Personal area** tab, you can include any internet page as a separate section in the navigation of Helpdesk online. This way, you can display news of your company or a portal page like the CAS help page (<u>http://hilfe.cas.de/index-en.html</u>).

• To do this, enter a **Title** and **URL**.

You can enter the title in multiple languages via the button with the three dots.

The URL can not be entered depending on the language.

• Select **Use as start page after logon** if Helpdesk online should start with this view.

With this setting, the personal area will be the first section.

Without this setting, it will be the last section.

<table-of-contents> CAS genesisWorld Management</table-of-contents>	Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE	-	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp			
CAS genessWorld Management Eile Areas Help  Areas General Helpdesk General Helpdesk online Hotine schedule Service agreements Tasks for tickets Groups Notification and languages	Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE         Helpdesk online         General Requests Lists Detail view FAQ Personal area         Settings         Show personal area         Use as start page after logon         Title Documentation         URL http://hilfe.cas.de/index-en.html         e.g. "http://hilfe.cas.de/index-en.html"		×

## 11.2.3 Hotline schedule

You enter hotline schedules for calculating response deadlines.

In a service agreement, you specify a hotline schedule for each priority level alongside the maximum response time. The actual deadline at which a response is due will be calculated from the duration and hotline schedule.

## Example

A request is submitted on Friday at 16:30. A response deadline of one day and four hours is entered. With the hotline schedule displayed in the screen shot, a response is due Monday by 12:00.

CAS genesisWorld Managemer	nt Console (localhost	) - EXAMPLE													-		×
Areas	Hotline sched	ule															
Helpdesk General	🗋 🗙 🗐 Plati	inum	<ul> <li>✓ Halfh</li> <li>0 30 1</li> </ul>	our	3 30 4	30 5 30	6 30 7 30 8	30 9 30	10 30 11 30	12 30 13 30	14 30 15 3	0 16 30 1	7 30 18 30	19 30 20	30 21 3	0 22 30	23 30
Helpdesk online Hotline schedule	Monday	17 hrs, 00 min	0 00 1		0 00 1				10 50 11 50		1100 100	. 10 00 1	,	10 00 10			20 00
Service agreements	Tuesday	17 hrs, 00 min															
Tasks for tickets	Wednesday	17 hrs, 00 min															
Groups	Thursday	17 hrs, 00 min				_											
Notification and languages	Friday	17 hrs, 00 min				_											
	Saturday	17 hrs, 00 min				_											
	Sunday	12 hrs, 00 min															
	Working hours	Free time															

- New: Here you create a new hotline schedule. The new hotline schedule will automatically be selected to edit.
- **X** Delete: Here you delete the selected hotline schedule. You are asked for confirmation prior to deletion.

**Save:** Here you save the selected hotline schedule.

- Select schedule: If you work with different hotline schedules, select the desired hotline schedule in the left toolbar menu.
- **Change granularity:** In the right toolbar menu, you select the smallest distinguishable interval: quarter hours, half hours or hours.
- Enter schedule: Select a period with the mouse and click Working hours to signify support entitlement or click Free time to delete a marking you have entered.

## 11.2.4 Service agreements

If you have selected the **Use response deadline** option under **Helpdesk** > **General**, you clear priority levels for requests without a service agreement and enter response deadlines and hotline hours for them here.

In this case, you also select here the country and federal state whose holidays should be regarded when calculating the response deadline for requests without a service agreement. These are also the default settings for new service agreements.

When response deadlines are used, you also preselect here the priority levels for new service agreements and enter presettings for response deadlines and hotline hours for them.

Regardless of the **Use response deadline** option, you enter here presettings for the **Maintenance rate** field in new service agreements depending on the **Maintenance interval** selected by the user in the service agreement. You also specify here whether the maintenance amount should automatically be calculated when a service agreement is opened.

CAS genesisWorld Manageme	ent Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE -	×
Eile Areas Help  Areas  File A	Service agreements Default settings for tickets without a service agreement Response deadlines and hotline hours Priority Low 5 days Standard G X High 2 days Standard G X	 ^
	Indude holidays when calculating response deadlines Country Federal state England Default by service level Service level Platinum V	~
	Response dealines and hotine hours Priority Add Low B hrs Premium G X High 3 hrs Premium G X	~
	Maintenance bill Maintenance interval Month Maintenance rate	

You may enter different presettings for different kinds of service agreements, which you may distinguish via the **Service level** field.

- Default settings for tickets without a service agreement: Here you select available priority levels for tickets without a service agreement and enter response deadlines and hotline hours for the selected priority levels.
  - Response deadlines and hotline hours: To clear a priority level and enter a
    response deadline and hotline hours for it, select the desired priority level from the
    Priority menu and click Add. As in the service agreement's Response times tab, a
    separate row for entering the response deadline and hotline hours will be inserted.

Enter the maximum response time as well as the applicable hotline hours.

O Display hotline hours: Here you open a view of the selected hotline hours.

**Remove priority level:** Here you remove the priority level from the selection. It will no longer be available for requests without a service agreement. You may clear the priority level again at a later time.

The entries for the job's **Priority** field are stored as input help items. You may edit it in the **Database** module of the Management Console.

- Include holidays when calculating response deadlines: Specify here for which country and federal state public holidays should be accounted for in the response deadline. These are also the presettings for new service agreements. If and when support is available on public holidays, is specified in the hotline hours.
- Default by service level: Here you specify presettings for new service agreements. Different types of agreements are distinguished via the Service level field.
  - Service level: Select here from the input help items for the Service level field the kind of service agreement for which you wish to enter presettings.
  - Response deadlines and hotline hours: You may enter presettings for response deadlines and hotline hours here as for tickets without a service agreement.
  - Maintenance billing: Via the Maintenance interval menu you switch between the billing intervals stored for service agreements. Month, Quarter and Year are available for selection. Specify the desired maintenance rate in percent for the selected service level and billing interval.
- With the Automatically calculate maintenance fee option, a service agreement's Maintenance charge and Contribution margin fields will automatically be updated when the Maintenance tab is opened and the user has sufficient permissions.

Please note that this is a global setting and doesn't depend on the service level.

## 11.2.5 Tasks for tickets

Here you enter settings for tasks which you create for a ticket by clicking on the task icon next to the **Request** field in the **Ticket** tab.

S CAS genesisWorld Management <u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp	Console (localhost) - EXAM	PLE			-	×
CAS genesisWorld Management File Areas Help  Areas Helpdesk General Helpdesk online Hotine schedule Service agreements Tasks for tickets Groups Notification and languages	Console (localhost) - EXAM Tasks for tickets Mapping of ticket type: Ticket type Question Error Product extension	PLE s and task type/status Task type Documentation Programming Conception	Task status	Transfer primary link to task	_	×

- Mapping of ticket types and task type/status: Here you enter presettings for type and status of tasks for tickets. You may specify a different type and status for each ticket type.
- **Transfer primary link to task:** With this setting, the ticket for which a task is created will automatically be set as the new task's primary link.

# 11.2.6 Groups

Here you configure the assignment of tickets to ticket and handover teams.

onsole (localhost) - EXAMPLE		– 🗆 ×
Groups Include groups Teams Accounting Administration Development Management Sales Support	Responsible teams Accounting Administration Development Management Marketing Sales Support	
Default team	${f J}$ Set first group as preselection group	
User Ben Miller Max Smith Peter Grayhound Robert Glade	Default team A Support Support Support Support V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	
(	Include groups  Include groups  Include groups  Include groups  Include groups  Include groups  Development  Galement  Support  Default team  User Ben Miller Max Smith Peter Grayhound Robert Glade	Include groups  Include groups  Teams Accounting Administration Ad

- Include groups: Select here the groups that should be available as support teams or as responsible teams.
  - Teams: Select here the groups that should be available as support teams (first level support).
  - Responsible teams: Select here the groups that should be available as responsible teams (second level support).
- **Default team:** Here you specify a preselection of the support team for each user.

If a user for whom a support team has been preselected creates a ticket in CAS genesisWorld, his user name and the associated support team will be selected automatically.

 Set first group as preselection group: Click this button to select the first available entry as preselection for every user.

## 11.2.7 Notification and languages

Here you select the system e-mail account to use for ticket actions and Helpdesk online as well as the languages available for ticket actions and Helpdesk online.

Moreover, you determine here for which service levels and priorities an internal notification should occur before a request's response deadline is met and how many hours and minutes before that participants of the request should be notified.

强 CAS genesisWorld Management	t Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE	- 🗆 X	
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp			
◀ Areas	Notification and languages		
🔑 Helpdesk	E-mail account settings		
General Helpdesk online	E-mail account	System account	
Hotline schedule	Language settings		
Service agreements	Available languages	Default language for ticket actions	
Tasks for tickets	DE Deutsch	EN English V	
Groups	EN English		
Notification and languages	ES Español		
	✓ IT Italiano ✓		
	,		
	Time of escalation for tickets		
	Service level	Without service level V	
	Priority	Time of escalation before the response deadline expires	
	Low	☑ 1hrs	
	Medium	2 hrs	
	High	3hrs	
	Critical process	4hrs	
	System failure	Shrs	

- E-mail account settings: Here you select the system e-mail account to use for ticket actions and Helpdesk online, which you set up under Server settings in the Rules area.
- Language settings
  - Under Available languages, you select the languages to be used for ticket actions and Helpdesk online from all installed client languages.
    - All languages selected here will be available on the Helpdesk online logon page if a CAS genesisWorld client with the associated language resources has been installed on the computer on which Helpdesk online is operated.
    - The name and description of actions which are displayed to support employees in the client can be entered in all client languages selected here.
    - E-mail templates defined in actions can be entered in all languages selected here.
       When an action is executed, associated e-mail templates will be available in every language in which they have been entered.
  - E-mails sent via ticket actions default to the **Default language for ticket actions**.
  - Helpdesk online defaults to the browser language, English, database language, or first available language, in this order, depending on availability. If a user logs on again and the language cookie was saved and not deleted, the previous selection will be retained (see "10.4 Invocation and language selection" on page 129).

• **Time of escalation for tickets:** Here you determine for which service levels and priorities an internal notification should occur before a request's response deadline is met and how many hours and minutes before that participants of the request should be notified.

Via the **Without service level** option in the **Service level** menu, you can enter notification times for requests without a service agreement.

The point of reference for the notification is always the response deadline of the respective request.

The actual point of notification depends on the service agreement's hotline time for the request's priority.

For tickets without a service agreement, the respective hotline time is also considered.

### Example

If a request's response deadline expires on Monday at 8:00 and a notification has been configured 5 hours before for the service level of the associated service agreement and the request's priority, with a hotline time from 8:00 to 16:00 from Monday to Friday, the notification e-mail will be sent as soon as the previous Friday at 11:00.

• Under **Service level**, select the desired service level first.

For requests without a service agreement, select the **Without service level** option.

- Via the check box in a **Priority**'s row, you determine whether users should be notified about expiring response deadlines of requests with that priority.
- Then, under Time of escalation before the response deadline expires, enter the desired period before the deadline expires to determine the respective point of notification.
- In order for the notification to occur, you must also configure a notification rule of the **Deadline exceeded** event type, which checks the **Escalation time** field, as described in section "12.5 Internal notification about expiring response deadlines" on page 215.
- Another requirement is the configuration of the notification service under Rules > Server settings in the Management Console. You may learn more about this from the online help or the Administrator manual.

### 11.3 Settings in the Miscellaneous area

The following sections describe the Helpdesk module settings in the Micellaneous area:

- 11.3.1 Activities (holidays for service agreements) (page 180)
- 11.3.2 Currencies (page 181)
- 11.3.3 Dashboards (page 182)
- 11.3.4 E-mail (page 183)
- 11.3.5 Links (page 185)
- 11.3.6 Products (page 186)

## 11.3.1 Activities (holidays for service agreements)

The country and federal state of a service agreement control which holidays are excluded when calculating the response deadlines of associated tickets.

A fixed selection of countries with federal states is always available. You can view the list in your **Settings** in CAS genesisWorld under **Calendar** > **Public holidays**.

You can add holidays for other countries and federal states by importing .hol files in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console under **Activities** > **Calendar**.

🕵 CAS genesisWorld Management	Console (localhost) - EXAMI	PLE		-		×
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp						
<ul> <li>Areas</li> </ul>						
<ul> <li>Miscellaneous</li> <li>Activities</li> <li>Addresses</li> <li>askallo</li> <li>Connections</li> <li>Connections</li> <li>Connections</li> <li>Dashboards</li> <li>Display tabs</li> <li>Documents</li> <li>Dossier</li> <li>E-mail</li> <li>E-mail</li> <li>Event Management</li> <li>forum!</li> <li>Inxmail</li> <li>Lats contact</li> <li>Links</li> <li>Number assignment</li> <li>OAuth2</li> <li>Participant/Resources</li> <li>Products</li> <li>Support requests</li> </ul>	Activities General Calendar Appoint Public holidays Here you can provide a file). Users can then incl calendar views. Country	Intments ist with custom holidays for y ude them in the settings and port X Remove	our users (.hol properties of Date	Public holi	day	

After restarting the server, these will be available in a service agreement's **Country** field as well as in the associated presettings in the Management Console.

Federal states can't be added to the **Federal state** field. You can only add them as separate entries of the **Country** field.
### 11.3.2 Currencies

You may enter currencies in the Miscellaneous area, under Currencies.

All list items will be available for selection in all currency fields in CAS genesisWorld.

You also determine the system's **Base currency** here.

This is the presetting for currency fields in CAS genesisWorld.

To convert foreign currencies to the base currency in reports, in formula fields and in board views in CAS genesisWorld Web, enter conversion rates here.

Enter the conversion rate from the base currency to any foreign currency to convert as **Exchange ratio Euro to Currency**, regardless of which currency you are using as base currency. For example, if you are using GBP as base currency and wish to convert CHF, edit CHF and enter the conversion rate for GBP to CHF (e.g., if 1 GBP = 1.2 CHF, enter 1.2).

<table-of-contents> CAS genesisWorld Manageme</table-of-contents>	nt Console (localhost) - EXAMPL	E		_	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp					
<ul> <li>Areas</li> </ul>					
<ul> <li>Miscellaneous</li> <li>Activities</li> <li>Addresses</li> <li>Connections</li> </ul>	Currencies The list displays all currencies a	available in CAS genesisWorld.			
<ul> <li>Currencies</li> <li>Dashboards</li> </ul>	New Change Delete Currency	Decimal places Entered the European	Euro exchange rate	Base currency	^
<ul> <li>Display tabs</li> <li>Documents</li> <li>Dossier</li> <li>E-mail</li> </ul>	GBP GHC GIP GMD	2 2 2 2	1.00 0.00 0.00		
<ul> <li>✓ Event Management</li> <li>✓ forum!</li> <li>✓ Inxmail</li> <li>☆ Last contact</li> </ul>	GNF GTQ GYD	2 2 2 2 2	0.00		
<ul> <li>Links</li> <li>1<sub>3</sub>2 Number assignment</li> <li>OAuth2</li> <li>Participant/Resources</li> </ul>	HKD HNL HRK HTG	2 2 2 2	0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00		
<ul> <li>Products</li> <li>Support requests</li> <li>Time zone ability</li> </ul>	HUF IDR IEP	2 2 2 2 3/26/1999	0.00		
	ILS INR IRR	2 2 2	0.00 0.00 0.00		*

For the base currency itself, enter 1 as **Exchange ratio Euro to Currency**.

Please note that you can no longer change the **Base currency** after selecting the **Maintain different prices for products** option under **Miscellaneous** > **Products**.

## 11.3.3 Dashboards

Use customer dashboard reports to process and clarify information from data records.

You can find the associated configuration in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console, under **Dashboards** > **Customer dashboard**.

In the **Definition** tab, you create customer dashboard definitions.

In the Assignment tab, you assign your definitions to the desired data record windows.

Section CAS genesisWorld Management <u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp	Console (localhost) -	EXAMPLE			-	×
CAS genesisWorld Management         File       Areas         ▲ Areas         Miscellaneous         ▲ Areas         ▲ Miscellaneous         ▲ Areas         ▲ Currencies         ▲ Dashboards         ▲ Display tabs         ▶ Documents         ▶ Dossier         ■ E-mail         ▲ forum!         ▶ Inxmail         ▲ Last contact         ▲ Number assignment         ▲ Participant/Resources         ■ Products         ▲ Products	Console (localhost) - Dashboards Data record dashboo Definition Assignn Data record type Address Project Job	EXAMPLE ard Customer dashbor ent Edit X Remove Title Customer dashboard Project dashboard Job dashboard	ard Import 🗊 Exp Columns 2 2 2	ort Style sheet Standard.xsl Standard.xsl Standard.xsl		×
Sunds 1-2 Number assignment Participant/Resources Products Support requests						

For details about the possibilities and configuration of customer dashboards, see the Report module user guide.

# 11.3.4 E-mail

In the **Miscellaneous** area, under **E-mail > Archived e-mails > Link archived e-mails**, you configure the key for the subject line of e-mails that should be linked with the associated ticket automatically when they are archived.

🚱 CAS genesisWorld Management	Console (loc	alhost) - EXAMP	PLE				_		×
Image: Second system         File       Areas         Image: Areas	E-mail General Saving a Transfe Store Size: Move e- specifier	Archived e-mails Archived e-mails rexisting e-mails f e all e-mails in the e e-mails from a ce e e-mails from a ce in 10 kb mails that are alre d value:	PLE Company from the c e database certain size b ready store	signature atabase to the I in the Document id in the databas	Document Ard t Archive se to the Doc	chive: ument Archive i	if they are larg	ger then th	e
Last contact Links 1-2 Number assignment Participant/Resources Products Support requests	Link arch	nived e-mails w 🧪 Edit 🔅 cord type	X Delet Forr #C/	e nat S: Number#					

Proceed as follows to create a new linking rule for e-mails belonging to tickets:

- ✓ Click **New...** to create a new linking rule.
- ✓ Select Job as Data record type.
- If you submit support inquiries to partners who are also using Helpdesk, enter a **Prefix** in the associated field to tell your system apart from your partner's.

This way, you can avoid your partner's replies being accidentally associated with tickets in your system which happen to have the same number.

✓ Select Number as Field. Alternatively, you may select a different matching field.

<table-of-contents> Create rule</table-of-contents>				-	×
Data record type	Job	~			
Special character	#	~			
Prefix and field	CAS:		Number		$\sim$
Preview	#CAS: Number#				

When creating and editing the rule, the **Preview** field will display the correct format for the key in the subject line.

The correct format is also displayed in the Format column in the list of linking rules.

With the example from the screenshot, an e-mail with the sequence "#CAS: 123#" in the subject would automatically be linked to the ticket with the number 123 when it was archived.

Enter the key defined here in the subject of e-mails created for tickets via ticket actions (see "2.4 Ticket actions" on page 23), via e-mail templates (see "4 Using e-mail templates" on page 47) and via the notification service (see "12 Notification and support account" on page 195) in order to link these e-mails and responses to them with the associated ticket automatically when the e-mails are archived.

Please note that a blank space is automatically inserted before the selected field. That blank space must also be entered in the subject line to assign an e-mail to the associated ticket.

# 11.3.5 Links

In the **Miscellaneous** area, under **Links**, you can create the **Has ticket access** link to give Helpdesk online users access to tickets submitted by specific companies and individual contacts.

Linking a Helpdesk online user's address to a company or individual contact via the **Has ticket access** link will display tickets submitted by the linked company or individual contact for that user in Helpdesk online in addition to the tickets he may see according to his access level (see "2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online" on page 37).

Tickets submitted by linked addresses will be displayed in Helpdesk online starting with the **Company requests** access level.

The user may also create requests for the linked address in Helpdesk online when the customer selection is active.

To do this, first create the link under **Miscellaneous** > **Links**.

The link must have the following properties:

🕵 Link type					_		Х
						_	~
Internal name							
L2UEXTHDOACO	ESS						
Data record type	A			Data record type	в		
Addresses	~			Addresses	~		
Туре				Cardinality			
directed	~			m:n	~		
Language	Name		^	Language	Name		^
Canada	Consta Hales			Canada	Use Kelvet as		
Czech	Grants ticke	t access		Czech	Has ticket ac	cess	_
German	Grants ticke	t access		German	Has ticket ac	cess	_
English	Grants ticke	t access	-	English	Has ticket ac	cess	_
Spanish	Grants ticke	t access		Spanish	Has ticket ac	cess	_
French	Grants ticke	t access		French	Has ticket ac	cess	_
Hungarian	Grants ticke	t access		Hungarian	Has ticket ac	cess	
Italian	Grants ticke	t access	v	Italian	Has ticket ac	cess	~
		+Grants tick	et	+Has ticket			
Addres	ses	access		access	Ade	resses	
		m		n			
					~~~		
					UK	Car	ncel

- Internal name: L2UEXTHDOACCESS
- Data record type A: Addresses
- Data record type B: Addresses
- Type: directed
- Cardinality: m:n
- Link name: Has ticket access
- Reversed link name: Grants ticket access

# 11.3.6 Products

In the **Miscellaneous** area, under **Products**, you enter settings for products, product uses, tickets and service agreements.

鶰 CAS genesisWorld Manageme	nt Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE	_	$\times$
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp			
Areas			
<ul> <li>Miscellaneous</li> <li>Activities</li> <li>Addresses</li> <li>askallo</li> <li>Connections</li> <li>Currencies</li> <li>Dashboards</li> <li>Display tabs</li> <li>Documents</li> <li>Dossier</li> <li>E-mail</li> <li>forum!</li> <li>Inxmail</li> <li>Last contact</li> <li>Links</li> <li>Number assignment</li> <li>Participant/Resources</li> <li>Support requests</li> </ul>	Products Products for opportunities, items, product uses and tickets: Active is identical with true Use optional items Maintain different prices for products Maintain different prices for products Use alternative product description French German Italian Spanish Change set currency of the item at a later time: Opportunities Receipts Service agreements		
	Product item groups		

The following settings on this page relate to Helpdesk features:

 Products for opportunities, items, product uses and tickets: Here you can see and change the product filter for opportunity product items, project items (with Project), receipt items (with Easy Invoice) as well as product uses and tickets.

With the default filter, all products selected as **Active** will be available.

 Maintain different prices for products: By default, you may only enter exactly one sales and purchase price in exactly one currency for each product. Here you activate or deactivate the entry of sales and purchase prices for products in different currencies.

The price information entered for a product and currency will automatically be adopted to associated product uses created for service agreements with that currency.

Change set currency of the item at a later time: Here you determine whether the currency of an existing service agreement can be changed via the **Tools** menu. When changing the currency, you may retain prices, set the to zero or enter a conversion rate.

### 11.4 Settings in the Time record area

The following sections describe the settings in the **Time record** area:

- 11.4.1 General (page 187)
- 11.4.2 Mandatory links (page 189)
- 11.4.3 Calendar (page 190)
- 11.4.4 Hourly rates (page 191)
- 11.4.5 Working hours (page 193)

### 11.4.1 General

CAS genesisWorld Management (	Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE –		×
<u>File A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp			
Areas Time record General Mandatory links Calendar Hourly rates Working hours	General       Duration of a person day       One person day (1 PD) envelops       8 hours     Ominutes.         Oharged     1 minute         Off         Bill externally         Outraition of a person day (1 PD) envelops         Actual     1 minute         One     Off         Bill externally         One         Off         Bill externally         One         Off         Bill externally         One         Off         Bill externally         One         Off         Description         Description         Off         Description         Description         Off         Description         Description		
	Time window for the creation and editing of time records          Maximum to be recorded for future:       Shrs       No restriction for:       Ø ADMINISTRATOR         Maximum to be recorded for future:       Shrs       Shrs       Maximum to be recorded for future:         Maximum to be recorded for past:       31       days       Select all       Ør Bend Alddis         Change time records of the past:       31       days       Select none       Ør Britta Glatt	<b>^</b>	
	Calculate total Save "Actual" and "Charged" of all time records for the project, job or service agreement as sum when creating a time record for a project, job or service agreement.  ☐ Jobs ☐ Projects ☐ Service agreements		

- Duration of a person day: Here you specify how many hours and minutes should be subsumed under one person day. The default setting is 8 hours.
- Granularity: Here you select the smallest recordable interval for the Actual and Charged fields. No smaller interval may be selected for Charged than for Actual.
  - 1 second, 1 minute, 5 minutes, 10 minutes, 15 minutes, 30 minutes, 1 hour
- **Overlap check:** Here you enable or disable the overlap check for time records.
- Bill externally: Here you specify whether users may edit the external billing date. In this case, users are prompted to enter the desired billing date when externally billing time records via the context menu of the time record list.
- Time window for the creation and editing of time records
  - Maximum to be recorded for future: Time records whose end time is further in the future than specified here may not be saved.
  - Maximum to be recorded for past: If the start of a time record to create is further in the past than specified here, it may not be saved.

- **Change time records of the past:** If the start of an existing time record is further in the past than specified here, changes made to it may not be saved.
- No restriction for: Select here users to exempt from the specified restrictions.
- Calculate total: Here you specify whether the total work time for a project, job or service agreement is calculated whenever time is recorded for it. Time records for associated tickets are considered for service agreements. The actual work time will be written in the Actual time field. The order value will be written in the Charged field.

### Note

The fields are updated whenever time records for projects, jobs or tickets belonging to a service agreement are created or deleted. The fields are not updated when the link for an associated data record is changed (e.g., when a ticket is removed from a service agreement by resetting the service agreement selection in the ticket).

With the Form Designer module, you can define business ratio fields that are updated automatically whenever the associated data record is opened.

Additionally, you can create new project, job and/or service agreement fields of the float type as target fields in the **Database** area of the Management Console and enter them as target fields for the business ratio fields. If you do, you can use scheduled updates to update these fields regularly automatically (e.g., nightly or hourly) or update them manually via the context menu (requires the **Actions: execute** other right).

Create the following business ratio fields for projects and/or jobs respectively:

1. Linked data record type: Time records / Calculation: Actual / Sum

2. Linked data record type: Time records / Calculation: Charged / Sum

To save the results in target fields you have created for projects and/or jobs, select them under **Save result in field** for the respective business ratio fields.

Under Data records, select the Only primary links link type.

Under Formatting, select the Duration (person days) or Duration (24h/day) format.

For service agreements, you need a two level business ratio field. First, create Actual/ Target business ratio fields with associated target fiels of the float type for jobs as described above. Then, create the following business ratio fields for service agreements:

1. Linked data record type: Jobs / Calculation: (Actual target field) / Sum

2. Linked data record type: Jobs / Calculation: (Charged target field) / Sum

Then, enter the same settings as described above for projects and jobs (**Save result in field**, link type and format).

 Time record type for travel time: Select here the time record type for recording the trips to and from the destination for appointments in CAS genesisWorld Web and CAS genesisWorld Desktop.

# 11.4.2 Mandatory links

Here you define mandatory links for time record types.

<table-of-contents> CAS genesisWorld Manag</table-of-contents>	ement Console (localhost) - EXAMPLE			- 0	>
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp					
<ul> <li>Areas</li> </ul>	Mandatory links				
Time record	Define mandatory link				
General Mandatory links	Туре	Mandatory link	Р	Information	
Calendar Hourly rates Working hours	Programming		~	Please enter the primary link to save the time record. $\hfill \sim$	'
	Project management		~	Please enter the primary link to save the time record.	
	Service		~	Please enter the primary link to save the time record.	
	Support	Job	× 👔 🗆	Please link the time record with a ticket to save it.	
	Training		~	Please enter the primary link to save the time record.	
	Travel time		~	Please enter the primary link to save the time record.	
				*	

- Mandatory link: Select here the desired data record type.
  - Specify filter condition: Click on the filter icon to specify filter conditions.
  - Participant: If you select the P option, the time record's participant must also be a
    participant of the linked data record to save the time record.

Groups are not resolved here. Only if a user has directly been entered as the participant of a data record, he can record time for it.

- Information: Enter here a message to display when a user tries saving a time record which is not linked as specified here.
  - ... Here you enter the message in different languages.

### Example

To limit use of the time record type **Support** to tickets, select the data record type **Job** in the associated row. Limit time recording to tickets using the following filter condition: **Type – is equal – Ticket**. If desired, add filter conditions for more ticket types and for the desired status opens (e.g., **Status – is not equal – Completed**, to restrict time recording to tickets which have not yet been completed.) Select the **P** option if only a ticket's participants may record time for it.

Enter an expressive message to display when the rule is violated in the **Information** field (e.g., "You may only create time records of the 'Support' type for your tickets.")

# 11.4.3 Calendar

Here you configure the time record calendar's multiple recording feature.

<table-of-contents> CAS genesisWorld Management C</table-of-contents>	onsole (localhost) - EXAMPL	E		_		$\times$
<u>F</u> ile <u>A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp						
Areas     Time record     General     Mandatory links     Calendar     Hourly rates     Working hours	Calendar Automatic time recording for  Automatic time recording for  Appointments Types to be recorded Acquisition Consulting Installation Project management Service Training Time record type and project  Time record type and project Time record type and project Subject Holiday 2019	appointments, phone calls Holiday ts by participant for autom cord type for holiday: Ho aders, drag them to this	and holiday	hone calls corded lendar V   Start V 1/1/2019	End 12/31/20	119

Automatic time recording for appointments, phone calls and holiday: Here you select appointment, holiday and phone call types for which time should automatically be recorded when clicking on the associated button in the calendar. With teamWorks, holidays are distinguished by the Holiday type field, if there are no types for holidays.

To lock the recording of certain types or holiday types, select the data record type for which you wish to modify the setting. Then carry over the entries for which time should not automatically be recorded to the right list.

- Time record type and projects by participant [...]: Select here projects in which leaves taken by their respective participants will be recorded. When a participant of a project selected here records a leave in the calendar, the time records will be booked on the project.
  - Search project: Here you select a project in the Search window. Via the list you may open, view and edit it.
  - **X Remove:** Here you remove a project from the selection.
  - **Time record type for holiday:** Specify the type for holiday records here.

### 11.4.4 Hourly rates

Here you specify global hourly rates. They are valid for all customers and projects for which you do not specify different hourly rates.

Entering different hourly rates for specific customers and projects is described in section "6.1.6 Defining hourly rates for addresses and projects" on page 92.

S CAS genesisWorld Management <u>File A</u> reas <u>H</u> elp	Console (localhost)	- EXAM	MPLE											-		×
<ul> <li>Areas</li> </ul>	Hourly rates															
🖏 Time record General	Allow to enter internal hourly rates for addresses and projects															
Mandatory links	🔳 🖍 🔒															
Hourly rates	Internal External															
Working hours	Internal h	ourl	y rates	(costs)												
		All	Acquisition	Administration	Conception	Consulting	Documentation	Holiday	Marketing	Programming	Project management	Service	Support	Training	Travel time	1
	All	60														
	Antonio Matarazzo	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	
	Ben Miller Beards Cladia	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	
	Brenda Gladis	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	
	Marcus Clavden	50	60	60	50	50	50	60	60	60	50	60	50	50	60	
	Michael Green	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	
	Peter Graybound	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	50	
	Robert Glade	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	
	Conference Room	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	20	

 Allow to enter internal hourly rates for addresses and projects: By default, you may only enter different external hourly rates for addresses and projects. Select this option in order to also enter different internal hourly rates for addresses and projects.

**Save:** Here you save changes made to the hourly rates in the database.

Close the view without saving to revert changes.

Transfer hourly rates: Here you overwrite the displayed hourly rates, Internal or External (see below), with the hourly rates from the other view. This includes emptying fields that are empty in the other view.

- After confirmation, the changes will be displayed in the view.
- The changes will only be applied to the database when they are saved.
- Close the view without saving to revert changes.

Select participants: Here you select the users and resources to display. Users and resources for which internal or external hourly rates have already been entered will automatically be selected when you open the view. When a user or resource is removed, associated hourly rates will be retained.

- Internal and External: The Internal and External tabs are structured identically.
  - Internal: Here you specify internal hourly rates. Billing a time record internally will determine the internal hourly rate for the user/resource and activity (time record type) and multiply it with the Actual work time to calculate the Actual costs.

- External: Here you specify external hourly rates. Billing a time record externally will determine the external hourly rate for the user/resource and activity (time record type) and multiply it with the Charged order value to calculate the Actual turnover.
- Entering hourly rates: The white table fields are provided for entering hourly rates
  valid for exactly one user or resource and one activity (time record type). The yellow
  fields are provided for entering hourly rates valid for users, resources and activities for
  which no other hourly rate was specified.
  - General hourly rate: Enter the general hourly rate in the first field of the table in the top left corner. It will be valid for all table fields and thereby for all users, resources and activities (time record types) for which no other hourly rate is specified.

The general hourly rate will show up in all of these fields in italics.

 Hourly rates for users and resources: Enter hourly rates for users and resources in the first column. Each of these will be valid for all table fields of the associated row and thereby for all activities (time record types) for which no other hourly rate is specified.

The hourly rate will show up in all of these fields in italics.

- Internal hourly rates for users and resources take precedence over internal hourly rates for activities (time record types).
- External hourly rates for users and resources are only valid for activities (time record types) for which no other hourly rate was specified.
- Hourly rates for activities (time record types): Enter hourly rates for activities (time record types) in the first row. Each of these hourly rates is valid for all table fields of the associated column and thereby for all users and resources for which you have not specified another hourly rate. The hourly rate for the type will show up in all of these fields in italics.

The hourly rate will show up in all of these fields in italics.

- Internal hourly rates for activities (time record types) are only valid for users and resources for which no other hourly rate was specified.
- External hourly rates for activities (time record types) take precedence over external hourly rates for users and resources.
- Hourly rates for a user/resource and activity (time record type): Enter hourly rates for specific users or resources and for specific activities (time record types) into the respective white table field in which the row for the user or resource and the column for the activity (time record type) intersect.

Such hourly rates in white table fields take precedence over any other hourly rates

# 11.4.5 Working hours

Here you record a log of working hours for employees and a log of availability hours for resources.

😪 CAS genesisWorld Management	Console (localhost)	- EXAMPLE					-		×
<u>File Areas H</u> elp									
◀ Areas	Working hours								
🖏 Time record General	Users Peter G	rayhound	~ 🗅 🖪 🗙						
Mandatory links	From	until	h/week						
Calendar Hourly rates	1/1/2017	12/31/2017	20 hrs, 00 min						
Working hours	1/1/2018		40 hrs, 00 min						
	🗙 🗐 40h	✓ Hal	fhour ~						
		1							
			<b>)</b> 30 <b>1</b> 30 <b>2</b> 30 <b>3</b> 30 <b>4</b> 30	5 30 6 30 7 30 8 3	0 9 30 10 30 11 30 12 30	13 30 14 30 15 30 16 30 17 30 18	30 19 30 20 30 21 30 2	2 30 23	30
	Monday	08 hrs, 00 min							- 1
	Tuesday	08 hrs, 00 min							- 1
	Wednesday	08 hrs, 00 min							- 1
	Thursday	08 hrs, 00 min							_
	Friday	08 hrs, 00 min							- 1
	Saturday	00 hrs, 00 min							- 1
	Sunday	00 hrs, 00 min							- 1
	Public holiday	uu nrs, uu min							- 1
	Working hours	Free time							

- Views and Features for logged working hours: The following features consider the working hours you enter here. For employees for which you do not enter working hours here, the working hours you enter in your user settings in the Calendar tab are used instead.
  - Planner (interactive): This view displays working hours entered here in its Gantt view and in its workload view, and calculates the workload based on them. You must enter Resource availability hours here to display them in the view.
  - **Time recording:** In the time record calendar and in the data record window for time records, the working hours you enter here are considered.
  - **Resource planning in the tree view:** The tree view's resource planning view displays working hours entered here and calculates the workload based on them.
  - Report [Report module]: In Report views for time records, for which you have activated working hours calculation in the User data tab in the view's properties, the working hours you enter here are used.

### Note

For users and resources for which you enter working hours here, the interactive planner view, the time record calendar, the tree view's resource planning view and report views will display no working hours before the first working hours period you enter.

 Select user or resource: Select a user or resource in the menu to the top left to view the working or availability hours. Create working hours period: Here you create a new working hours period. You will be prompted to enter the desired start date for the new working hours period. The day before the start date of the following working hours period will be automatically entered as end date. If no working hours period follows, the end date is left blank. Enter the working hours in the view's lower half (see "Edit working hours").

Change start date: Here you change the start date of the selected working hours period. Alternatively, you may change the start date by double-clicking a list entry.

**X** Delete working hours period: Here you delete the selected working hours period. You will be prompted to confirm the deletion.

 Edit working hours: In the view's lower half, you enter the desired working or availability hours.

- **Granularity:** Select the granularity in the menu at the top right of the lower toolbar (Hour, Half hour, Quarter hour, 5 minutes or Minute).
- Working hours: Using your mouse, select the desired working hours in the week view and click Working hours to enter them.
- Free time: To remove working hours you have already entered, select them using your mouse and click Free time.

Please note that working hours entered for public holidays will only be applied when the public holiday is on a week day with working hours. For example, if no working hours are entered for Sundays, public holidays on a Sunday are also considered free, even if working hours have been entered for public holidays.

The working hours you enter will be transferred directly to the list of working hours periods and saved.

Save working hours template: Here you save the working hours you have entered in a template to transfer them to other users or resources.

- Select working hours template: In the left menu of the lower toolbar, you may select a template to transfer the working hours stored in it to the list entry you have selected in the upper list. Changes made to the displayed working hours will be saved in the user's working hours as well as in the template.
- Delete working hours template: Here you delete the selected working hours template. You will be prompted to confirm the deletion. Deleting a working hours template has no effect on working hours created from that template.

# 12 Notification and support account

The following sections describe how to set up rules to notify customers about their Helpdesk online account activation, to notify submitters about new and changed tickets, for the request for feedback about completed tickets and for the notification of the team about requests whose response deadline is about to expire.

Additionally, setting up a support e-mail account is described. For e-mails sent to this account which can't be associated with an existing ticket via an archiving rule, new tickets will automatically be created.

- 12.1 Helpdesk online account enabling notification (page 195)
- 12.2 Notifying the submitter about a new ticket (page 201)
- 12.3 Notifying the submitter about changes in a ticket (page 205)
- 12.4 Setting up a request for feedback (page 209)
- 12.5 Internal notification about expiring response deadlines (page 215)
- 12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account (page 218)

The sections about external notifications also describe how you mark e-mails sent due to the rule with the ticket number and optional prefix in the subject line, such that these e-mails and replies to them will automatically be filed with the respective request (see "11.3.4 E-mail" on page 183).

You can enter the desired rules under **Rules** in the Management Console or in the **Rules** tab of the **Settings** window in CAS genesisWorld (Administrator rights required).

The notification service must be configured under **Rules > Server settings** in the Management Console. You may learn more about this from the online help or the Administrator manual.

### 12.1 Helpdesk online account enabling notification

Proceed as follows to notify customers about enabling of their Helpdesk online accounts.

Via the link included in the notification, the customer may request an activation link which will be sent with another e-mail in order to confirm the customer's identity. He can then enter his password to activate his account.

To enable an account, select the associated Helpdesk online access level in the address record's **Helpdesk online** field. You can do this for any company or individual contact in the **Details** tab or for multiple contacts via an **Action** (see section "2.6 Setting up access for Helpdesk online" on page 37 for details).

In both cases, the contacts will be notified via the rule you are about to create.

Execute the following steps to created that rule:

Click New to create a new rule.

- ✓ Enter a meaningful name (e.g., Helpdesk online account activation).
- ✓ Click **Filter and Team**.
- Select filter conditions for each access level, connected with or, embraced by brackets:
   Helpdesk online is identical with [Access level] (see screenshot).
- ✓ Make sure that contacts who have already activated their accounts won't be requested to activate their account again. To do this, connect another condition with and: Assign Helpdesk online password – is identical with – □

۲	Prop	pert	ties of the event 'Helpdesk online a	ccount activation'				×
Filt	er	Te	am					
	ynam	nic	Static (0)					
	Acti	ive	filter: <unknown></unknown>					
			Table field	Condition		● Filter value ○ Table field		
	×	(	Helpdesk online $\sim$	is identical with	$\sim$	Own requests (submitter is this contact) $\qquad \lor$	or	
		-	Table field	Condition		Filter value     Table field		
	×		Helpdesk online $\checkmark$	is identical with	$\sim$	Company requests (submitter belongs to company) $$	or	
		<b>-</b> ,	Table field	Condition		Filter value     O Table field		
	×		Helpdesk online $\checkmark$	is identical with	$\sim$	All requests (submitter is part of company structure) $ \lor  ig)$	and	
		<b>-</b> ,,	Table field	Condition		Filter value     O Table field		
	×		Assign Helpdesk online password $ \smallsetminus $	is identical with	$\sim$		and	
						More filter criteria		
		- 61		1		Land Share antices		
	Save	<u>e Til</u>	ter setungs			Load niter settings		
?						OK Cancel	Apply	

- ✓ Click **OK** to confirm.
- $\checkmark$  In the **Event type** menu, select **Data record change**.
- ✓ Select the **Creating new data record** event.
- ✓ Select the **Changing data record** event.
- ✓ Click on the **Setting** button next to the **Any change to the following fields** option.
- ✓ Select the **Helpdesk online** field, then click **OK** to confirm.

🍘 Fields to be monitored				-		×
<ul> <li>○ All fields</li> <li>● Only selected fields</li> </ul>						
Non-selected fields	^		Selected fields			
Hiring date			Helpdesk online	•		
Homepage						
IBAN						
ICQ number (obsolete)		-				
Internal function						
Internal P.O. Box						
is Company	$\checkmark$					
			0	ĸ	с	ancel

The following settings should be visible in the **Event** tab:

🍘 Create new rule	_	
Name Helpdesk online account activation	Allow	subscription
Description		0
Category Execute rule as System		~
Event Action Statistics		-
Data records to be monitored		
Subset: Filter and team Filter by links (n	o filter setting)	
Events to be monitored		
Event type Data record change V		
Creating new data record		
Changing data record:		
Any change to the following fields     Helpdesk online	式 Setting	]
O Specific change of a field value	Setting	ī
Linking data record: All links	📑 Setting	
Deleting data record		
Restoring data record		
Monitoring interval As soon as possible $\checkmark$		
Activate schedule Setting		
Application server Enter computer name of the applie	cation server	
OK	Cancel	Help

✓ Switch to the **Action** tab.

 $\checkmark\,$  In the Action menu, select Notification.

- If desired, click on the Selection button next to the Sender field to change the e-mail's sender or recipient of replies.
- ✓ Click on the **Selection** button next to the **Variable recipients** field.
- ✓ Under E-Mail addresses from fields, select the E-mail (business) field.
- ✓ Select the Archive e-mail to monitored adddress after sending.

🖀 Variable recipients based on the triggering data record	– 🗆 X
Settings for subscribers Notify subscribers of this rule All users who are directly entered as participants of the data record All direct participants of the data record or participants due to group membership  All users with reading access rights to a data record Send also a notification if the user has not subscribed to the rule	E-mail addresses from linked addresses <ul> <li>No link type</li> <li>Only the following link types</li> </ul> <li>E-mail field Default e-mail <ul> <li>Only send to selected e-mail field</li> <li>Archive e-mail after sending to linked addresses</li> </ul></li>
E-mail addresses from fields Available fields: Account holder Additional info (Private) Additional info (Supplier) Additional info (Supplier) AIM alias (obsolete) Bank account Bank account BIC\SWIFT Changed by Classification Company Company 2 Contact person Cost center Country (delivery) Country (delivery) Country (delivery) Country (delivery) Country (delivery) Customer ID Denomination Department internal District District (delivery) District (delivery) District (cort	Selected fields:         Image: Ima
	OK Cancel Help

- ✓ Click **OK** to confirm.
- Remove yourself from the permanent recipients if you do not wish to receive copies of all notifications about new requests. To do this, click on the button with the icon of a red cross next to the **Permanent recipients** section.
- ✓ Enter the subject line and body text for the e-mail in the lower section.

<sup>©</sup> Insert the following link to the activation page:

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/Activation.aspx

Replace https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/ by your Helpdesk online system URL.

On the activation page, customers can confirm their identities via e-mail after which they may enter their password to finalize the activation.

The following settings should be visible in the **Action** tab:

🖗 Create new	rule							
lame	Helpdesk online account activation						Allow	subscription
escription								<u></u>
ategory	reate new rule							
Event Action	Statistics							
Action Not	ification $\checkmark$							
Notification								
Sender:	User who has last changed the data record						Selection	
Variable re	cipients	Perm	anent recipier	nts				
(business)	nd an e-mail is send to the address: "E-mail "	<ul> <li>Selection</li> </ul>					User	×
		~				×	E-mail add	esses
Subject:	our access to our Helpdesk online support portal				+ Action	field Table fiel	d Address	fields
	a ▼ 10 ▼ - B I U əbc 5 < 10 ★ 10 	5 CA 🚍 = = = ;	≡ :=   ∈	Æ	Functi Gende Geore Gifts Helpd Hiring Home IBAN	on r ferencing status esk online date bage	5	
Salutatio we have	n, enabled your access to our <u>Helpdesk</u> on	line support portal.			ICQ n Instar Intern Intern is Con	umber (obsolete It Messaging al function al P.O. Box Ipany	)	
Your acc	ess level is Helpdesk online.				is Con is emp	tact loyee		
You can	activate your account <mark>here</mark> .			Link	Keywo	ords .		×
Yours sin Your sup	cerely, port team			Name	here			
Attachments	GBT file of the data record concerned	Attachment of the docur	ment concerne	Hyperlink	1elpdesk.exa	mple.com/Helpd	esk/Activatio	n.aspx
Additional se	ttings: Notify for own changes					ОК	Car	icel
					0	< Ca	ancel	Help

- ✓ Confirm the creation of the new rule by clicking **OK**.
- ✓ Confirm the activation of the new rule by clicking **Yes**.

### Notes

The notification and action service must be correctly set up and running in order to send e-mails.

The rule will be triggered whenever a contact with access to Helpdesk online is created or an appropriate access level is selected for an existing contact.

When the customer activates his account in Helpdesk online, the **Helpdesk online password entered** field will be set in the associated address data record.

The filter by this field in the notification rule makes sure that rule won't be triggered again when the access level is changed via the **Helpdesk online** field.

If desired, you may notify customers with active access to Helpdesk online when the access level is changed. To do this, filter as described above, but with **Assign Helpdesk online password – is identical with –** ☑. Don't test for created data records but only for changes of the **Helpdesk online** field.

### 12.2 Notifying the submitter about a new ticket

You set up a rule for notification of the submitter about a new ticket as follows.

The message will only be created after the user's confirmation (see notes at the end of this section).

- ✓ Click **New** to create a new rule.
- ✓ Enter a meaningful name (e.g., **New ticket**).
- ✓ Select the **Job** data record type.
- ✓ Click **Filter and Team**.

 $\checkmark$  Select the filter condition Notification change – is identical with –  $\blacksquare$ 

۲	Prop	erties of the event 'Nev	v Ticket'				×
Filt	er	Team					
D	ynam	ic Static (0)					_
	Acti	ve filter: <unknown></unknown>					
		Table field	Condition		Filter value	◯ Table field	
	×	Notification change $ \smallsetminus $	is identical with	~	$\checkmark$	and	
		Table field	Condition		Filter value	🔿 Table field	
	$\times$	~		$\sim$		and	
		Table field	Condition		Filter value	O Table field	
	$\times$	~		$\sim$		and	
	_	Table field	Condition		Filter value	O Table field	
	×	~		$\sim$		and	
					More filter criteria		
	Save	filter settings			Load filter setti	ngs	
				OK	Cancel	Apply	

- ✓ Click **OK** to confirm.
- ✓ In the **Event type** menu, select **Data record change**.
- ✓ Select the **Creating new data record** event.

ô Create new rule								X
Nama New	Ticket							P
Description	V HCKEL						subscrip	tion
Description								Ç
Category				Execute rule as	System			
Event Action St	atistics							
Data records to b	e monitored		1					
Data record type	() Job			$\sim$				
Subset:	📑 Filt	er and team		Filter by links		(no filter se	etting)	
Events to be mon	itored							
Event type	Data record change	~						
			-					
Creating ner	w data record		J					
	na recoru:	alda 🗛	ll fields			Reatting	0.0	e i
	thence of a field value		an neida				ng	1
	record:	All links				Setti	ng	1
Deleting dat	a record					E Setu	ngaa	1
Restoring da	ata record							
			_					
Monitoring interva	As soon as p	ossible ~						
	Activate s	chedule		Setting				
Application server	r			Enter computer nar	me of the a	application se	rver	
				OK		Pancel	Най	
				OK			- incl	

#### The following settings should be visible in the **Event** tab:

- ✓ Switch to the **Action** tab.
- ✓ In the **Action** menu, select **Notification**.
- ✓ If desired, click on the **Selection** button next to the **Sender** field to change the e-mail's sender or recipient of replies.
- ✓ Click on the **Selection** button next to the **Variable recipients** field.
- ✓ Under E-Mail addresses from linked addresses, select Only the following link types.
- ✓ Select the **Ticket (submitter)** link type:

🖗 Variable environmente based an Aba triansaire e data arread		~
variable recipients based on the triggering data record		^
Settings for subscribers Notify subscribers of this rule All users who are directly entered as participants of the data record All direct participants of the data record or participants due to group membership  All users with reading access rights to a data record Send also a notification if the user has not subscribed to the rule	E-mail addresses from linked addresses No link type Only the following link types General link Primary link Ticket (Customer) Ficket (Submitter) E-mail field Default e-mail Only send to selected e-mail field Archive e-mail after sending to linked addresses	~
E-mail addresses from fields  Available fields:  Activity status Area Changed by Comment Communication Created by Customer Employee Error cause Internal notes Keywords Number Origin Priority Product Product Product Reference (Manufacturer) Reference (Submitter) Request Responsible employee Responsible team Satisfaction Service agreement Service level Solution Status Subject Submitter	Selected fields:	
	OK Cancel	Help

- ✓ Click **OK** to confirm.
- Remove yourself from the permanent recipients if you do not wish to receive copies of all notifications about new requests. To do this, click on the button with the icon of a red cross next to the **Permanent recipients** section.
- ✓ Enter the subject line and body text for the e-mail in the lower section.

If e-mails sent via the rule and replies to them should be linked with the associated ticket when the e-mails are archived, enter the key defined in the Management Console into the subject line (see "11.3.4 E-mail" on page 183).

Please note that a blank space must be entered before the key field (e.g., when no prefix was defined and **Number** was selected as field, the key is "# Number#").

If you are using Helpdesk online, you can embed a link to the new ticket's detail view in the e-mail. To do this, enter the desired link text and connect it with one of the two following links using the e-mail editor's hyperlink fuction.

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/TicketDetails.aspx?gguid={gguid}

Replace https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/ by your Helpdesk online system URL.

Create new rule      Permanent recipients   • Linked addresses that were linked with the Tricket   Variable recipients   • User who has last changed the data record   Variable recipients   • Under addresses that were linked with the Tricket   Selection   Variable recipients   Permanent recipients   • Under addresses that were linked with the default e-mail   Selection   • German   * Constrained ************************************				
in hew todet   iption   pay   Action Statistics   boon   Notification   in action   Statistics   boon   Notification   in action   Statistics   boon   Variable recipients   -Indeed addresses that were lenked with the "Tidet"   Section   -Indeed addresses that were lenked with the "Tidet"   Section   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics   Column and in type are notified to the default e-mail   Statistics Stati	Create new rule			—
iption   gary   int   Action   Statistics   ison   Notification <td>e New ticket</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Allow subscription</td>	e New ticket			Allow subscription
pory       Execute rule as System         nt       Action Statistics         not Motification       Note         icontered in the state of the data record       Selection         Variable recipients       Permanent recipients         Under addresses that were linked with the Ticket (schemitter) link type are notified via the default e-mail address.       User         Columntity link type are notified via the default e-mail of Selection       E-mail addresses         Columntity link type are notified via the default e-mail of Selection       E-mail addresses         Columntity link type are notified via the default e-mail of Selection       E-mail addresses         Subject:       Your request "Cable field:Request (SCAS: <table field:number="">#)       E-mail address fields         Subject:       Your request "Requests" under the number Number.       Pointing and Planning and Planning stat Providy         Saluration,       We have filed your request "Requests" under the number Number.       Pointing stat Providy         Your an always view the current status of your request in its Instation view in our online support portal.       Responded on Request Negament Satisfaction Satisfacti</table>	ription			
nt Acton   Statistics   confication      Variable recipients   • Under darkesses that were inited with the Trideet   • Cernand   • Cernand   • Cernand   • Ernal addresses   • Corn field   • Cernand   • Ernal addresses   • Corn field   • Corn fiel	gory Execute rule as System		~	
Indefinition         indefinition         indefinition         indefinition         Selection         Variable recipients         'Indefinition         'Indefinition         Selection         Selection         Selection         Selection         Selection         Cernand       Ifficiential filth the pare notified via the default e-mail         Subject:       Your request * <table field.request=""> (#CAS: <table field.number="">#)         A - ** - B I U ate * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *</table></table>	ent Action Statistics			
intermediation         iserder:       User who has last changed the data record       Selection         Variable recipients       Permanent recipients         -Unlead addresses that were inited with the Tricket (Submitter) In k type are notified via the default e-mail of Selection       Image: Selection         German       Image: Selection       Selection         Subject:       four request * <table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)       Action field Table field Address fields         Market       10       Action field Table field Address fields       Action field Table field Address fields         Subject:       four request *<table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)       Image: Selection       Action field Table field Address fields         Subject:       four request *<table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)       Image: Selection       Action field Table field Address fields         Subject:       four request *<table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number.*)<="" td="">       Action field Table field Address fields         Subject:       four request *       Regions and Planning soft Planning /table></table></table></table></table></table></table></table>	tion Notification			
ender:       User who has last changed the data record       Selection         Variable recipients       Permanent recipients       Image: Constraint of the second of the data record         Cubmitter) link type are notified via the default e-mail       Selection       E-mail addresses         German       It constraints       Selection       E-mail addresses         German       It constraints       Selection       E-mail addresses         Subject:       Your request <table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)       Action field       Table field       Address fields         Tahoma       10       Image: Selection       Mathematic       Parting and Parting start       Parting and Parting start         Salutation.       Image: Selection       Image: Selection       Recorded on /table></table>	lotification			
Variable recipients       Permanent recipients            Cubmitter) link type are notified via the default e-mail of the default e-mail the default e-mail of the default e-mail of the default e-mail of the default e-mail default the mail default the mail	Sender: User who has last changed the data record			Selection
Variable recipients       Permanent recipients         • Linked addresses that were linked with the "Ticket (Submitter)" (init type are notified via the default e-mail addresses.       Selection         German       Iffee English         Subject:       Your request *CTable field:Request> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)       Action field Table field         Image: Subject:       Your request *CTable field:Request&gt; (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)       Image: Subject: /table></table>				
Linked addresses that were linked with the Ticket (Submitter) into type are notified via the default e-mail address.       Selection       User       E-mail addresses         German       Image: Selection       E-mail addresses       E-mail addresses         Subject:       Your request * <table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)       Action field Table field Address fields         Tahoma       10       Image: Selection       Action field Table field Address fields         Tahoma       10       Image: Selection       Action field Table field Address fields         Maining end       10       Image: Selection       Action field Table field Address fields         Salutation,       Image: Selection       Action field Table field Address fields       Image: Selection         You can always view the current status of your request in its detail view       In our online support portal.       Respond until Responded on Recount Responsible tam Satisfaction Service agreement         Yours sincerely,       Your support team       Link       Name       detail view         utachments:       GBT file of the data record concerned       Attachment of the document concerned       Main       OK       Cancel         OK       Cancel       OK       Cancel       Cancel       Cancel       Cancel</table></table>	Variable recipients Permanent recipient	s		
autress: <ul> <li>German</li> <li>German</li> <li>German</li> <li>Subject:</li> <li>Your request *<table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)</table></table></li> </ul> <ul> <li>Action field</li> <li>Table field</li> <li>Address fields</li> </ul> Image: Imag	Linked addresses that were linked with the 'Ticket     (Submitter)' link type are notified via the default e-mail		^	User 🗙
German	duuress. v		~	E-mail addresses
Subject: Your request * <table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)     Tahoma 10     A - ** B I U ake     You can always view the current status of your request in its detail view</table></table>	German German			
Iahoma       10         Iahoma       Iahoma	Subject: Your request " <table field:request=""> (#CAS: <table field:number="">#)</table></table>		+ Action field Table	field Address fields
Salutation,       Product use Reference (Manufacturer) Reference (Submitter)         You can always view the current status of your request in its detail view in our online support portal.       Reapened on Request         Please don't delete the number from the subject line when replying to this e-mail so your feedback can automatically be archived with your request.       Responsible team Satisfaction Service agreement         Your support team       Link         uttachments:       GBT file of the data record concerned       Attachment of the document concerned         dditional settings:       Notify for own changes       OK	Tahoma $\bullet$ 10 $\bullet$ $A \cdot 2^{*} \cdot B$ $I = 10^{*} \cdot 2^{*} \cdot $	€	Origin     Out of office     Participants     Planning end     Planning start     Priority	
we have filed your request "Request" under the number Number.       Reference (Submitter)         You can always view the current status of your request in its detail view in our online support portal.       Responded on         Please don't delete the number from the subject line when replying to this e-mail so your feedback can automatically be archived with your request.       Link         Yours sincerely,       Link         Your support team       detail view         uttachments:       GBT file of the data record concerned       Attachment of the document concerned         uttachments:       Notify for own changes       OK       Cancel	Salutation,		Product Product use Reference (Manufa	octurer)
You can always view the current status of your request in its detail view in our online support portal.       Reopened on Request Respond until Responded on Responsible employee Responded on Satisfaction Service agreement         Please don't delete the number from the subject line when replying to this e-mail so your feedback can automatically be archived with your request.       Ink         Your sincerely, Your support team       Link         wittachments:       GBT file of the data record concerned       Attachment of the document concerned         wittachments:       Notify for own changes       OK         Cancel       OK	we have filed your request "Request" under the number Number.		Reference (Submitt Remain	ter)
Please don't delete the number from the subject line when replying to this e-mail so your feedback can automatically be archived with your request.       Responsible ream Satisfaction Service agreement         Yours sincerely, Your support team       Link         Ittachments:       GBT file of the data record concerned       Attachment of the document concerned         Ittachments:       Notify for own changes       OK       Cancel	You can always view the current status of your request in its detail view in our onlin support portal.	e	Reopened on Request Respond until Responded on	
Yours sincerely, Your support team          Attachments: GBT file of the data record concerned       Attachment of the document concerned         Mame       detail view         Hyperlink       com/Helpdesk/TicketDetails.aspx?gguid={gguid         OK       Cancel	Please don't delete the number from the subject line when replying to this e-mail so feedback can automatically be archived with your request.	your	Responsible employ Responsible team Satisfaction Service agreement	/ee
Attachments:       GBT file of the data record concerned       Attachment of the document concerned       Name       detail view         Hyperlink       Com/Helpdesk/TicketDetails.aspx?gguid=(gguid         Value       OK       Cancel	Yours sincerely, Your support team	Link		
Additional settings: Notify for own changes	Attachments: GBT file of the data record concerned Attachment of the document concerned	Name Hyperlink	detail view	tails.aspx?gguid={gguid
	udditional settings: Notify for own changes			OK Cancel
			OK	Cancel Help

The following settings should be visible in the **Action** tab:

✓ Confirm the creation of the new rule by clicking **OK**.

✓ Confirm the activation of the new rule by clicking **Yes**.

### Notes

The notification and action service must be correctly set up and running in order to send e-mails.

The rule will be triggered whenever a user creates a ticket and confirms the prompt "Do you wish to inform the submitter about the newly created ticket automatically?" Then the **Notification change** option, by which the rule filters, will be set in the ticket.

If you turn off the **Display "Inform submitter about changes" prompt** option under **Helpdesk > General** in the Management Console, the **Notification change** option will never be set in a new ticket.

In this case, the rule described in this section (new job with **Notification change = true**) will never be triggered.

# 12.3 Notifying the submitter about changes in a ticket

You create a rule for notifying the submitter about changes in his ticket as follows.

- ✓ Click **New** to create a new rule.
- ✓ Enter a meaningful name (e.g., **Ticket changed**).
- ✓ Select the **Job** data record type.
- ✓ In the **Event type** menu, select **Data record change**.
- ✓ Select the **Changing data record** event.
- Click on the Setting button next to the Any change to the following fields option.
- ✓ Select the **Notification change** field, then click **OK** to confirm.

🍘 Fields to be monitored				_		×
<ul> <li>○ All fields</li> <li>● Only selected fields</li> </ul>						
Non-selected fields	^		Selected	fields		
Nominal			Notificatio	on chan	ige	
Notes						
Number		->				
Origin		4				
Out of office		-				
Participants						
Planning end						
Planning start	$\checkmark$					
			OK		(	Cancel

🎯 Create new rule							_		Х
-									
Name Ticket o	hanged						Allo	ow subscrip	tion
Description									0
Category				Execut	te rule as	System			
Event Action Statis	tics								
Data records to be m	onitored								1
Data record type	lob			~					
	0.00								
O Subset:	S Filt	er and team		Filte	r by links		(no filter	setting)	
Events to be monitor	ed								EI
Event type Da	ta record change		$\sim$						
Creating new d	ata record								
Changing data	record:					_			
Any change	to the following f	ields	Notificati	on change			式 Set	tting	
O Specific cha	nge of a field valu	e					📑 📑 Set	tting	
Linking data rec	ord:	All links					Set	tting	
Deleting data re	ecord								
Restoring data	record								
			_						
Monitoring interval	As soon as p	oossible	~	_					
	Activate :	chedule		Setting.					
Application server				Enter	computer nam	e of the a	application s	server	
					OK	(	Cancel	Help	)

The following settings should be visible in the **Event** tab:

- ✓ Switch to the **Action** tab.
- ✓ In the **Action** menu, select **Notification**.
- ✓ If desired, click on the Selection button next to the Sender field to change the e-mail's sender or recipient of replies.
- ✓ Click on the **Selection** button next to the **Variable recipients** field.
- ✓ Under E-Mail addresses from linked addresses, select Only the following link types.
- ✓ Select the **Ticket (submitter)** link type:

Variable regiments based on the triagening data record	×
variable recipients based on the triggering data record	
Settings for subscribers Notify subscribers of this rule All users who are directly entered as participants of the data record All direct participants of the data record or participants due to group membership  All users with reading access rights to a data record Send also a notification if the user has not subscribed to the rule	E-mail addresses from linked addresses          No link type <ul> <li>Only the following link types</li> <li>General link</li> <li>Primary link</li> <li>Ticket (Customer)</li> <li>Ticket (Submitter)</li> </ul> E-mail field         Default e-mail         ✓           Only send to selected e-mail field         Archive e-mail after sending to linked addresses
E-mail addresses from fields	
Available fields:	Selected fields:
Changed by Comment Communication Created by Customer Employee Error cause Internal notes Keywords Number Origin Product Product use Reference (Manufacturer) Reference (Submitter) Request Responsible employee Responsible team Satisfaction Service agreement Service agreement Status Subject Submitter Y	N ✓ Resolve groups to users
	OK Cancel Help

- ✓ Click **OK** to confirm.
- Remove yourself from the permanent recipients if you do not wish to receive copies of all notifications about new requests. To do this, click on the button with the icon of a red cross next to the **Permanent recipients** section.
- ✓ Enter the subject line and body text for the e-mail in the lower section.

If e-mails sent via the rule and replies to them should be linked with the associated ticket when the e-mails are archived, enter the key defined in the Management Console into the subject line (see "11.3.4 E-mail" on page 183).

Please note that a blank space must be entered before the number (e.g., when no prefix was defined and Number was selected as field, the key is "# Number#").

If you are using Helpdesk online, you can embed a link to the ticket's detail view in the e-mail. To do this, enter the desired link text and connect it with the following link using the e-mail editor's hyperlink fuction.

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/TicketDetails.aspx?gguid={gguid}

Replace https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/ by your Helpdesk online system URL.

Create new	ule						)
ie	Ticket changed				Allow	v subscrip	tior
cription							
egory	Execute rule as System						
ent Action	Statistics						
ction Noti	ication ~						
Notification							
Sender:	Jser who has last changed the data record				Selection		
Variable re	ipients Permanent recipients dresses that were linked with the 'Ticket  Selection			~	User	)	×
(Submitter address.	/ link type are notified via the default e-mail			~	E-mail add	dresses	
German							Ī
Subject: Y	request " <table field:request="">" (#CAS: <table field:number="">)</table></table>		<b>4</b>	ction field Table f	ield Address	e fielde	
- L				lotes	Addres	* NCIUS	1
Tahom	a • 10 •			lotification change lumber			
A - ab	- B I U abe   5 0   🖻 🐰 📩 🗖 🚍 🚍 🚍 🗄 🗒 🐇	=	🗕 🎽	Out of office Participants			
	🖬 🖶 🏔 😤 🢖   🖩 - 🎩 💼 💷 📟 🔠 📑 💷		P	lanning end lanning start			
Salutation			P	riority roduct roduct use			
we have	processed your request "Request" filed under the number Number:		R R	leference (Manufac leference (Submitte	turer) er)	- 1	l
Notes			F	lemain leopened on			
You can a	lways view the current status of your request in its detail view in our online		4	lequest lespond until lesponded on			
support p			R	tesponsible employe tesponsible team	ee		
feedback	can automatically be archived with your request.	our	S	atisfaction ervice agreement		_	1
Yours sin	cerely,	Link					
Your sup	iort team	Name	detai	l view			
Attachments	GBT file of the data record concerned	Hyperlink	com/	Helpdesk/TicketDet	ails.aspx?ggu	uid={ggui	id}
Additional se	tings: Notify for own changes						
. aaroonar 3e				C	Ж	Cancel	
				ОК	Cancel	Help	,

The following settings should be visible in the **Action** tab:

- ✓ Confirm the creation of the new rule by clicking **OK**.
- ✓ Confirm the activation of the new rule by clicking **Yes**.

### Notes

The notification and action service must be correctly set up and running in order to send e-mails.

The rule will be triggered whenever a user confirms the prompt "You have changed the notes or solution field. Do you wish the submitter to be informed automatically about the change?" Then the **Notification change** switch, by which the rule filters, will be set in the ticket.

If you turn off the **Display "Inform submitter about changes" prompt** option under **Helpdesk > General** in the Management Console, the **Notification change** option will always be set in a ticket, whenever one of the fields **Notes** and **Solutions** changes.

The rule described in this section (change of **Notification change** in a job) will then be triggered whenever either of these two fields changes.

### 12.4 Setting up a request for feedback

You set up the automatic request for feedback as follows.

- ✓ Click **New** to create a new rule.
- ✓ Enter a meaningful name (e.g., **Request for feedback**).
- ✓ Select the **Job** data record type.
- ✓ In the **Event type** menu, select **Data record change**.
- ✓ Select the **Changing data record** event.
- Select the Specific change of a field value option and click on the Setting button next to it.
- Select Status is identical with Completed (if you have selected another status for completed tickets under Helpdesk > General, enter that status here. You can only check for exactly one target status in a rule. If you have selected more than one status option as completion status and wish to send a request for feedback for each of these options, you must enter a separate rule for each completion status):

🍘 Monitored change		_		×
Field name		Field	l value	
Status	 $\sim$	Completed		
		OK	Ca	ncel

If the specified job status is also used for jobs which are not completed tickets, enter a filter condition under Filter and Team (e.g., Type – is identical with – Ticket).

🎯 Create nev	v rule							—		×
Name	Request f	for feedback						Allo	w subscrip	otion
Description										Ô
Category					Execu	ute rule as	System	1		
							bybeen			
Event Action	n Statistics	S								
-Data record	ls to be mon	nitored								
Data record	d type	() Job			~					
All     Subset	:	Filt	er and team		Filt	er by links		(no filter	setting)	
Events to b										
Events to b	e monitored	record change		~						
Event type	Data	record change		*						
Creati	ng new data	a record								
Chang	jing data red	cord:								
⊖ An	y change to	the following fi	elds	All fields				Set 🔁	ting	
Specific	ecific change	e of a field valu	2	Status =	Completed	I		📑 Set	ting	
Linking	data recor	d:	All links					Set	ting	Γ
🗌 Deletir	ng data reco	ord								
Resto	ring data ree	cord								
Monitoring	nterval	As 5000 35 0	ossible	$\sim$						
in or inter ling i		Activate s	chedule		Settina					
Application	server				Enter	computer nar	ne of the	application s	erver	
						OK	(	Cancel	Help	2

The following settings should be visible in the **Event** tab:

- ✓ Switch to the **Action** tab.
- ✓ In the **Action** menu, select **Notification**.
- ✓ If desired, click on the **Selection** button next to the **Sender** field to change the e-mail's sender or recipient of replies.
- ✓ Click on the **Selection** button next to the **Variable recipients** field.
- ✓ Under E-Mail addresses from linked addresses, select Only the following link types.
- ✓ Select the **Ticket (submitter)** link type:

Settings for subscribers Notify subscribers Notify subscribers of the rule All users who are directly entered as participants of the data record Only the following link type Only the followi	Toriable recipients based on the triggering data record	- 0	×
E-mail addresses from fields Available fields: Activity status Area Changed by Comment Communication Created by Customer Employee Error cause Internal notes Keywords Number Origin Priority Product Product Reference (Manufacturer) Request Responsible team Satisfaction Status Subject Subition Status Subject Submitter V	Settings for subscribers Notify subscribers of this rule All users who are directly entered as participants of the data record All direct participants of the data record or participants due to group membership all users with reading access rights to a data record Send also a notification if the user has not subscribed to the rule	E-mail addresses from linked addresses          No link type         Only the following link types         General link         Primary link         Ticket (Customer)         Itcket (Submitter)         E-mail field         Only send to selected e-mail field         Archive e-mail after sending to linked addresses	~
	Available fields:          Available fields:         Activity status         Area         Changed by         Comment         Communication         Created by         Customer         Employee         Error cause         Internal notes         Keywords         Number         Origin         Priority         Product use         Reference (Manufacturer)         Reference (Submitter)         Request         Responsible team         Satisfaction         Service agreement         Service level         Solution         Status         Subject         Submitter         *	Selected fields: ✓ Resolve groups to users	

- ✓ Click **OK** to confirm.
- Remove yourself from the permanent recipients if you do not wish to receive copies of all requests for feedback. To do this, click on the button with the icon of a red cross next to the **Permanent recipients** section.
- ✓ Enter the subject line and body text for the e-mail in the lower section.
- If e-mails sent via the rule and replies to them should be linked with the associated ticket when the e-mails are archived, enter the key defined in the Management Console into the subject line (see "11.3.4 E-mail" on page 183).

Please note that a blank space must be entered before the key field (e.g., when no prefix was defined and Number was selected as field, the key is "# Number#").

Enter a link text and embed the following hyperlink:

https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/feedback.aspx?gguid={gguid}

Replace https://helpdesk.example.com/Helpdesk/ by your Helpdesk online system URL.

The following settings should be visible in the **Action** tab:

Create new	rule						
ne	Request for feedback					Allow sub	scripti
cription							
egory	Execute rule as System			$\sim$			
ent Action	Statistics						
ction Not	üfication V						
Notification							
Sender:	User who has last changed the data record					Selection	
Variable re - Linked a	ecipients Permanent recipients addresses that were linked with the 'Ticket				~	User	×
(Submitte address.	r)' link type are notified via the default e-mail					E-mail address	ses
	V				•		-com
German					T-11- 0-1	1	
Subject.			-	Action field	таріе пек	Address fiel	ds
Tahom		Ξ	+	Origin Out of office Participants Planning end Planning sta Priority	: f rt		
Salutatio	л,			Product Product use	Manufactu	rer)	
we have	completed your request "Request" filed under the number Number.			Reference ( Remain	Submitter)	ier)	
Were vo	u happy with the process? Please let us know here!			Reopened o Request	n		
Please d feedbac	o not delete the number from the subject line when replying to this e-mail, so < can be archived with your request automatically.	your		Respond un Responded Responsible Responsible Satisfaction	on employee team		
Yours sir	ncerely			Service agre	ement		
Your sup	iport team	Link					
Attachment:	s: GBT file of the data record concerned Attachment of the document concerned	Name Hyperlink	he ile	re .com/Helpdes	k/Feedbad	k.aspx?gguid=	(gguid
Additional se	ettings: Notify for own changes				OK	Car	ncel
Additional se	ettings: Notify for own changes		[	ОК	OK Ca	Car	ŀ

✓ Confirm the creation of the new rule by clicking **OK**.

✓ Confirm the activation of the new rule by clicking **Yes**.

### Notes

The notification and action service must be correctly set up and running in order to send e-mails. The rule will be triggered whenever a user saves a ticket after closing it by selecting the status checked by the rule.

Alternatively, you can send a link to the request for feedback via a ticket action (see "Edit e-mail" on page 31).

You can edit the available options via the input help for the **Satisfaction** job field in the **Database** area of the Management Console.

# 12.4.1 Request for feedback in Helpdesk online

The link in the notification about the request for feedback leads to a page in Helpdesk online where the user can specify his satisfaction.

The Helpdesk online × +		– 🗆 ×
$\leftarrow$ $\rightarrow$ C $\bullet$ https://helpdesk.example.com/helpdesk/Feedback.aspx?gguid=0x94330BF547774D4DA1A30	BA0C3681332	☆ 🌞 \varTheta :
Dokumentation FAQ Requests		JB Jack Bauer v
Form 12 E4 won't react Form 12 E4 won't react.	Number Ticket type Created on Changed on	24 Error 12/3/2018 9:33 AM 12/3/2018 2:50 PM
Solution Was resolved by development.		
Feedback to ticket         Satisfaction         Image: Satisfied         Image: Dissatisfied         Image: Overy dissatisfied         Comment         Thank you once more for your support!		

🗅 Helpdesk online 🛛 🗙 -	÷		- 🗆 X
← → C	mple.com/helpdesk/Feedback.aspx?gguid=0x94330E	BF547774D4DA1A30BA0C3681332	🗟 🌣 😫 :
Dokumentation FAQ	Requests		JB Jack Bauer ~
	Thank you for	r your feedback.	
Form 12 E4 won't react Form 12 E4 won't react.		Number Ticket type	24 Error 11/2/2019 0-22 AM
		Changed on	12/3/2018 2:50 PM
Solution Was resolved by development.			

After clicking **Enter feedback** the user will receive a confirmation.

# 12.4.2 Satisfaction in CAS genesisWorld

In CAS genesisWorld, the answer is displayed in the ticket's **Satisfaction** field.

If the user has also entered a comment, it will be displayed in the ticket's notes.

ight Form 12 E4	won't react				- 0	×
<u>F</u> ile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew	nsert <u>S</u> earch <u>T</u> ools <u>?</u>					
🛃 Save&Close 🔒	🗙 🖶 🕇 🦆 🔊					?
🖏 🗸 🔎 Workflow	/ 📄 Create document 👻 🧐	Action	-	Short notes 🔟 Ser	d 👻 🚂 Link with 👻 🔓 New link 👻 💼 Report 👻	
Ticket Details	Tree Time records	Chang	e log	Dossier		
Form 12 E4 won't rea	ct (12/3/2018, 12/11/2018)					
Subject	Form 12 E4 won't react					]
Job from	Monday, December 3, 2018	5	Star	rt 9:33 AM 🕜	Last change of status 12/3/2018 14:50:26 Responded on 12/3/2018 12:33:00	
Until	Monday, December 3, 2018	5	End	2:50 PM	Respond until         12/3/2018         09:33:45         Reopened on         0h 00m	1 31s
Parent	NOMOSYS C	Support	NOMOS	SYS ▼ → 🛞 Selec	tjob •	1
Customer	NOMOSYS	ه	-	Service agreement	Service agreement NOMOSYS V	R
				Product use	CRM Groupware CP 3.1 [CP-3-564KL546] V	
Submitter	Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS	ه 🍳	•	Product	CRM Groupware CP 3.1	
				Version	11	$\sim$
Communication	jack.bauer@nomosys.co.uk			Area	CRM Groupware CP 3.1   Addresses	
Туре	Ticket	~		Status	Completed ~	]
Number	24		1 <sub>3</sub> 2	Request Solution		
Priority	High	$\sim$		Form 12 E4 won't r	eact.	2
Origin	Phone call	$\sim$				@
Ticket type	Error	$\sim$				, O
Error cause	Manufacturer error	~				
Satisfaction	Very satisfied	~				
Team	Support	$\sim$		Responsible team	Development ~	
Employee	Peter Grayhound	~		Responsible employe	Antonio Matarazzo 🗸 🗸	
Internal notes		🧷 Е	dit	🔮 Time stamp	Notes 🖉 Edit 🖉 Time st	amp
Mon, 12/03 Hello Tony,	/2018 11:32 AM (Peter Gra	ayhound)			Mon, 12/03/2018 2:55 PM (Comment by Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS) Thank you once more for your support!	
could you please	have a look at this?				Mon. 12/03/2018 2:50 PM (Jack Bauer, NOMOSYS)	
Thanks					Portal action: Close ticket	
Peter						
					Error should be resolved.	

# 12.5 Internal notification about expiring response deadlines

You set up a rule for the internal notification of a ticket's participants about a response deadline that is about to expire as follows.

- ✓ Click **New** to create a new rule.
- ✓ Enter a meaningful name (e.g., **Ticket escalation**).
- ✓ Select the **Job** data record type.

In the default setting (without any filters), the internal notification occurs for all tickets for which a notification has been configured in the Helpdesk area of the Management

Console under Notification and languages, depending on the service level and priority. (see "11.2.7 Notification and languages" on page 178).

- ✓ If the internal notification should only occur for a subset of these tickets, click **Filter** and team to filter by field values and participants and/or click Filter by links to filter by links and enter the respectively desired filter conditions.
- ✓ Under Event type, select the Deadline exceeded event.
- ✓ Select the **Escalation time** field.

The following settings should be visible in the **Event** tab: 🚳 Create nulo

🏶 Create new rule – 🗆 🗙
Name Ticket escalation Allow subscription
Description
Category Execute rule as System
Event Action Statistics
Data records to be monitored Data record type
O Subset: Filter and team Filter by links (no filter setting)
Events to be monitored         Event type       Deadline exceeded         The action will be initiated when reaching or exceeding the entered limit.         0       day(s)         Image: Before bound of the entered limit is the entered limit is the entered limit.         0       hour(s)         0       After
Rule end date       25.08.2016       14:28:21         Please note: The rule does not comprise dates for which the deadline was set before the set and date
Monitoring interval As soon as possible  Activate schedule Setting
Application server Enter computer name of the application server
OK Cancel Help

- ✓ Switch to the **Action** tab.
- ✓ In the **Action** menu, select **Notification**.

By default, the e-mail account used by the notification service will be specified as sender.

✓ If desired, click on the Selection button next to the Sender field to change the e-mail's sender or recipient of replies.
- Remove yourself from the permanent recipients if you do not wish to receive copies of all notifications triggered by the rule. To do this, click on the button with the icon of a red cross next to the **Permanent recipients** section.
- ✓ Enter the subject line and body text for the e-mail in the lower section.
- Under Attachments, select the GBT file of the data record concerned in order to attach a link file for opening the ticket.

Create new rule			—		)
ame Ticket escalation			Allow	subscri	ptior
escription					
tegory Execute rule as System		~			
Event Action Statistics					
Action Notification 🗸					
Notification					
Sender: User who has last changed the data record			Selection.		
Variable recipients   - All participants with access rights (also with external Coloritien			Licer		~
access rights).		<u> </u>	C and add		^
×		~	E-mail add	resses	
German German					
Subject: Ticket " <table field:subject="">" (#CAS: <table field:number="">#) requires a response until <table field:ru<="" td=""><td>+</td><td>Action field Table</td><td>field Address</td><td>fields</td><td>_</td></table></table></table>	+	Action field Table	field Address	fields	_
		Number Origin		^	•
		Participants			
	-	Planning start Priority			
		Product Product use			
		Reference (Manufa Reference (Submitt	cturer) er)		
the ticket "Subject" with the number Number requires a response until Respond until.		Remain Reopened on			
You can open the ticket via attached file in order to respond.		Request Respond until Responded on			
This e-mail has been sent automatically by the notification service.		Responsible employ Responsible team	ee		
	>	Satisfaction Service agreement		~	
Attachments: GBT file of the data record concerned					
Additional settings: Notify for own changes					
	Г	OK	Control		
	L	UK	Cancel	Hel	þ

The following settings should be visible in the Action tab:

- ✓ Confirm the creation of the new rule by clicking **OK**.
- ✓ Confirm the activation of the new rule by clicking **Yes**.

## Notes

The notification and action service must be correctly set up and running in order to send e-mails.

The rule will be triggered at the point of time before the expiration of the response deadline that has been configured for the ticket's service level and priority (see "11.2.7 Notification and languages" on page 178.)

## 12.6 Setting up a support e-mail account

The following section describes setting up a support e-mail account.

This account is set up to automatically archive inbound e-mails in CAS genesisWorld.

If possible, the archived e-mail will be associated with an existing ticket via an archiving rule based on its subject. You may enter archiving rules for e-mails in the **Miscellaneous** area of the Management Console under **E-mail** (see "11.3.4 E-mail" on page 183).

For each e-mail sent to this account which can't be associated with an existing ticket, a new one will automatically be created.

Like when manually creating a ticket for an archived e-mail, the e-mail subject will be transferred to the ticket's **Subject** field. The e-mail body will be transferred to the ticket's **Internal notes** or **Notes** field, depending on your settings. Additionally, the e-mail subject or body will be entered as the new ticket's **Request**, also depending on your settings.

The e-mail's sender will be entered in the **Communication** field.

If the e-mail address has been entered for an address record in CAS genesisWorld, that address will also be linked as **Submitter**. The associated company or, if the address is an individual contact or if company contacts are allowed as customers, the same address will then also be entered as **Customer** and as primary address. In this case, the new ticket will also be linked to the associated support project via a primary link. If that project doesn't already exist, it will be created with a primary link to the customer address.

## Notes

Please note that tickets can only be created without an address link if this has been enabled in the Management Console (see "**Submitter link to ticket must exist**" on page 150).

To send automatic notifications as described in sections 12.2 and 12.3 of this chapter to recipients for which no address record exists in CAS genesisWorld, instead of the submitter link, select the **Communication** field under **E-mail addresses from fields** as recipient.

When a submitter's address is linked to a ticket, their e-mail address will automatically be entered in this field.

When you set up a support account, you may also select a **Team** to which the tickets created this way wull be assigned. This way, separate support accounts for different support teams are possible. Additionally, you specify here the status for the new tickets.

Optionally, you also select a status for existing tickets for which a new inbound e-mail is archived.

- Rights and licenses: Users must have a Helpdesk license assigned to configure support accounts. In addition, users also need the Helpdesk: Is allowed to register own email accounts right. This right is activated in the Management Console > User management area > Properties window > Other rights tab.
- Setting up a support account in the CAS genesisWorld Desktop Client: The support account is set up, like any e-mail account, in the E-mail tab of the Settings window.

Activate the **Automatic update and notify** option and the **Logon to server automatically** option so that tickets can be created for new e-mails automatically.

Create an e-mail account
E-mail settings for automatic refresh
E-mail folders can be periodically checked for new e-mails. Define settings for the automatic refresh.
Automatic refresh
○ No automatic refresh
Refresh and notify automatically
An automatic logon to the e-mail server is possible.
□ <u>i_ogon to server automatically</u>
Cancel < Back Next > Finish

✓ After creating the new e-mail account, double-click its list item to open the account properties and activate the **Support account** option in the **General** tab:

Settings for automatic actions Manage e-mail folders General E-mail server information		Manage e-mail folders	Signatur		
		rmation			
e-mail account defines	the parameters	and settings which are required	for accessing e-n		
count					
Please enter a unique na	ame to identify t	the e-mail account.			
E-mail account name:	Support acco	punt			
The name should refer	to the content o	of the e-mail account)			
Use as default accou	int				
Support account	Default setti	ings	Templates		
	Automatically mark archived e-mails as read				
	Define here default team	the support team which is to be i 1 for new tickets.	inserted as		
	Support		~		
	Define the st for new ticke	tatus that you want to use as a p ets.	preset		
	New		~		
	Define the status you want to use as a preset for existing tickets with newly archived e-mails.				
	🗹 Change t	he status for existing tickets			
	In process b	by support	~		
mail address					
-mail address	support@cas	s-demo.co.uk	~		
ender name	Support		~		
This name will appear o	n the recipient f	ield.)			
leply to	support@cas	s-demo.co.uk	~		

- ✓ Click **Templates** and select an archiving template.
- ✓ Archived e-mails can automatically be marked as read.
- ✓ Select the support team to which to assign tickets created via this support account.
- ✓ Determine the status presetting for new tickets.
- If the status of an existing ticket should automatically be changed when an e-mail is archived for that ticket, select the **Change the status for existing tickets** option. Then, determine the desired status.
- ✓ Click **OK** to confirm your configuration of the new support e-mail account.